
IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION

Venue: Town Hall, 
Moorgate Street, 
ROTHERHAM.  S60 2TH

Date: Tuesday, 5th March, 2019

Time: 5.30 p.m.

A G E N D A

There will be a pre-briefing for all members of the Improving Lives Select 
Commission at 4.00 p.m.

1. To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of any part of the agenda. 

2. To determine any item(s) the Chairperson is of the opinion should be 
considered later in the agenda as a matter of urgency. 

3. Apologies for absence 

4. Declarations of Interest 

5. Questions from members of the public and the press 

6. Communications 

7. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 15th January 2019 (Pages 1 - 15)

8. Barnardo's ReachOut Service Update and Barnardo's ReachOut Final 
Evaluation Report (herewith) (Pages 16 - 99)

9. Progress towards implementation of Phase Two and Phase Three of the Early 
Help Strategy 2016-2019 (herewith) (Pages 100 - 107)

10. Presentation - Ofsted Annual Conversation Update 

11. Presentation - Looked After Children  Sufficiency Strategy - Update 

12. Improvement Partner Peer Review of the Looked After Children Service  
(November 2018) (herewith) (Pages 108 - 112)

 



13. Date and time of the next meeting - Tuesday, 16th April, 2019 commencing at 
5.30 p.m. 

Improving Lives Select Commission membership 2018/19:-

Chair – Councillor Cusworth
Vice-Chair – Councillor Brookes

 
Councillors Beaumont, Clark, Elliot, Hague, Ireland, Jarvis, Khan, Marles. Marriott, 
Pitchley, Price, Senior, Short and Julie Turner

Co-opted members:-  Ms. J. Jones (Voluntary Sector Consortium),
Mrs. A. Clough (ROPF: Rotherham Older Peoples Forum)

for agenda items relating to older peoples’ issues.

Sharon Kemp,
Chief Executive.  



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION
15th January, 2019

Present:- Councillor Cusworth (in the Chair); Councillors Clark, Elliot, Jarvis, Khan, 
Marriott, Price, Senior, Short and Julie Turner.

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Beaumont, Brookes and 
Pitchley. 

The webcast of the Council Meeting can be viewed at:- 
https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

45.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Jarvis made the following Personal Declaration of Interest:-
Minute No. 49 – Domestic Abuse Update – a member of the Board of 
Trustees of Rotherham Rise.

Councillor Senior made the following Personal Declaration of Interest:-
Minute No. 50 – Rotherham Voice of the Child Lifestyle Survey 2018 – 
manager of a charity that participated in the survey although not 
personally involved.

46.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND THE PRESS 

A member of the public raised issues regarding safeguarding and the 
involvement of Police, Social Services and Mental Health colleagues.

As it did not directly relate to any of the items on the agenda for 
discussion, it was agreed that an officer would contact the member of the 
public directly and discuss his issues of concern.

47.   COMMUNICATIONS 

It was noted that the Corporate Parenting Panel Sub-Group convened to 
look at the LADO process and the impact thereof on foster carers had 
been cancelled due to illness.  It was now to meet on 5th February.

48.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 4TH DECEMBER 
2018 

Consideration was given to the minutes of the previous meeting of the 
Improving Lives Select Commission, held on 4th December, 2018, and 
matters arising from those minutes.

Resolved:-That the minutes of the previous meeting of the Improving 
Lives Select Commission, held on 4th December, 2018, be approved as a 
correct record for signature by the Chair.

Page 1 Agenda Item 7

https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

Further to Minute No. 43(2) (inclusion of Children Missing from Education 
to the weekly tracker), a meeting would be arranged to discuss its 
feasibility.

49.   DOMESTIC ABUSE UPDATE 

Sam Barstow, Head of Community Safety, Resilience and Emergency 
Planning, presented an update in relation to audit work conducted in 
support of the Council’s work to tackle Domestic Abuse.  The report also 
provided an overview of Service user engaged, the current Domestic 
Abuse review, a general update in relation to progress against the 
Domestic Abuse Strategy as well as an update in relation to Stalking and 
Harassment.

Attention was drawn to:-

 Partnership Audits – Housing
Officers had engaged in a supportive review of Housing Domestic 
Abuse practice with a specific focus on tenancy issues linked to 
Domestic Abuse.  Increasingly there was a desire to support 
victims/survivors of Domestic Abuse and their families to stay in their 
own home, properly protected and supported, particularly where there 
were mothers and children.  There would always remain a place and 
need for supporting victims/survivors to flee and the Council and its 
partners would continue to support this where necessary.

 Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs)
Work was undertaken during July and August to review previous and 
current DHRs with a particular focus on any identified consistencies.  
5 DHRs had been conducted since the legislation was introduced in 
2004.  A review had also been undertaken of the completion of 
actions across all previous DHRs and would seek to ensure lessons 
were embedded within Service delivery.  Across all 5 DHRs there 
were 26 recommendations including those arising from the current 
active review.  Of the 26, 20 were complete, one remained ongoing 
and a further 5 required validation but were expected to be 
completed.

 Domestic Abuse Service Review
The first phase of the whole system review was nearing completion.  
The process had involved significant efforts to engage Service users 
through focus groups and online surveys.  Full analysis of the survey 
would be available shortly and used to further inform the final report 
which would be considered by the Safer Rotherham Partnership 
Board at its meeting in February.  The Council would seek to form 
proposals in relation to how the Service could be adapted.

Page 2



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

 Strategy Update
The Strategy was attached at Appendix B of the report submitted.  
The Council and its partners had been the subject of an indepth peer 
review by the City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council and its 
partners between January and March, 2018.  The review had 
examined Domestic Abuse Services within Rotherham against 53 
assessment areas with the final date of inspection taking place on 25th 
January 2018.  14 interviews and focus groups had taken place 
involving approximately 60 multi-agency staff and Service users as 
part of the challenge day.

A Perpetrator Programme had been launched in March 2018, a 
consistent training offer developed and remained on offer and 
accessible to all agencies free of charge, audit/review work on cases 
and processes within Housing, a programme of work led by the South 
Yorkshire Police District Commander to increase arrest rates and 
review of the Domestic Abuse Review.

 Stalking and Harassment
Initial governance had been established and performance on outcome 
rates was now reported to the SRP Board, however, the data was 
currently unaudited so could not be publicly released.  Work was 
ongoing to address this issue, however, levels were broadly stable 
during the first 2 quarters of monitoring in 2018/19.  As a result of 
changes to Home Office counting rules, demand numbers were likely 
to increase as it required Police Forces to record an additional offence 
of stalking, harassment or coercive control (as appropriate) to a 
reported crime of criminal damage for example where it was 
associated.

Stalking and harassment was not always domestic related; in cases 
where it was not domestic related support was likely to be more 
limited.  Work was underway to map the victim journey following initial 
report.

Following establishment of a referral pathway and available support, 
partnership training would be arranged in the 2019/20 financial year.

Discussion ensued with the following issues raised/clarified:-

 Concern regarding the lack of progress being made with regard to 
stalking and harassment

 Acknowledgement that there were significant gaps in Domestic Abuse 
Stalking and Harassment (DASH) and how it effectively supported 
victims of stalking and harassment.  DASH was being looked at 
currently and there was a commitment to open up the MARAC 
process to stalking and harassment

Page 3



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

 Currently the figures did not distinguish in terms of stalking and 
harassment data and whether or not it was linked to domestic abuse 
or stranger stalking and harassment.  At present there were figures 
that suggested how big the problem was around stalking and 
harassment but no understanding of how much of the problem was 
directly related to the domestic abuse situation or stranger stalking.  
Not only did the data need to be strengthened to enable a better 
understanding but also the processes regardless as to whether it was 
domestic abuse or stranger related.  This would then have a positive 
impact

 The Rotherham Perpetrator Programmes were in the pre-criminal 
justice space.  It was not known if there were any post-conviction 
Perpetrator Programme around stalking and harassment but attempts 
would be made to ascertain the information 

 Continued support was provided for the victims in their own homes.  
Target hardening was part of the support which could include the 
installation of equipment that may well make the victim feel safer e.g. 
window alarms, security lights on the property, alarms etc. There was 
also the use of Violence Protection Notices and Orders to control the 
behaviour of the perpetrators and additional 1:1 support through both 
the commissioned service and Housing Officers

 Support was very much victim-led.  If a victim felt uncomfortable 
remaining in their own home they would be supported to seek refuge 
elsewhere.  That would be dealt with at the outset so the victim’s 
wants and needs were understood

 Self-referrals could be made into the South Yorkshire-wide 
Perpetrator Programme that had been commissioned, however, few 
self-referrals had been made 

 Information from Area Housing Panels was fed into the Domestic 
Abuse Priority Group.  Within the action plan there were performance 
measures that were monitored on a monthly basis  

 Work had taken place to make sure the voice of the child was 
captured particularly at the high risk end.  This had included a change 
of guidance for MARAC Chairs to ensure they asked what the voice of 
the child was in those circumstances and work with the Police to 
make sure that, when they responded to a domestic abuse incident 
and a child was present in the household, that they did their upmost to 
have a conversation with the child to seek their views.  It was not 
perfect and there were still examples seen where the voice of the 
child was not accurately captured and scrutinised but it had improved

 Work was still being delivered to develop the private sector and their 
responsibility with regard to domestic abuse.  The first step was to 
encourage the private sector that it was their problem and that they 

Page 4



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

could do something.  A good reception had been received from 
dentists across the Borough.  The training offer remained opens to all 
private businesses around domestic abuse and would remain so

 An increase in referrals would be expected after target training and 
awareness raising.  There had been significant effort this year into 
communications around domestic abuse 

 The Council’s own HR policies made reference to domestic abuse 
and gave guidance to managers as well as an inhouse IDVA team.  
There was information on the website as well as an acknowledgement 
that it was not as good as it could be both the internal and public 
facing information  

 The Domestic Abuse Charter had 10 standards of what was expected 
of partners as well as a specific requirement that companies have a 
HR policy that made reference to domestic abuse and ensure the right 
support was offered

 Stalking and harassment had not been drawn out of any of 
Rotherham’s Domestic Homicide Reviews but was a prolific feature 
nationally  

 Conviction rates were recorded nationally 

 There was a clear service structure around domestic abuse in its own 
right and a full service commissioned, however, that service did not 
exist when it related to stalking and harassment.  If it was stranger 
stalking and harassment the service was not available currently.  
There was support through Victim Support (though South Yorkshire 
Police) 

The Chair commented on the progress made over the previous 18 months 
and thanked the Officer and his team for their work.

Resolved:-  (1)  That the report be noted.

(2)  That a further report be submitted in respect of the principles for the 
Domestic Abuse Service prior to submission to Cabinet.

(3)  That a further report be submitted to a sub-group of the Select 
Commission with regard to the gap in service related to stalking and 
harassment.

50.   ROTHERHAM VOICE OF THE CHILD LIFESTYLE SURVEY 2018 

Sue Wilson, Head of Service, Performance and Planning, gave the 
following powerpoint presentation on the Rotherham Lifestyle Survey:-

Page 5



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

What is Lifestyle Survey
 An annual survey which captured the voice of children and young 

people on subjects important to them
 The questions in the survey had been shaped by our young people
 A unique opportunity for a large group of young people in Rotherham 

to share their views on matters that impacted on their lives

Why do we do it
 To provide young people with the opportunity to voice their opinion 

which was used by partners, schools and services to help shape 
future services

 Provided a rich source of data which provided the ability to compare 
with neighbouring local authorities and national surveys to identify 
trends and key areas for development

What do we aim to achieve
 Services shaped and improvements made which took into account or 

were a direct result of the views expressed by the young people
 Results that evidenced a positive impact on the lives of children and 

young people living and educated in Rotherham

Participation 2018
 16 mainstream schools offered the opportunity to participate in the 

survey.  12 participated (4 schools choosing not to participate 
provided an explanation)

 3 special schools chose to participate

 3 Pupil Referral Units participated

 3,499 pupils participated (52% of relevant population)

What is Working Well
Young people’s voices are being listened to and the information collected 
is being used effectively
 Feedback from the Lifestyle Survey was utilised to support the 

commissioning of a new support service for drug and alcohol services 
for young people

 Schools utilised the feedback provided in respect of high sugar energy 
drinks to improve the displays/information available to children on the 
effects of the drinks and in some schools ban the sale of the drinks 
entirely.  Leading to a reduction their consumption in school and an 
increase in the number of young people drinking the recommended 
amount of water per day

 One school was using its results to shape their PSHE (Personal, 
Social and Health Education) curriculum; working with Y8 pupils to co-
produce the curriculum

 Safer Rotherham Partnership had used their results to help shape 
their priorities

Page 6



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

 Young Carers Service identified from the results the need to raise 
awareness of the services they offered within schools.  As a result, 
10% more young people now say they have heard of the support 
available

What Areas are We Worried About
Results would be highlighted to schools and partners
 Regular feedback required from partners on the actions they were 

taking to address the findings and improve change services
 Increase promotion of the benefits of health eating – in 2018 less 

pupils said they were eating the recommended 5 per day and more 
pupils said they were worried about their weight

 Promote the activities available for young people in libraries and youth 
centres – in 2018 less pupils said they use these

 Address the increase in the number of young people who said they 
smoked on a regular basis

 Promote the new drug and alcohol support available to address the 
increase in the number of young people who said they had tried drugs 
regularly

Actions
What actions take place to share the results and highlight the impact of 
the survey
 Each school receives their own individual data with comparison to the 

previous year’s results highlighting:
What’s working well
What are we worried about

 Partners received highlight reports with set timescales in which to 
provide feedback on the actions taken and the impact of and planned 
actions for the future

 Results were shared with young people to help them identify and 
develop new ideas and to communicate positive messages to them

 Stakeholders were supported to review the results and develop action 
plans to address these

 Work undertaken with schools to highlight to young people 
opportunities and forums where they could get involved and have their 
voice heard i.e. School Council, Youth Cabinet, Young Inspector

Young People’s Voice
 The Rotherham Lifestyle Survey had run for 12 years and in the time 

over 30,000 young people had had their voice heard
 In the past 5 years, 17,410 had participated.  Schools welcomed and 

valued the survey with 12 schools already signed up to participate 
again in 2019

 This high volume of young people’s voices needed to be recognised 
and become integral to shaping and developing the services we 
offered

 We need to act upon what they say to show they were listened to and 
taken seriously

  

Page 7



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

The Select Commission discussed the following salient issues about this 
Survey:-

 The 4 schools that had declined to participate were the same schools 
who had not taken part for the last 3/4 years and were part of the 
same Multi-Academy Trust who ran their own survey.  The fourth 
school was a Catholic school who had had concerns 2 years ago with 
regard to some of the questions for Y10 students around sexual 
health.  This year they had not felt they could fit it into their curriculum 
timetable.  Every opportunity was taken to encourage participation to 
increase the overall perception rate

 The data collected was linked as much as it could to national 
data/Public Health data.  Work took place with colleagues in Public 
Health for them to use the data and share it with their commissioned 
services and strategy group and looked at national trends 

 There was acknowledgement that there would be an element of 
bravado when the young people were completing the survey and 
whether this was taken into consideration when analysing the 
response 

 Due to the difference in the size of schools a percentage of the cohort 
was taken to enable a direct comparison 

 Schools were asked every year to review the questions and add any 
specific questions.  It was asked if schools commented on questions 
to be taken out of the survey

 The 3 schools that did their own survey did not share their results with 
the Authority despite being requested to do so 

 There was no opportunity for the young people to write free text.  The 
survey had been designed to enable ease of analysis 

 Young people had input into the questions
  
Resolved:- (1) That the report be received and its contents noted.
 
(2) That the partners receiving a copy of the report be supported.

(3)  That consideration be given to streamlining of the survey for the future 
and that further consideration be given to the inclusion of information 
relating to demographics and equalities monitoring.

Page 8



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

51.   SOUTH YORKSHIRE REGIONAL ADOPTION AGENCY 

Councillor Watson, Deputy Leader, and Jon Stonehouse, Strategic 
Director, Children and Young People’s Service, presented an update on 
the development of the South Yorkshire Regional Adoption Agency.

Following a further meeting between the respective Directors of Children’s 
Services and the Department for Education (DfE), an additional sum of 
money had been allocated to Doncaster Children’s Services Trust (DCST) 
to underwrite the further project development costs.  This would enable 
the employment of a project manager lead to re-write the Business Case.

If there was no functioning Regional Adoption Agency within South 
Yorkshire by 2020, the Government had retained the right, within the 
Legislation, to impose a model on the region.  As a result, there was a risk 
that the model imposed would not best meet the needs of the Council, its 
children and families or its employees.

The Council would remain fully engaged in the process and development 
of the model in order to ensure it was best placed to shape and influence 
so that it would best meet the essential criteria.  It was anticipated that the 
revised business case would be completed by April 2019 and then would 
be submitted accordingly for ratification.

Discussion ensued with the following issues raised/clarified:-

 As host authority, both the funding and the post would sit with 
Doncaster Children’s Services Trust, but would not incur any 
additional cost to the four local authorities.  The reworked business 
case was due at the end of the month

 Barnsley, Sheffield and Rotherham had made it very clear they would 
not be contributing any funding into the RAA over and above what 
they currently spent.  Performance of the 4 local authorities was 
strong in terms of adoption which was a big factor in reassuring that 
the new RAA would have the level of expertise and experience in 
adoption that would allow performance to be maintained

 Rotherham would still be accountable for adoption in Rotherham so 
the need to ensure the business case gave strong reassurance that 
rigorous democratic oversight would be provided by Lead Member, 
Scrutiny and Cabinet.  Once the refreshed business case was 
received it would be an area to work through with the other three local 
authorities

 A clearer timeline would be known after the meeting on 1st February.  
It was included within the Forward Plan for February Cabinet or later 
dependent upon the business case 

Page 9



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

 Previous experience had been that an annual report was submitted to 
each of the local authorities on the work of the RAA 

Resolved:-  That the report be noted.

52.   OFSTED RECOMMENDATIONS - UPDATE 

Sue Wilson, Head of Service Performance and Planning, presented the 
following powerpoint presentation on the status of the 34 actions identified 
for completed against each of the 8 Ofsted recommendations for 
improvement identified during the November 2017 re-inspection:-

Current Position
 8 recommendations made up of 34 actions (11 actions complete)
 2 recommendations fully complete (subject to approval at the 

evidence panel) made up of 6 actions
 6 other recommendations were partially complete (18 actions 

outstanding) and work on these continued

Recommendation 1
Ensure that managers provide challenging, reflective and directive 
supervision and, with support from Independent Reviewing Officers 
(IROs) and Conference Chairs, address the quality of practice and 
planning for all children effectively
 A revised supervision template was now live in Liquid Logic
 The IRO Service had been developed and were providing a ‘high 

support, high challenge’ approach around planning for children
 The Rotherham Family Approach (Signs of Safety, Restorative 

Practice and Social Pedagogy) continued to be rolled out as part of 
mandatory training for workers across the whole of the Children’s 
workforce

 Work was continuing to:-
Implement phase 2 of the Right Child Right Care programme of work 
(March 2020)
Further implement and embed the Rotherham Family Approach 
including across the broader partnership (April 2020)

Recommendation 2
Ensure that all assessments are: meaningful to children and their families; 
reflect the changing needs of children and effectively evaluate cumulative 
risks and their impact
 Case mapping exercises take place with staff to improving the quality 

of assessments
 The Social Care and Early Help Quality Assurance Framework looks 

at practice through a thematic lens to better recognise the 
understanding of cumulative risk of harm and to test out the quality of 
Assessments and Plans (particularly in relation to looked after 
children)

 Work is continuing to:-

Page 10



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

Fully implement Liquid Logic to enable case recording to reflect the 
Rotherham Family Approach particularly in relation to the format of 
the recording of assessments

Recommendation 3
Ensure that all plans: are clear about how children’s and young people’s 
holistic needs are to be met; have clear timescales; can be understood by 
families and are always well informed by risk assessment
 Case mapping exercises take place with staff in relation to improving 

the quality safety plans
 The Social Care and Early Help Quality Assurance Framework looks 

at practice through a thematic lens to better recognise the 
understanding of cumulative risk of harm and to test out the quality of 
Assessments and Plans (particularly in relation to looked after 
children)

 Work is continuing to:-
Fully implement Liquid Logic to enable case recording to reflect the 
Rotherham Family Approach particularly in relation to the format of 
the recording of plans and risk

Recommendation 4
Ensure that early permanence planning is timely and considers the full 
range of placement options for all children when they are unable to return 
to their birth families
 The increased focus of the IROs is making a difference in relation to 

permanence planning
 Right Child Right Care (RCRC) is having a significant impact on 

permanence planning with more children being discharged from care 
since February 2018, as a result of the wider improvement in practice

 Work is continuing to:
Focus on foster care recruitment (based on the feedback from the 
recent Peer View and our own self-assessment)
Revise the Marketing and Placement Sufficiency Strategies in order to 
boost in-house foster carer recruitment by a net gain of 15 foster 
placements each year for the next 3 years

Recommendation 5
Improve the timeliness of the early help response to children particularly 
those who have a disability
 The standard response time for children with disabilities is now 

managed as part of the fortnightly performance meetings; regular 
meetings take place between the Early Help Disability Manager and 
an experienced Early Help and Family Engagement Service Manager

 Signs of Safety training has been rolled out in the team and is being 
embedded

 Performance data shows that timeliness has improved with an upward 
trend predicted to continue

 This is now complete

Page 11



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

Recommendation 6
Work with schools to reduce the number of fixed-term exclusions and 
persistent absentees from education among children looked after
 The attendance and exclusions of looked after children are discussed 

at Personal Education Plan (PEP) meetings
 Creative mentoring and attachment friendly schools are starting to 

show impact
 The Virtual School has seen a reduction in exclusions and attendance 

has improved from September 2017 to September 2018
 Work is continuing to:

Implement the creative mentoring scheme (January 2019)
Complete Phase 2 of the attachment friendly schools (September 
2020)

Recommendation 7
Ensure that children benefit from a timely good quality Lifestory work and 
clearly written later life letters to enable children to understand their 
experiences, life history and reason for separation from their birth families
 Life Story Work (LSW) continues to be a priority and a new model has 

been implemented with additional support and training being provided 
by the Therapeutic

 Information about therapeutic stories and telling about difficult 
experiences or traumas has been shared with staff.  The Advanced 
Practitioners and the Practice Consultants are leading on LSW within 
each team

 Court & Permanency Team have recently recruited a worker whose 
focus was specifically on LSW and with her lead and the support from 
the TT the quality of LSW has improved

 Work was continuing to:
Improve the quality of later life letters (January 2019)
Utilise Liquid Logic better to track the presence of lifestory and later 
life letters (February 2019)

Recommendation 8
Ensure that birth parents of children who are adopted fully understand 
what support is available and are helped to access this
 Additional support has been put in place for birth parents whose 

children have been adopted
 RMBC continues to commission this support PAC UK and the 

Adoption Team website has now been updated to include PAC UK 
and link to this service

 This is now complete

Liquid Logic
 Signs of Safety (SOS) within Liquid Logic is having an impact upon 

the development of key documents within the system impacting on 
completion of some actions

 In order to minimise this potential barrier we have commenced work 
around developing key documents to be used in the existing Liquid 

Page 12



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

Logic pathway
 This should then reflect our improving practice in the case record 

more effectively

Discussion ensued on the presentation with the following issues 
raised/clarified:-

 As part of the independent health check (6th-8th February 2019) 
commissioners would come in and test out the Ofsted 
recommendations.  There was a series of meetings organised with 
case tracking taking place

 Lincolnshire Council was selecting 10 cases they would audit and look 
for evidence in current practice that they could now see a difference.  
The same as an Ofsted inspection, the Service ran “Annex A” - 11 
lists of every child that the Service had been working with over the last 
6 months.  That document had been submitted together with a 
document called “chat”, a single page document listing the key 
concerns and risks about some of the cases.  Lincolnshire would use 
it to select the 10 cases

 There was confidence that the Services rated by Ofsted in January 
2018 as either being Good or Outstanding, were still of the same 
calibre.   Rotherham was able, on an ongoing basis, to assess the 
effectiveness of its services.  It was an ongoing effort which required 
time, energy and investment to ascertain an accurate view of how it 
was performing.  A raft of information was submitted to the monthly 
multi-agency Performance Board where Assistant Directors and 
Heads of Services attended and presented narrative reports 
supported by data and performance information.  There was also a 
very robust monthly schedule of case file audits which were evaluated 
and moderated, put together in an audit report and sent to managers, 
the learning from which was then fed into a training and development 
programme

 Practice learning days were also held where managers across the 
Service went out to observe practice with an action plan compiled 
following the visit.  The Strategic Director and Deputy Leader would 
then visit and assess whether the services had performed against 
their action plan

 The new inspection arrangements included an Annual Conversation.  
Prior to the meeting, the Service had to develop and submit 2 weeks 
in advance, a self-evaluation assessment that covered all the 
requirements of the Ofsted inspection regime.  Ofsted then 
interrogated representatives on the self-assessment.  Following the 
Annual Conversation last year, a positive letter had been received  

Page 13



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

 There were a number of products that different local authorities used 
for their case management recording of their children’s Social Care 
work and for some Early Help work; Rotherham used Liquid Logic for 
both.  However, when Rotherham implemented Liquid Logic Signs of 
Safety was not being used and nor was the Rotherham Family 
Approach developed.  As with any product, Liquid Logic had an “off 
the peg” product with the ability for each local authority to develop its 
own local nuances and add to the processes that existed.  All Social 
Workers and managers had been trained around Restorative Practice 
and Signs of Safety.  Liquid Logic had now developed a licensed 
Signs of Safety product which would sit alongside the existing 
products.  Work was now required to ascertain if it was the right 
product for the Service or develop/alter the existing version that took 
into account Restorative Practice and Social Pedagogy.  The Social 
Workers who were most confident in the use of the new 
methodologies were finding ways to record within current forms but 
some of the current development structure did not include making it 
intuitive.  Some of the forms were not the most helpful to the Social 
Workers but if it could be improved it would help embed Signs of 
Safety

 Representatives of Liquid Logic would be visiting Rotherham soon to 
present demonstration work to establish whether it was best to 
improve the system or if there was an alternative way

 Of the 8 recommendations/actions that not yet been completed it was 
felt that the biggest challenges were:-

No. 6 (work with schools to reduce the number of fixed-term 
exclusions and persistent absentees from education among children 
looked after) was challenging because it relied upon a complicated 
partnership response.  Fixed term exclusions was a national issue; 
the providers all wanted to help the Authority but it did rely on very 
effective partnership arrangements and something that was a real 
challenge in the country at the moment

Both No. 2 (ensure that all assessments are: meaningful to children 
and their families; reflect the changing needs of children and 
effectively evaluate cumulative risks and their impact) and No. 3 
(ensure that all plans: are clear about how children’s and young 
people’s holistic needs are to be met; have clear timescales; can be 
understood by families; and are always well informed by risk 
assessment) which started with “ensure that all ….” were incredibly 
challenging for any Assistant Director or Strategic Director to say that 
every single assessment/plan was developed and achieved what was 
set out.  However, The Service needed to be in a position where it 
could provide assurance that it was achieving the aim in more cases 
than it was not 

Resolved:-  (1)  That the report be noted.

Page 14



IMPROVING LIVES SELECT COMMISSION - 15/01/19

(2)  That the Ofsted outcome letter from the Annual Conversation be 
forwarded to the Select Commission for information.

(3)  That the outcome of the Peer Review for Looked After Children be 
submitted to this Select Commission as well as Corporate Parenting 
Panel.

53.   DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETING 

Resolved:-  That a further meeting be held on Tuesday, 5th March, 2019 
commencing at 5.30 p.m.

Page 15



Public

Summary Sheet

Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting

Improving Lives Select Commission – 5 March 2019

Report Title

Barnardo’s ReachOut service update and Barnardo’s ReachOut Final Evaluation 
Report.

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 

No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report

Jon Stonehouse, Strategic Director, Children and Young People’s Services

Report Author

Sean Hill, Acting Strategic Commissioning Manager, Children and Young People’s 
Service

Wards Affected

All

Summary

Barnardo’s ReachOut project was established in Rotherham under a 3 year 
partnership funding agreement between Barnardo’s, the KPMG Foundation, 
Department for Education, Communities and Local Government and Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough Council. The project is an innovative outreach service that 
strives to support and protect children and young people in Rotherham who are at 
risk of CSE. The key areas of work for the project are:

 Preventative educations in schools and other settings, primarily delivering the 
healthy relationships education package ‘Real Love Rocks’;

 Targeted outreach to young people at risk;
 Direct Support to individual young people and their parents.

Page 16 Agenda Item 8



The ReachOut Service began delivery in January 2016 and therefore has been 
operational for just over 3 years. 

A Barnardo’s ReachOut Service update report was presented to the Improving Lives 
Select Commission on the 5th June 2018 and as a result a further report was 
requested to include the following:

1. A further update to be submitted including the University of Bedfordshire and 
DMSS’s full independent evaluation of the project.

2. Details of discussions with the Young Inspectors with a view to them carrying 
our work on the areas the project’s profile and awareness were not as good 
as others or where the engagement with schools had not been as effective.

3. Details of discussions with the Assistant Director for Schools with regard to 
including information about the service within the schools’ newsletter / bulletin. 

This report presents an update of the key areas of service delivery, a summary of the 
full independent evaluation report, and the responses to the recommendations made 
at the Improving lives Select Commission on the 5th June 2018.

In addition this report also sets out plans for ongoing service delivery and the 
widening of ReachOut’s remit to include early intervention, prevention and support 
for children and young people in Rotherham who are at risk of other forms of 
exploitation such as Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) or County Lines.

List of Appendices Included

Appendix 1 – Barnardo’s ReachOut Final Evaluation Report

Appendix 2 – Barnardo’s Real Love Rocks Train the Trainer Offer

Appendix 3 – Home Office County Lines Guidance

Background Papers

None

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel

None

Council Approval Required

No

Exempt from the Press and Public

No

Page 17



Barnardo’s ReachOut service update and full independent evaluation report.

1. Recommendations 

1.1 That the Barnardo’s ReachOut Service update and the independent evaluation 
report be noted.

1.2 That a further update is presented in 6 months’ time to report on progress, 
particularly regarding the widened remit of the service.

2. Background

Summary of the Barnardo’s ReachOut Final Evaluation Report

ReachOut is a preventative child sexual exploitation (CSE) project established 
in 2016 under a partnership funding agreement between Barnardo’s, the KPMG 
Foundation, Department for Education, Communities and Local Government 
and Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC). An independent 
evaluation was commissioned from the University of Bedfordshire and DMSS 
Research both to evaluate the impact of the project and to provide ongoing 
learning and feedback. 

There have been three main strands of work undertaken by ReachOut in order 
to achieve its aims:

 Outreach work to raise awareness and provide support to children and 
young people in their communities 

 Healthy relationship education in schools and other settings

 Direct support for children and young people identified as at risk of 
CSE

These have operated at three levels of prevention: universal, including outreach 
at community events such as Rotherham Pride, helping to convey the message  
that CSE is relevant to everyone; primary prevention, including education work 
in schools reaching over 2000 children and young people; targeted prevention 
with groups and communities identified as potentially more vulnerable to CSE 
as well as direct work with 336 individual children and young people.

Over the course of the three years, evaluators have carried out interviews with 
ReachOut staff and managers and representatives from external agencies; 
observed sessions of delivery; interviewed samples of young people and 
parents; analysed feedback questionnaires from school students and staff; 
reviewed project monitoring and samples of case records.

Key Fndings

2.1   Outreach Work

ReachOut has reached over 10,000 people across Rotherham with information 
about CSE prevention.  As part of its universal outreach, the project has been 
involved in numerous community events. More targeted outreach has included 

Page 18



work alongside the police and Early Help and training for adults who may have 
a preventive role such as taxi drivers and the Fire Service. One of ReachOut’s 
most sustained outreach initiatives has been with the Roma community which 
has successfully demonstrated the benefits of long term, community-based 
work and the relationships which ensue.

2.2 Healthy Relationship education in schools and other settings

Every secondary school in Rotherham has had some engagement with 
ReachOut, with some being very active partners. Around half of all primary 
schools have also received input. ReachOut started its programme of healthy 
relationship education in schools in 2016 using the Barnardo’s resource ‘Real 
Love Rocks’. In years 2 and 3 there has been a stronger emphasis on capacity 
building for school staff via a train the trainer programme and bespoke support 
based on schools’ identified needs. 

Feedback collected from over 1000 students and 50 school staff clearly 
indicates that the Real Love Rocks programme achieves its learning outcomes 
for a high proportion of participants. School staffs were in 100% 
agreement that:

 sessions were well planned and organised
 materials were appropriate for the children’s age and stage
 workers interacted well with the children
 Real Love Rocks was relevant to all children involved in the sessions

In year 2, a ‘train the trainer’ programme was introduced to help embed the 
delivery of RLR by schools themselves. Participant feedback on the courses 
has been very positive and a follow up e-survey of participants provided early 
indications that this may be an effective approach to spreading and embedding 
healthy relationship education into Rotherham schools.

2.3 Direct work with Children and Young People

Between the 1st January 2016 and 31st December 2018 ReachOut received a 
total of 336 referrals for individual children and young people. 49% of referrals 
came from Social Care, with a further 16% from Early Help and 19% from 
Education. Referrals have been received for children and young people 
attending every secondary education provision in Rotherham, an indication of 
good cross-city / town reach. 

90% of those referred were girls and young women. Ages ranged from 8 to 20 
years with the majority (77%) being aged between 12 and 15 years. 

49 (14%) of those referred were recorded as having a disability. In nine cases 
this was a physical disability; 23 young people were recorded as having a 
learning disability and 12 an autistic spectrum disorder.

Referrals were frequently triggered by concerns over young people’s safety on-
line. However, the vast majority of ReachOut’s young peoples have had a 
range underlying issues that might heighten their potential vulnerability to CSE, 

Page 19



including family difficulties, mental health issues, prior abuse and problematic 
peer relationships.

Worker assessments suggest that the project has successfully increased young 
people’s ability to recognise exploitative behaviour, particularly when this 
occurs on the internet and reduced their level of risk of exploitation. Specific 
outcomes recorded at case closure indicated positive changes that had been 
facilitated by the intervention. These included:

 Improved self-esteem 
 Better relationship with parent
 Adopted appropriate privacy settings
 Improved behaviour at school 
 Started a new, age appropriate, relationship
 Facebook/internet use dramatically reduced
 Having a new peer group
 Understanding own emotions better

Feedback from young people and parents/carers has been extremely positive 
about the quality of relationships with ReachOut staff and the support they have 
received. All the young people we interviewed were able to give clear and 
specific accounts of the CSE related knowledge and understanding they had 
gained.  

For most young people it was the relationship with a specific worker and the 
practical, reliable, holistic support they had received that had made the greatest 
impression on them.

Parents and foster carers interviewed had also valued their own relationships 
with ReachOut workers and felt that the support they themselves had received 
had been crucial in changing young people’s trajectories.

2.4 Partnership Working

In order to contribute to the core aim of building a culture of trust across 
agencies in Rotherham, ReachOut has placed great emphasis on partnership 
working. Good relationships with both statutory and voluntary sector partners 
established in year 1 were sustained and strengthened. Highlights of successful 
partnerships include extensive joint working with Early Help and the Evolve 
team, the collaboration with the Clifton Learning Partnership and other 
agencies in Eastwood and the successful development of the Voice and 
Influence Partnership. Evaluation interviews with partner agencies have 
consistently elicited positive feedback.

Good partnership working is widely recognised as a vital component of effective 
development and delivery of services to children and families. When the 
ReachOut project started in 2016, the CSE inquiries and media coverage had 
taken its toll on inter-agency relationships. While many organisations and 
individuals have played an important role in building better partnership working, 
ReachOut, as a new preventative project established with an explicit 
commitment to collaboration appears to have contributed to creating a more 
positive multi-agency culture.

Page 20



2.5 Voice and Influence 

There is a shared commitment across Rotherham to ensure that children and 
young people have a voice. Listening to children and young people is 
fundamental to improved services, stronger communities and, of course, better 
safeguarding. 

The Voice and Influence partnership involves a wide range of agencies across 
Rotherham. ReachOut helped to fund developmental work by the Children, 
Young People and Families Consortium to create the Different but Equal Board, 
made up of young people from different communities, backgrounds and 
interests to represent the voice of Rotherham young people. In 2017 an event 
was planned and organised by the Different but Equal Board and attended by 
150 young people. This was followed by a launch of a film of the event and a 
host of new approaches to involving young people in influencing policies and 
strategies, recruiting staff and developing more meaningful processes for 
consultation using a good practice template. 

These developments demonstrate what is possible when young peoples’ 
involvement is taken seriously. The experience of involvement was described 
as having made a huge difference to individuals, growth of confidence, 
friendships and skills:  but of equal importance, it set the tone for young 
people’s participation in Rotherham.  

Partnership has been the key word for these developments with ReachOut 
playing a valued role. One interviewee stated ‘None of this would have 
happened without the ReachOut’.

2.6   Project Achievements

Over the past three years ReachOut has worked with a wide range of partners 
across Rotherham’s statutory and voluntary sectors. Alongside the efforts of 
many other agencies in Rotherham, its collaborative approach has been 
identified as making a valuable contribution to re-building a culture of trust in 
the city.

ReachOut has reached thousands of children and young people through its 
outreach and preventative education activities – raising awareness of CSE and 
promoting healthy relationships based on equality and choice. These activities 
have been positively received by young people and there is evidence that their 
knowledge and understanding has been increased. Most Rotherham schools 
have welcomed the input, and many have embraced the idea that healthy 
relationship education is part of their ‘core business’.

Over 330 vulnerable children and young people have been provided with direct 
support by the project. There is good evidence that this support has 
successfully raised their awareness, confidence and self-esteem. Given the 

Page 21



immediate risk that had prompted some referrals, it is likely that sexual abuse 
and exploitation may well have been the outcome without ReachOut’s 
intervention.

2.7 What has been learned?

ReachOut has developed a model of CSE preventative work that operates at all 
three levels of prevention and takes a ‘whole city’ approach. The three stranded 
approach of community outreach, school-based preventative education and 
direct support to children and young people has been confirmed to be a 
generally effective strategy. It has been important to keep the balance of these 
strands under review to maximise the best use of resources, but there is wide 
agreement among stakeholders that all three elements have been important. 

ReachOut offers important lessons about the detail of what works: how to take 
account of what matters to community groups, schools and families to 
maximise their engagement. ReachOut has demonstrated that effective 
intervention with vulnerable young people depends primarily on building warm, 
respectful relationships based on listening, understanding, appreciating and 
believing in them. They have ‘modelled’ such relationships in their outreach, 
education and direct support work across the city, and teachers, parents, foster 
carers, social workers and young people themselves have recognised the 
significance of these relationships in boosting young people’s confidence and 
aspirations.

3. Young Inspectors suggestions around increasing Primary School 
Engagement with the Real Love Rocks Train the Trainer offer.

The Young Inspectors were approached for ideas and suggestions as to how 
they might help in increasing primary school engagement with the Real Love 
Rocks Train the Trainer offer. Suggestions include:

 Collating statements from schools who have received the training to 
use with peers to promote the benefits of the training.

 Promote the training on social media encouraging families and pupils to 
discuss with their teachers.

 Consider innovative ways of delivering the training using games for 
example and filming the training to share with other schools

 Consider an e-learning or virtual learning package that could be shared 
with schools.

These suggestions will be considered in the ongoing promotion of the Real 
Love Rocks training offer and further awareness raising activity.

4. Promotion of the Train the Trainer offer via the School’s Bulletin

In an effort to raise the awareness of the Real Love Rocks offer and increase 
the number of primary schools taking up this train the trainer opportunity, 
discussions with the Director of Education and Skills and the school 
improvement service have resulted in the inclusion of a regular article in the 
Rotherham Schools Bulletin. The article includes a detailed description of the 

Page 22



offer including why the programme was developed, who it is for, and the 
available dates of the training. Please see Appendix 2. This promotion of the 
programme has resulted in an increased uptake with an additional 20 primary 
schools attending between October 2018 and February 2019. Almost 50% of 
primary schools have now engaged, with plans to continue to promote 
additional dates going forward.

5. ReachOut's widened remit.

RMBC, CYPS Commissioning, in Partnership with Barnardo’s were 
successful in their bid for £1m funding from the Home Office’s Trusted 
Relationship Fund.  RMBC are 1 of only 11 successful Local Authorities who 
were awarded a share of £13m fund to develop preventative and early 
intervention outreach services to address the issue of child criminal 
exploitation and abuse. The strength of Rotherham’s partnership bid and 
proposed approach resulted in the Home Office Minister launching the fund in 
Rotherham. 

The Governments definition of County lines is a term used to describe gangs 
and organised criminal networks involved in exporting illegal drugs into one or 
more importing areas within the UK, using dedicated mobile phone lines or 
other form of “deal line”. They are likely to exploit children and vulnerable 
adults to move and store the drugs and money and they will often use 
coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons. A 
more detailed description is available in the Home Office’s County Lines 
Guidance. Please see Appendix 3.

This funding, combined with a continued strategic and financial commitment 
from CYPS  and Barnardo’s, will enable the ReachOut team to widen their 
remit to include young people at the risk of Child Criminal Exploitation or 
County Lines. Barnardo’s are building strong links with the Youth Offending 
Team, and through research and connections with providers, who have a 
proven track record in delivering services for this cohort of young people, are 
further developing their assessment indicators to include the risks and 
vulnerabilities attributed to this exploitation. 

The terms of reference for the multi-agency ReachOut Board are being 
revised to reflect this widened remit and ensure that appropriate 
representatives from RMBC, Health, the Police and the voluntary and 
community sector are present. 

6. Accountable Officer(s)
 
Approvals Obtained from:-

Page 23



Named Officer Date
Joint Assistant Director 
Commissioning, Performance & 
Inclusion

Jenny Lingrell 14th February 2019

Strategic Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services

Jon Stonehouse 14th February 2019

Report Author:  Sean Hill, Acting Strategic Commissioning Manager, Children and 
Young People’s Service

This report is published on the Council's website or can be found at:-

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=

Page 24

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories


                                                                                                                     

Barnardo’s ReachOut

Final Evaluation Report

February 2019

Page 25



2

Contents
Executive summary ....................................................................................................................................................3

1. Introduction........................................................................................................................................................7

2. About ReachOut ...............................................................................................................................................7

2.1. The ReachOut team ......................................................................................................................................7

2.2. The ReachOut board ....................................................................................................................................8

2.3. Theory of Change ..........................................................................................................................................8

2.4. ReachOut’s model of work .........................................................................................................................8

2.5.About the evaluation....................................................................................................................................11

3. Partnership working .......................................................................................................................................12

3.1. Examples of partnerships and feedback from partner agencies........................................................13

3.2. Learning from ReachOut’s experience of partnership working........................................................16

4. Outreach work................................................................................................................................................17

4.1. The range of outreach delivery ................................................................................................................17

4.2. Outreach in Eastwood................................................................................................................................20

4.3. Reaching Rotherham’s Black and Minority Ethnic communities .......................................................22

4.4. Learning from ReachOut’s experience of outreach work.............................................................24

5. Work in schools..............................................................................................................................................26

5.1. Delivery of healthy relationship education ............................................................................................26

5.2. Feedback from students .............................................................................................................................27

5.3. Feedback from school staff ........................................................................................................................30

5.4.  Building capacity for school staff .............................................................................................................31

5.5. Other support to schools..........................................................................................................................33

5.6. Learning from ReachOut’s experience of work in schools................................................................35

6. Direct support work with individual children, young people and families ........................................36

6.1. Profile of referrals........................................................................................................................................36

6.2. Length of intervention ................................................................................................................................38

6.3. Reasons for referral ....................................................................................................................................39

6.4. Underlying issues .........................................................................................................................................40

6.5. Direct work undertaken ......................................................................................................................41

6.6. The boys supported by ReachOut.....................................................................................................42

6.7. Effectiveness of direct work ................................................................................................................44

6.8. Outcomes recorded..............................................................................................................................45

6.9 Learning from ReachOut’s direct support work...................................................................................49

7. Young people’s and parent’s views .............................................................................................................50

8. Conclusion........................................................................................................................................................54

Page 26



3

Executive summary
ReachOut is a preventative child sexual exploitation (CSE) project established in 2016 under 
a partnership funding agreement between Barnardo’s, the KPMG Foundation, Department 
for Education, Communities and Local Government and Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council (RMBC). An independent evaluation was commissioned from the University of 
Bedfordshire and DMSS Research both to evaluate the impact of the project and to provide 
ongoing learning and feedback. 

A diverse staff team was recruited from a range of professional backgrounds including 
criminal justice, social work and youth work. 

There have been three main strands of work undertaken by ReachOut in order to achieve 
its aims:

 Outreach work to raise awareness and provide support to children and young 
people in their communities 

 Healthy relationship education in schools and other settings
 Direct support for children and young people identified as at risk of CSE

These have operated at three levels of prevention: universal, including outreach at 
community events across Rotherham, helping to convey the message  that CSE is relevant 
to everyone; primary prevention, including education work in schools reaching over 2000 
children and young people; targeted prevention with groups and communities identified as 
potentially more vulnerable to CSE as well as direct work with around 300 individual 
children and young people.

Over the course of the three years, evaluators have carried out interviews with ReachOut 
staff and managers and representatives from external agencies; observed sessions of 
delivery; interviewed samples of young people and parents; analysed feedback questionnaires 
from school students and staff; reviewed project monitoring and samples of case records. 

Summary of findings

Partnership working 
In order to contribute to the core aim of building a culture of trust across agencies in 
Rotherham, ReachOut has placed great emphasis on partnership working. Good 
relationships with both statutory and voluntary sector partners established in year 1were 
sustained and strengthened. Highlights of successful partnerships include extensive joint 
working with Early Help and the Evolve team, the collaboration with the Clifton Learning 
Partnership and other agencies in Eastwood and the successful development of the Voice 
and Influence Partnership. Evaluation interviews with partner agencies have consistently 
elicited positive feedback.

Page 27



4

Good partnership working is widely recognised as a vital component of effective 
development and delivery of services to children and families. When the ReachOut project 
started in 2016, the CSE inquiries and media coverage had taken its toll on inter-agency 
relationships. While many organisations and individuals have played an important role in 
building better partnership working, ReachOut, as a new preventative project established 
with an explicit commitment to collaboration appears to have contributed to creating a 
more positive multi-agency culture.

Outreach
ReachOut has reached over 10,000 people across Rotherham with information about CSE 
prevention. As part of its universal outreach, the project has been involved in numerous 
community events. More targeted outreach has included work alongside the police and Early 
Help and training for adults who may have a preventive role such as taxi drivers and the Fire 
Service. One of ReachOut’s most sustained outreach initiatives has been with the Roma 
community which has successfully demonstrated the benefits of long term, community-based 
work and the relationships which ensue. 

Work in schools
Every secondary school in Rotherham has had some engagement with ReachOut, with some 
being very active partners. Around half of all primary schools have also received input. 
ReachOut started its programme of healthy relationship education in schools in 2016 using 
the Barnardo’s resource ‘Real Love Rocks’. In years 2 and 3 there has been a stronger 
emphasis on capacity building for school staff via a train the trainer programme and bespoke 
support based on schools’ identified needs. 

Feedback collected from over 1000 students and 50 school staff clearly indicate that the 
Real Love Rocks programme achieves its learning outcomes for a high proportion of 
participants. School staff were in 100% agreement that:

o  sessions were well planned and organised
o materials were appropriate for the children’s age and stage
o workers interacted well with the children
o Real Love Rocks was relevant to all children involved in the sessions

In year 2, a ‘training the trainer’ programme was introduced to help embed the delivery of 
RLR by schools themselves. Participant feedback on the courses has been very positive and 
a follow up e-survey of participants provided early indications that this may be an effective 
approach to spreading and embedding healthy relationship education into Rotherham 
schools.

Direct work with children and young people
Between the 1st January 2016 and 31st December 2018 ReachOut received a total of 336 
referrals of individual children and young people. 49% of referrals came from Social Care, 
with a further 16% from Early Help and 19% from Education. Referrals have been received 
of children and young people attending every secondary education provision in Rotherham, 
an indication of good cross-borough reach. 

Page 28



5

90% of those referred were girls and young women. Ages ranged from 8 to 20 years with 
the majority (77%) being aged between 12 and 15 years. 

49 (14%) of those referred were recorded as having a disability. In nine cases this was a 
physical disability; 23 young people were recorded as having a learning disability and 12 an 
autistic spectrum disorder.

Referrals were frequently triggered by concerns over young people’s safety on-line. 
However, the vast majority of ReachOut’s young peoples have had a range underlying issues 
that might heighten their potential vulnerability to CSE, including family difficulties, mental 
health issues, prior abuse and problematic peer relationships.

Worker assessments suggest that the project has successfully increased young people’s 
ability to recognise exploitative behaviour – particularly when this occurs on the internet 
and reduced their level of risk of exploitation. Specific outcomes recorded at case closure 
indicated positive changes that had been facilitated by the intervention. These included:

• Improved self-esteem 
• Better relationship with parent
• Adopted appropriate privacy settings
• Improved behaviour at school 
• Started a new, age appropriate, relationship
• Facebook/internet use dramatically reduced
• Having a new peer group
• Understanding own emotions better

Feedback from young people and parents/carers has been extremely positive about the 
quality of relationships with ReachOut staff and the support they have received. All the 
young people we interviewed were able to give clear and specific accounts of the CSE 
related knowledge and understanding they had gained.  

For most young people it was the relationship with a specific worker and the practical, 
reliable, holistic support they had received that had made the greatest impression on them.

Parents and foster carers we interviewed had also valued their own relationships with 
ReachOut workers and felt that the support they had received for themselves had been 
crucial in changing young people’s trajectories.

What has been achieved?
Over the past three years ReachOut has worked with a wide range of partners across 
Rotherham’s statutory and voluntary sectors. Alongside the efforts of many other agencies 
in Rotherham, its collaborative approach has been identified as making a valuable 
contribution to re-building a culture of trust.

ReachOut has reached thousands of children and young people through its outreach and 
preventative education activities – raising awareness of CSE and promoting healthy 
relationships based on equality and choice. These activities have been positively received by 

Page 29



6

young people and there is evidence that their knowledge and understanding has been 
increased. Most Rotherham schools have welcomed the input, and many have embraced the 
idea that healthy relationship education is part of their ‘core business’.

Over 300 vulnerable children and young people have been provided with direct support by 
the project. There is good evidence that this support has successfully raised their awareness, 
confidence and self-esteem. Given the immediate risk that had prompted some referrals, it 
is likely that sexual abuse and exploitation may well have been the outcome without 
ReachOut’s intervention.  

What has been learned?
ReachOut has developed a model of CSE preventative work that operates at all three levels 
of prevention and takes a ‘whole city’ approach. The three stranded approach of community 
outreach, school-based preventative education and direct support to children and young 
people has been confirmed to be a generally effective strategy. It has been important to 
keep the balance of these strands under review to maximise the best use of resources, but 
there is wide agreement among stakeholders that all three elements have been important. 

ReachOut offers important lessons about the detail of what works: how to take account of 
what matters to community groups, schools and families to maximise their engagement. 
ReachOut has demonstrated that effective intervention with vulnerable young people 
depends primarily on building warm, respectful relationships based on listening, 
understanding, appreciating and believing in them. They have ‘modelled’ such relationships in 
their outreach, education and direct support work across the city, and teachers, parents, 
foster carers, social workers and young people themselves have recognised the significance 
of these relationships in boosting young people’s confidence and aspirations.

Implications for future developments
The ReachOut model provides a robust framework for a preventative CSE strategy, which 
along with careful consideration of any contextual differences, could be applied elsewhere.

ReachOut has been effective with CSE prevention for several reasons: the skills of its staff, 
the quality of its resources, the efficacy of its partnerships and the ‘fit’ between what it can 
offer and what young people vulnerable to CSE need. Their three stranded approach to 
prevention could be applied to other concerns, such as criminal exploitation, where work 
with communities, schools, families and young people will be equally important. However, 
whilst vulnerability to sexual exploitation and criminal exploitation often have common 
roots, they are not the same, and successful extension of ReachOut’s model into other 
areas of concern will need some careful attention to detail about who is affected and how, 
and an ongoing process of learning about what works best with different groups of children 
and young people. 

Page 30



7

1. Introduction
Barnardo’s ReachOut project was established in Rotherham in 2016. It was set up under a 
partnership agreement between Barnardo’s, the KPMG Foundation, Department for 
Education, Communities and Local Government and Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council (RMBC) and was officially launched in February 2016. 

ReachOut was intended to be a flexible preventative service, part of Rotherham’s overall 
strategy to improve outcomes for children and young people in the aftermath of high-profile 
concerns about child sexual exploitation (CSE). As there was no other service in the UK 
exclusively focused on CSE prevention there was no blueprint for the project, and little 
evidence from elsewhere to draw upon.  As such, Barnardo’s and Rotherham were breaking 
new ground, and it was recognised from the start that evaluation was critical, not only to 
gather evidence of outcomes but also to capture the learning from the project’s 
development and progress.   KPMG and RMBC therefore provided additional funding to 
support an independent evaluation of ReachOut and the contract was awarded to the 
University of Bedfordshire in partnership with DMSS Research. 

Since 2016, the evaluation team has worked with ReachOut to achieve two main aims: a) to 
provide evidence of the impact of the project, and b) to offer the project and its partners, 
ongoing learning and feedback. As well as evidence reviews and specialist training, the 
evaluators have produced evaluation reports and updates at regular intervals1. This final 
report considers the progress and achievements of the project over the full three years of 
project funding and summarises the key lessons learned.

The report starts with a short description of ReachOut including its team and partnership 
board, the project’s theory of change and model of working. It then summarises our 
approach to the evaluation before presenting a synthesis of findings in relation to 
ReachOut’s approach to partnership working and the three core strands of ReachOut’s 
activities: preventative education in schools, outreach in communities and direct support to 
individual children and young people. We conclude with a summary of the key achievements 
of the project, the lessons learned from the experience of ReachOut in Rotherham and a 
discussion of the implications for future developments.

2. About ReachOut

2.1. The ReachOut team 
The original staff team was recruited in December 2015, prior to the project launch in early 
February 2016. The team consisted of a children’s service manager, two team leaders, 13 
project workers and administrative staff.  The recruitment strategy successfully created a 
diverse staff team with a range of professional backgrounds including criminal justice, social 
work, teaching and youth work. The team remained largely stable over the first year. Years 

1 Interim evaluation reports and updates were produced in August 2016, March 2017, August 2017 and March 
2018.

Page 31



8

2 and 3 saw some staff changes with some workers and managers moving on to other posts, 
and the arrival of new staff. A major change at the start of year 3 was the retirement of the 
children’s services manager who had been instrumental in setting up the project, although 
disruption was minimised by the appointment of another ReachOut manager into that post. 
The overall complement of project workers gradually reduced to 5 full-time and 3 part-time 
posts by the end of year 3. However, the team has maintained a high level of stability: 
around two thirds of the current staff team have been with ReachOut from the beginning.  

2.2. The ReachOut board
Multi-agency working is central to ReachOut and is reflected in the way it was developed.  A 
key component was the establishment of a project board comprising representatives of all 
key agencies (including those on the Local Safeguarding Children Board) which has been an 
integral part of the project’s partnership ethos. The board has been an important means of 
setting and reviewing the overall direction of the project, including annual meetings with the 
evaluation team to review ReachOut’s theory of change.

 2.3. Theory of Change 
The overall approach taken to the evaluation has been based on understanding and ‘testing’ 
the project’s theory of change. The initial theory was developed with staff and board 
members in April 2016. It was reviewed annually at workshops with both staff and board 
members in 2017 and 2018 (see Appendix 1 for the full theory of change framework).

ReachOut’s Theory of change 

The ultimate goal the ReachOut project shares with its partners is for Rotherham to be a 
safe and supportive place for children of all communities to grow up - a place where families 
and communities have the information and support to confidently safeguard their children, 
and where young people are less vulnerable, make positive choices and enjoy healthy 
relationships. 

In order to achieve this goal, ReachOut believes that all children and young people need 
healthy relationship education – while more vulnerable young people need targeted support 
to raise their awareness, aspirations and self-esteem and to access help before problems 
escalate and thereby reduce the need for statutory interventions.

ReachOut aims to contribute to the further development of a culture of trust between 
agencies and between agencies and communities.   It seeks to build the capability of 
professionals and develop sustainable support to effectively combat CSE. 

2.4. ReachOut’s model of work
In order to deliver on its theory of change, ReachOut developed a model of work 
underpinned by an ethos of partnership working and consisting of three main strands of 
activity:

Page 32



9

 Outreach work to raise community awareness and reach out to children and young 
people in their communities 

 Healthy relationship education in schools and other settings
 One to one support for children and young people identified as particularly 

vulnerable to CSE

These strands operate at three widely recognised levels of prevention as illustrated by the 
diagram below:

Figure 1: Prevention pyramid

At the level of ‘universal prevention’ ReachOut raises awareness of CSE through its 
presence at community events and venues. The ReachOut bus has helped to raise the 
project’s profile whilst ReachOut’s contribution to events such as Rotherham Pride, helps to 
convey the message that CSE is an issue of concern to the whole community. 

At the ‘primary prevention’ level ReachOut has undertaken and supported education 
work in schools reaching large numbers of children and young people. This activity enables 
ReachOut to influence teachers and, to a lesser extent, parents and to offer extra support 
to those schools where children may be more vulnerable, such as schools in particularly 
disadvantaged communities or for children with learning disabilities. Another example of 
work at this level is ReachOut’s training for specific groups of adults who may have a role in 
safeguarding children such as the Fire Service and taxi drivers.

‘Targeted prevention’ by ReachOut includes outreach with groups and communities 
identified as potentially at greater risk of CSE, such as young people in the Eastwood and 

Page 33



10

Ferham areas of Rotherham. It also includes one to one work with children and young 
people identified as potentially more vulnerable to exploitation.  

The 2017 Guidance from the Department for Education includes a section on what 
preventative strategies for CSE should include.  

 A primary preventative strategy should:
 Educate all children and young people about the nature and risks of grooming, child 

sexual exploitation and other forms of related harm (both online and offline) and 
how to access support. 

 Recognise that children/young people can be both victims and perpetrators of child 
sexual exploitation. 

 Promote the resilience of children/young people and their families and strengthen 
the protective factors around them. 

 Identify and support those settings, such as schools and colleges, in which young 
people can form healthy and safe relationships. 

 Supplement universal initiatives with targeted work with groups of particularly 
vulnerable children and young people, such as those in care, whilst being careful not 
to stigmatise specific groups. 

 Provide complementary messages to parents and carers about risks to their children 
(online and offline) and how to access support if they have concerns. 

 Consider the levels of knowledge and understanding of the wider workforce, so that 
everyone working with children and young people can play their role in prevention. 

 Educate the wider community so they can identify concerns and seek support. 

Although messages and methods of delivery will vary according to the nature and needs 
of the audience, all education and awareness-raising initiatives should: 
 Be grounded in an evidence-based understanding of child sexual exploitation (both 

online and offline). 
 Challenge myths and misconceptions about who is perpetrating and experiencing this 

form of abuse. 
 Send a clear message that all forms of child sexual exploitation are abuse. 
 Recognise the potential overlap between victims and perpetrators. 
 Challenge any victim-blaming and promote the rights of all victims to protection and 

support. 
 Provide information on where and how to report concerns and access support. 
 Be inclusive and accessible to the intended audience, in terms of language and 

delivery methods and ensure information is tailored and relevant to diverse groups 
such as those identifying as Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer or 
Questioning (LGBTQ), Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) and/or deaf or disabled 
children and young people. 

Page 34



11

From: Department for Education’s ‘Child Sexual Exploitation: Definition and a guide for 
practitioners, local leaders and decision makers working to protect children from child sexual 
exploitation’, 2017 (extended text)2

Although there has been a growing interest in preventative approaches to CSE, the concept 
of prevention in relation to sexual exploitation is not straightforward or uncontentious. 
Most ‘preventative’ activities are focused either on children or those responsible for 
safeguarding them (ranging from parents to workers in the night-time economy) – none of 
whom are directly able to stop CSE from occurring so long as determined perpetrators are 
intent on abuse. Commentators have criticised some approaches, highlighting two main 
risks: first, that preventative approaches can be ‘victim-blaming’ in implying that 
responsibility for preventing abuse lies with potential victims and their carers rather than 
with abusers; second, that some materials and training styles can re-traumatise children and 
young people who have experienced abuse.   ReachOut (and Barnardo’s as a whole) have 
been clear about the importance of taking care to ensure that messages about prevention 
clearly hold perpetrators responsible for CSE and actively challenge any form of victim or 
carer blaming. At the same time, the project is clear that children and young people have 
the right to the best available information and support to understand what constitutes 
healthy and abusive behaviours through high quality relationship education.  

2.5. About the evaluation
As well as being the independent evaluators of ReachOut, the University of Bedfordshire 
and DMSS team have also acted as a ‘learning partner’ to the project. In year 1, the team 
produced a series of brief evidence reviews in order to provide the project with summaries 
of the available evidence on the core strands of ReachOut’s work: preventative education, 
outreach and direct support. These are available on Barnardo’s website. In year 2, Professor 
Jenny Pearce and Dr Silvie Bovarnick from the University of Bedfordshire provided a five-
day course for ReachOut staff on Understanding the Sexual Exploitation of Children and 
Young People. This included the opportunity for participants to submit an assessed 
assignment to obtain masters degree level credits. In year 3, the evaluation team produced a 
draft ‘What Works in supporting sexually exploited children and young people’ due to be 
published by Barnardo’s in 2019. 

The evaluation itself was based on a plan derived from the theory of change framework 
developed for the ReachOut project. The methodology was approved by both Barnardo’s 
and University of Bedfordshire ethics committees. 

A theory of change approach is particularly useful for the evaluation of complex, multi-
stranded initiatives. It is essentially a collaborative approach to evaluation and starts by 
gaining an understanding of the context in which the project is working and the priorities of 
stakeholders in terms of long-term goals. It then works backwards from those long-term 
goals to agree medium and short-term outcomes that need to be achieved if the initiative is 
to stay on track, and the activities that the project needs to deliver to achieve them. A 

2 Child sexual exploitation Definition & Guide for Professionals: Extended text, Beckett, H. Holmes, D. and 
Walker, J. February 2017, University of Bedfordshire International Centre and research in practice, p22

Page 35



12

regular process of review is built into the approach so that the project and its stakeholders 
can take stock of the evidence of progress and, if necessary, adjust aspects of their theory. 
The two main roles of evaluators in a theory of change approach are:  to facilitate the 
generation and regular review of the theory and to collect and share the evidence for 
progress achieved and what is being learned about what is (and is not) working.

There have been five main phases of data collection over the three years of the evaluation 
carried out at approximately 6 monthly intervals. These have involved:

 Interviews with ReachOut staff and managers. All staff and managers have 
been interviewed a least once each year whilst in post. These have been a 
combination of individual, group and paired interviews.

 Interviews with representatives from partner agencies (n= 32) Some 
partners have been interviewed on more than one occasion, particularly those 
involved with the project throughout the whole three years. These have been 
carried out either face to face or by telephone. 

 Interviews with children and young people (n=25) who have received one to 
one support from ReachOut (representing around 1 in 10 young people supported).   
These have all been face to face interviews usually carried out after the support 
work was completed and the case closed or about to close.

 Interviews with parents and/or foster carers of the above young people where 
they gave consent for us to do so (n=16). These have usually been carried out face 
to face on the same occasion as the young person interview. In some cases, young 
people chose to be interviewed together with their parent/carer, in others we 
interviewed them separately. A few parents opted to be interviewed by phone. 

 Analysis of feedback questionnaires from students (n= 1134) and school 
staff (n=50) regarding the ‘Real Love Rocks’ healthy relationship education in 
schools and feedback from staff attending ‘Real Love Rocks’ training for trainers 
sessions (n=67)

 Observations of outreach and groupwork delivery
 Analysis of monitoring information collected by the project on their activities 

and referrals.
 Analysis of case records (n= 71) from closed cases of children and young people 

with whom direct work has taken place. This was a randomly selected sample 
representing just over a quarter (27%) of all closed cases.

In the following sections we summarise our evaluation findings on the three core strands of 
ReachOut’s work. However, as ReachOut’s model of working has been underpinned by an 
ethos of partnership working, we start with an overview of the project’s approach to this 
with examples and feedback from partner agencies. 

3. Partnership working

Page 36



13

‘I feel that the partnerships that have developed around ReachOut have been great – 
it would be a pity if we didn’t continue to build on that.’    Partner agency interview

Core aims articulated in ReachOut’s theory of change were to contribute to the further 
development of a culture of trust between agencies and between agencies and communities, 
to build the capability of professionals and develop sustainable support to effectively combat 
CSE. From the beginning, the project set out to develop strong working relationships with a 
wide range of statutory and voluntary sector agencies. As one interviewee from the project 
put it: ‘ReachOut is better together, that’s what ReachOut is, we can’t do it on our own’. 

Over the past three years, ReachOut has been actively involved in partnership working at 
both strategic and operational levels. The project has been represented on strategic groups 
including the CSE sub group of the LSCB and the MASH.  ReachOut has worked closely with 
Children’s Services, particularly Early Help and the specialist CSE team, Evolve. They have 
developed good working relationships with other statutory agencies including the police and, 
as described in more detail in section 5, have established a strong presence in schools across 
Rotherham. They have also worked closely with voluntary and community organisations with 
most of their outreach and youthwork being developed and delivered alongside other 
agencies, such as Clifton Learning Partnership (as described in section 4).

Over the course of the evaluation, we asked interviewees from ReachOut’s partner agencies 
about their experience of working with the project. Feedback has been consistently positive, 
and we have accumulated several examples of partnership working in practice and the 
difference it has made.

3.1. Examples of partnerships and feedback from partner agencies
ReachOut’s positive relationship with Children’s Services is evidenced by the proportion of 
referrals received from that source – as set out in section 6, half of all referrals for 
ReachOut’s direct work have come from children’s social care with a further 16% from Early 
Help. ReachOut have also collaborated closely with Early Help in a wide range of 
community-based support including outreach work in Ferham, ongoing youthwork in 
Eastwood, lunch time sessions with Maltby Linx and a range of shorter-term pieces of work 
as needs have arisen. ReachOut’s ability and willingness to be flexible and responsive to 
needs has been greatly appreciated. For example, one interviewee described an occasion 
when concerns were raised about a group of year 8 girls attending a ‘party’ with some older 
people. ReachOut responded quickly to provide some girls’ groupwork sessions. This 
interviewee went on to say: ‘I haven’t got a negative word to say about them – they’re always 
willing to do things and maintained that flexibility and responsiveness throughout… They have some 
great skills and resources which they’re always willing to share – our staff have done training with 
them on social media and the internet. They’ve really maintained the quality of their work.’. 

Reachout have also adapted their approach in response to changes in the organisation of 
partner agencies, developing new collaborations as staffing and systems have evolved. This 
has not been without its challenges for partners – maintaining good communication and 
collaboration during periods of change can be difficult. An example of this emerged during 

Page 37



14

our final set of interviews when an interviewee expressed some disappointment at the low 
number of Early Help Assessments completed by ReachOut. ReachOut themselves reported 
that these assessments are routinely offered to all the families they work with and are 
carried out with all those who consent, but most do not want to take them up. This 
illustrates the importance of maintaining regular communication about such issues and 
keeping collaborative processes under review. 

Another important example of partnership working with Children’s Services is ReachOut’s 
work with the Evolve team. Whilst ReachOut is explicitly a preventative project, Barnardo’s 
‘Satellite team’ has CSE specialist staff working in multi-agency teams in Barnsley, Doncaster, 
and Rotherham. There are two workers attached to the Rotherham Evolve team funded and 
managed by ReachOut and working alongside Evolve social workers as well as staff from 
health and the police:

ReachOut’s partnership with Evolve

Barnardo’s Satellite staff carry out a wide range of work including liaison with schools and 
families, but the core part of their work is direct support to young people referred to 
Evolve because of concerns about child sexual exploitation. Originally, the Barnardo’s 
workers provided the bulk of this direct work while the other social workers in the Evolve 
team held the statutory case management role. More recently, changes to the way the team 
works has meant that the statutory role rests with locality social work teams and Evolve 
social workers specialise in direct work with children and young people. This enables 
workers to develop different sorts of relationships with young people: ‘Evolve can now focus 
on establishing relationships – young people will now return to us and we’ve had increased 
disclosures which is a real sign of trust.’

Given their experience of one to one work, Barnardo’s staff played a valuable role in this 
transition: ‘The workers provided Evolve colleagues with a range of materials on direct work with 
young people. They put on a workshop and produced a folder of resources which went down very 
well’.

The work with young people is described as challenging but rewarding: ‘The one to one work 
can be very intensive, but it needs to be if we’re to break down the young person’s relationship with 
the perpetrator. We have to be as persistent as they are and show that we really care.’

A satellite worker described how this relationship is developed: ‘We work with them as a 
whole. with whatever their needs are e.g. around benefits, housing, education, emotional support, 
the court process, compensation. It’s very varied. We meet them anywhere and everywhere and we 
continue the support even if that means visiting them in another part of the country.’ 

This process takes time. We were given an example of a young woman who a Satellite 
worker supported for over three years before she obtained disclosures: ‘It takes a long time 
for young people to feel able to share that information.’

Measuring success when working with these young people means looking for small signs of 
progress.  ‘It’s about little differences, if you are just waiting for big wins you are never going to 
achieve anything’.

Page 38



15

The integration of the Satellite workers with Evolve is a clear example of partnership 
working. Effective processes for joint management, case allocation and communication are 
vital and are viewed as working well: ‘We have a risk assessment process involving managers 
from both and make allocation decisions on a case by case basis. As managers we meet every week 
and communication is excellent. We’ve built really positive relationships.’

The value of having workers from the voluntary sector with some separation from social 
care, is recognised: ‘Barnardo’s can bring a different culture in how we work with children, 
including an approach involving a gradual build-up of trust. It can influence people to think a bit 
differently. It’s also important to have someone to act as advocates and sometimes challengers. 
Being independent is important’. 

Having Barnardo’s input to Evolve alongside the preventative approach of ReachOut is also 
valued: ‘It seems to work really well. There is very little escalation of cases from ReachOut to Evolve 
which suggests the risk assessment is working and the prevention work is getting to the right young 
people. It’s great having a service which is so focused on young people – it would leave a huge gap 
if we didn’t have it.’

Strong collaborations have also been developed with other voluntary sector agencies such as 
the Clifton Learning Partnership (see section 4.2). ReachOut’s collaborative and inclusive 
style of working has been particularly valued by voluntary sector interviewees. For example, 
at the end of year 1 an interviewee told us: ‘[The project manager] has to take an awful lot of 
credit for how she manages relationships with smaller organisations. [She’s] been very proactive and 
sensitive about the impact on smaller organisations so they don’t feel overwhelmed or overtaken.’

During its second year, ReachOut made a significant contribution to the development of the 
voice and influence partnership and the ‘different but equal’ board which in turn have helped 
to embed the voice of children and young people across Rotherham. This whole initiative 
has been a very positive example of partnership working, not only across agencies but with 
young people too:

The voice and influence partnership

There is a shared commitment across Rotherham to ensure that children and young people 
have a voice. Listening to children and young people is fundamental to improved services, 
stronger communities and, of course, better safeguarding. 

The Voice and Influence partnership involves a wide range of agencies across Rotherham. 
ReachOut helped to fund developmental work by the Children, Young People and Families 
Consortium to create the Different but Equal Board, made up of young people from 
different communities, backgrounds and interests to represent the voice of Rotherham 
young people. In 2017 an event was planned and organised by the Different but Equal Board 
and attended by 150 young people. This was followed by a launch of a film of the event and 
a host of new approaches to involving young people in influencing policies and strategies, 
recruiting staff and developing more meaningful processes for consultation using a good 
practice template. 

Page 39



16

These developments demonstrate what is possible when young peoples’ involvement is 
taken seriously. The experience of involvement was described as having made a huge 
difference to individuals, growth of confidence, friendships and skills:  but of equal 
importance, it set the tone for young people’s participation in Rotherham.  

Partnership has been the key word for these developments with ReachOut playing a valued 
role. As one interviewee told us, ‘None of this would have happened without the ReachOut 
funding, but more importantly they helped to create a safe space to allow it to happen. Barnardo’s 
helped to provide the belief that it could happen…Working with Barnardo’s has been a true 
example of partnership and co-production.’ 

3.2. Learning from ReachOut’s experience of partnership working
Feedback from interviewees suggests that there are several important attributes of 
ReachOut that have made them a valued partner in Rotherham. These have been:

 Being reliable and consistent, for example, one interviewee commented: ‘Barnardo’s 
are at every meeting and almost always have a good contribution to make because they 
know what’s going on in communities and with young people’

 Being flexible and responsive to requests from partner agencies
 Being willing to share resources, including staff time and skills, facilities and funding
 Being respectful of the knowledge and skills of others e.g. working alongside agencies 

who are embedded in communities and not just ‘parachuting in’ from outside.
 Understanding the pressures and constraints of both statutory and voluntary sector 

partners
 Having an open style of communication including honestly challenging partners over 

issues on occasions
 Being independent with several interviewees commenting on the value of ReachOut 

being a Barnardo’s project. Barnardo’s was seen as a ‘safe pair of hands’ - trusted and 
respected by both statutory and voluntary agency partners.

Good partnership working is widely recognised as a vital component of effective 
development and delivery of services to children and families. Successive child abuse inquiry 
reports from across the UK have highlighted the importance of multi-agency working - and 
what can happen when partnership working breaks down. However, multi-agency 
partnerships are not easy to sustain. Differences in organisational cultures, priorities, 
language and channels of communication are all common barriers, and this is true in 
Rotherham as anywhere else. When the ReachOut project started in 2016, the CSE 
inquiries and media coverage had taken its toll on inter-agency relationships. This was 
recognised by ReachOut’s partnership board and reflected in one of their desired outcomes. 
Their hope was that by working together to create a preventative approach to CSE, 
ReachOut would contribute to a more positive culture of trust between organisations. Our 
recent interviews with stakeholders from a range of agencies suggest that this has happened. 
Most commented on the growth of more trusting relationships between agencies. For 

Page 40



17

example: ‘I feel around the Jay report people were falling out and there was a bit of a blame culture. 
Relationships have now developed so that there is a lot more trust.’ 

Many organisations and individuals have played an important role in this, and the improved 
partnership working can by no means all be attributed to ReachOut. However, alongside 
other changes in Rotherham, having ReachOut as a new preventative project established 
with an explicit commitment to partnership working does appear to have contributed to 
creating a more positive multi-agency culture. As one interviewee out it: ‘The relationship 
with ReachOut and Barnardo’s has been critical. It was right that Rotherham had a bespoke CSE 
offer. There had been a loss of trust and ReachOut was seen as independent and has acted as a 
vital conduit and link between statutory agencies and other support services’

4. Outreach work
‘We wanted an easily accessible service to sit alongside statutory services which could 
reach needs that we can’t. ReachOut has done a brilliant job in going out to 
communities…the key thing is that they’ve been able to respond dynamically to need 
– nothing has been set in stone.’ Partner agency interview

4.1. The range of outreach delivery
ReachOut’s outreach work has operated at all levels of the prevention pyramid in figure 1. 
At the universal level, workers have used the ReachOut bus on a regular basis to access 
young people in their local communities. Other uses of the bus include visits to schools e.g. 
lunchtime sessions to get to know young people. They have also visited venues such as 
libraries, leisure centres, shopping centres and supermarkets, changing the times and days to 
access different groups of people, often setting up a stall to try to engage people in 
discussions about CSE prevention. 

Another universal approach to outreach has involved ReachOut’s involvement in major 
community events such as Pride, Armed Forces Day, Rotherham Show and Carnival, having 
a presence at smaller events in local communities (e.g. the Dalton Fun day, Eastwood’s 
Funfest) and organising activities linked to themes or dates in the calendar (e.g. Black 
History month, bonfire night) or in local parks (e.g. Coronation park). Many of these have 
been carried out in partnership with other agencies. For example, the project has been 
involved in co-delivering a variety of holiday activities. At community events, ReachOut has 
often contributed by providing young people-friendly spaces and activities to encourage 
dialogue. An example of this has been Rotherham Pride:

Rotherham Pride

ReachOut have played a role in supporting Rotherham Pride for the past three years. From 
the beginning there have been team members leading on LGBTQ work in ReachOut and 
ensuring that the project is fully inclusive in its approach. A ReachOut worker was allocated 
the time to sit on the Pride committee which meets at ReachOut each month to plan the 
Pride event in July and other activities (e.g. there is a public quiz night in December and a 
Trans day of remembrance, with other events in-between).  ReachOut’s continuing support 

Page 41



18

is valued for many reasons, not least because sustaining a committee of volunteers is a 
challenge, with people’s lives changing and moving on ‘The committee really grew last year but 
has shrunk again. People don’t last.’ Despite this challenge, Rotherham Pride has grown to be 
an important community event which aims to be a family fun day of live entertainment and 
fun activities whilst also promoting the LGBT community and raising awareness of their 
issues. Over the past year, a worker from ReachOut has been on the committee as 
Children, Young People & Family Engagement Coordinator and has successfully recruited 
and supported young people to get involved with Pride as young volunteers. At the Pride 
event, ReachOut provided a young people’s space – an area where young people could hang 
out, pick up information and talk to ReachOut staff. 

Other outreach activities may be viewed as primary prevention which tends to involve 
more structured and planned activities e.g. going to a particular group with a set of 
materials/messages or raising awareness among groups of adults who may have contact with 
vulnerable children and young people and who might spot the signs of CSE. ReachOut has 
delivered outreach in areas where there may be particularly vulnerable children and young 
people. For example, ReachOut joined up with Early Help and Police Community Safety 
Officers to make contact with young people in Ferham, an area where there is little youth 
provision. This initiative was described by interviewees in year 2 as very positive: ‘We often 
engage up to 30 young people during one of these sessions - more in the summer when the 
children are playing out.  For us it’s an opportunity to get to know young people and gather 
intelligence on an informal basis. For Barnardo’s it helps them raise awareness among young people 
of what they do... It’s been a good initiative – we keep each other in touch and ReachOut staff have 
gone down well – they’re really friendly and enthusiastic’. 

A very different example of primary prevention was ReachOut’s contribution to the training 
of taxi drivers. Taxi drivers are a group who because of the nature of their work and the 
times that they are out and about, may be in a position to spot situations where vulnerable 
young people and adults may be at risk:

Taxi Driver Training

ReachOut’s involvement in the training of taxi drivers initially came about via contact with 
the licensing officer in the local authority as part of a regular information sharing session run 
by the police. There had been concerns about potential links between the taxi trade and 
CSE and a decision was made to train all existing drivers and implement a process of training 
for all new applicants for a license. ReachOut and the licensing department worked together 
to develop a package based on the national working group template and co-delivered it to 
all new applicants. Anyone applying for a taxi license has to do the training which is 
delivered monthly. In 2017, the course was revised and increased to 2 hours with the 
inclusion of a short test at the end to assess the extent to which drivers were absorbing the 
messages. Our interviewee from the licensing department described the approach as having 
gone down well: ‘The emphasis is on safeguarding generally, including adult safeguarding, and any 

Page 42



19

initial reluctance on the part of drivers was overcome when they saw the benefits to themselves – 
they now see it as part of what protects them from possible complaints etc’. 

The value of the partnership with ReachOut included the ability to work flexibly and to 
make use of ReachOut’s specialist knowledge: ‘They are able to use examples and bring it life 
for people, and because they’re independent people seem more able to ask questions.’ 

Although the impact of this training is hard to assess, our interviewee highlighted some 
positive indications: ‘We’re starting to see drivers raising concerns – not just about children but 
about adults such as confused elderly. I feel drivers are more clued up about safety generally and 
starting to see themselves as having a role in safeguarding’. 

More targeted outreach involves ReachOut working specifically with groups of children 
and young people who are identified as more vulnerable to CSE.  Targeted outreach tends 
to differ from primary preventive outreach in that it more often involves regular 
engagement with the same group of children and young people. Building up relationships of 
trust is a core element of the work. Targeted outreach is almost always done in partnership 
with other agencies, usually those with an existing relationship with the young people and or 
community. Examples have included regular drop in sessions at Rush House, a supported 
accommodation project for young people, regular attendance at sessions run by Maltby Linx 
and the JADE project; 6 weekly sessions with the young carers project, a boys’ group at 
Winterhill and sessions for careleavers at Hollowgate. 

Rush House

Rush House provides accommodation and support services, including advice and 
independent living skills training, to young people aged 16-25. Accommodation is provided in 
four separate but integrated schemes, each offering different levels of independence. Over 
the past three years ReachOut has worked closely with Rush House and with Action 
Housing offering drop-ins, groupwork sessions and individual support.

The young people supported by Rush House often come from very difficult home 
backgrounds and many have been in care. As one interviewee from Rush House explained, 
many of the young people ‘do not know what a normal relationship is, and as a result, they form 
intense relationships with each other, and others very quickly, making them vulnerable to CSE’. Due 
to their personal histories, CSE is a difficult issue for many young people in Rush House. 
This makes it important to handle the issues sensitively, but it also makes it a priority to 
address their future safety, especially how to keep safe when they get their own tenancy. 

Support from ReachOut evolved in partnership with Rush House staff and was shaped by 
the young people themselves. For example, the young people wanted the same workers, so 
ReachOut provided consistency of staff to run the sessions.  Our interviews with staff and 
managers at Rush House at the end of year one indicated that they valued the support 
offered by ReachOut who they saw as providing unique expertise on grooming and CSE. 
They appreciated ReachOut’s flexibility and reaching out to young people in their own space 
was greatly valued: ‘The fact that that ReachOut come to Rush House is vital. It would not work 
otherwise, as young people would not go to ReachOut offices or anywhere else for this support.’

Page 43



20

In year 2, Rush House underwent some organisational change and ReachOut’s work went 
on hold. Support resumed in year three but the break in continuity means that relationships 
are just slowly building up again. ‘We’re going in fortnightly and trying different times, now in the 
evening. We’re just developing relationships through cooking together so that we can start to 
introduce issue-based work.’

4.2. Outreach in Eastwood
Whilst much of the outreach work undertaken by ReachOut has been short-term or time-
limited, some has continued over the whole three years. An important example is their 
work in Eastwood, an area identified by partner agencies as a priority for ReachOut support. 
Eastwood has a substantial Roma population and partnership working has been vital to gain 
the trust of the community. The work has involved a close partnership with Clifton Learning 
Partnership whose Eastwood Village Base acts as a community outreach facility for both 
adults and young people in the area: ‘We’re here to serve the community. There are lots of 
Roma residents but we’re here to support everyone and to build cohesion and develop skills in 
people of all ages.’. Other partners have included Early Help, MyPlace, Lifewise and Know the 
Score. Each partner is able to contribute specialist expertise (e.g. in substance misuse) as 
well as a shared commitment to supporting young people. 

The partnership with ReachOut was described by interviewees as working partly because of 
a shared ethos and partly because of a complementary range of skills: ‘Like us, Barnardo’s is 
practical, hands-on and realistic. They felt like a natural choice of partner not only because they 
have the same outlook and priorities but because they have brought their extra skills. They’ve a 
broad skill set with different groups of young people, so it’s enabled us to do more.’

Although the work is part of ReachOut’s outreach programme, in many ways it is similar to 
centre-based youth work, in that most of the delivery is from CLP’s community base and 
the sessions are provided on a regular weekly basis, delivered by the same core group of 
staff. Work has included a girls’ group on Monday evenings (see boxed example below) and 
open access youth groups every Tuesday.  For the first two years, the Tuesday sessions 
were run over two time slots – an early session for 10 to14 year olds followed by a later 
slot for older teenagers. Latterly, the sessions for older young people have stopped with an 
alternative offer provided by MyPlace. In addition to these regular weekly sessions, 
ReachOut have supported a range of time-limited initiatives, such as a photography project 
and holiday activities as well as being involved in community events such as the Eastwood 
Funfest. 

The work in Eastwood has evolved over the course of three years. In the beginning it was 
important to build trust, not only with children and young people but with the wider 
community. The Tuesday youth group has offered activities which provide fun as well as 
getting some messages across about keeping safe. Work has been tailored to the interests 
and needs of the young people: ‘We have a 12month curriculum which we devise at quarterly 
planning meetings. We have looked at healthy relationships, CSE, keeping safe, stranger danger, 

Page 44



21

road safety and helping them cross the road - which was a real problem’.  During our interviews, 
staff have reflected on how best to pursue ReachOut’s primary aim of CSE prevention in a 
context where families have a lack of trust in agencies and have a wide range of other issues 
to contend with.  As one worker put it: ‘You cannot just spend 6 weeks building relationships 
and then deliver a ‘message’. CSE prevention is especially difficult. If you go in with a CSE tag the 
barriers go up.’ Instead, long term commitment has been required with staff gradually creating 
an environment where discussing subjects such as CSE or drugs with young people becomes 
the norm. ‘If I notice changes in a young person’s behaviours, dress, drug use etc, I can have 
conversations with them and challenge behaviours.’ As relationships have developed more 
structured sessions have been possible, but arguably it is still the informal chats that 
workers have with young people, talking about their day to day issues and concerns, that 
have the greatest benefit.

One of the key learning points from the work in Eastwood is that persistence pays off. 
ReachOut staff and partners cited examples of the gradual engagement of young people 
eventually leading to some positive changes in their lives.  A clear example of this has been 
the evolution of the girls’ group:

Eastwood Girls Group

The girls group started in 2016 because of concerns about some girls in the community 
being at high risk of CSE. It started slowly with just a small group of girls coming along, not 
all on a regular basis. Over the course of the first year the group developed into a well- 
attended weekly session, but this took considerable persistence and patience by workers 
who also needed to engage with the girls around their own issues and interests, as workers 
from ReachOut and Clifton Learning Partnership explained at the end of year one: ‘There’s 
now a core group who attend every week but that’s taken 8 months to build. They come under their 
own steam now – we don’t have to collect them – and they talk about stuff – consent, internet 
etc…Consistent staff is crucial. They’ve got to know us, and we have fun. Craft and nails are the big 
draws –we always do stuff at the same time as we have conversations. These girls are not aware of 
their rights always and can’t name them in English. We notice that the talk between the teenagers 
is very sexualised and substance use is very high. The community have no trust of police or 
authorities in general.’

 ‘It’s been a success, but things take time. The girls attend the group because workers were pro-
active and went out ‘pulling’ them in, they slowly built the group up through building relationships 
and doing activities, eventually they did do more CSE work, but they had to develop relationships 
first. The girls now know who they are and what they do in terms of CSE prevention’. 

Over the course of year 2, the girl’s group went from strength to strength attracting a 
regular and committed group of attendees. As the girls got older, the relationships that 
were built up enabled ReachOut to intervene when they sensed that some girls may be 
facing greater risk.  By the end of year 3, some of the original members of the girls group 
have ‘graduated’ and are now volunteering to support younger group members. ‘This is a big 
thing for us. It’s been fairly unusual for people we’ve supported to move on into a place where they 

Page 45



22

can volunteer and support others so seeing some of the girls group do that is amazing. It feels more 
settled and established – and that seems true of the wider community too.’

From the point of view of partner agencies, the ReachOut staff are valued for their skills and 
commitment, but also for their positive attitude and enthusiasm: ‘Nothing is a hardship or a 
grump – ever. For example, at our Funfest the heavens opened but the ReachOut staff just got on 
with it and stayed to take down wet, soggy gazebos.’

ReachOut’s specialist focus on children and young people has also been greatly appreciated: 
‘They play and engage with the children properly but also with the deep thought that’s seeing the 
bigger picture. They’re terrific at it… Often they’re the voice that brings us back to the kids.’

The work in Eastwood has been a strong example of partnership working. One of our 
recent interviewees commented: ‘We’ve seen [ReachOut staff] as walking with us and alongside 
us. They enhance what we do. We’re quite generalist so they’ve offered us some specialist input for 
young people with particular vulnerabilities. They’ve really added something. They’ve mucked in as 
well which has been really important!’

Eastwood itself is changing. Our interviewees observed that on the one hand it is becoming 
a more settled community with some families who originated in Eastern Europe now being 
long-term residents. This is helping to create some stability in the community. On the other 
hand, Eastwood is still getting new arrivals and its residents continue to face a host of 
challenges associated including poverty, overcrowding and discrimination. This is the 
context in which exploitation of all kinds occurs. As an interviewee put it: ‘Whatever comes 
up in the community we try to respond, whether its CSE or drugs or another issue. Young people in 
the Eastwood are still very vulnerable to exploitation and there is still a need for continued resilience 
building’. 

4.3. Reaching Rotherham’s Black and Minority Ethnic communities
As summarised in the box below, Rotherham’s BME population is small but growing. In 
addition, the age profile of BME groups is young which means that young people in 
Rotherham are much more ethnically diverse than older residents. However, there are 
some important differences between BME groups of young people. For example, young 
people of Pakistani origin are part of a well-established community in Rotherham and are 
likely to have been born here rather than be recent migrants. Young people of Eastern 
European origin on the other hand are more likely to have been born outside the UK and 
be part of a more recently settled community. Hence whilst they may share some common 
challenges, including discrimination, they also face some different issues.

Rotherham’s Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) population3

Rotherham’s BME population has grown over the past decade but is still relatively small. At 
the last Census (2011), just over 8% of Rotherham’s population belonged to ethnic groups 
other than White British, well below the English average of 20%. 

3 Source: Demographic Profile of Rotherham 2016/17 - Rotherham Council 
www.rotherham.gov.uk/jsna/.../id/.../rotherham_demographic_profile_2016-17.pdf

Page 46

http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/jsna/.../id/.../rotherham_demographic_profile_2016-17.pdf


23

The largest minority ethnic group is Pakistani which together with Kashmiri equate to over 
a third of the BME population in Rotherham. The Kashmiri and Pakistani community is well 
established in Rotherham following initial migration from Mirpur in the late 1960s and 
1970s. Rotherham also has much smaller established communities such as Chinese, Indian 
and Irish.

16.4% of Rotherham’s BME population were from the ‘White Other’ ethnic group in 2011 
which includes migrants from other European countries such as Poland and Slovakia. Further 
migration from European countries, notably Romania in recent years, have resulted in 
continued growth since 2011. The Slovak and Czech Roma community is estimated at 
around 4,100 people (many were missed in the 2011 Census). 

The fastest growing groups have been Black African communities and Eastern Europeans.

Most minority ethnic groups have young populations, including Pakistani/Kashmiri (33% 
under 16), Black African (31% under 16) and Eastern European (24% under 16). The mixed 
or multiple heritage population is growing rapidly and 50% are aged under 16. 

ReachOut’s preventative work aims to be inclusive of all children and young people in 
Rotherham. Their reach into the Roma community has been successful as demonstrated by 
the take up of outreach support in Eastwood and the one to one support provided to Roma 
young people (see section 6). All groups of young people have been reached through the 
project’s preventative education in schools. However, previous evaluation reports have 
noted a relatively low level of referrals for one to one support for Black and Asian young 
people. In year 3, ReachOut appointed a worker specifically to develop approaches to CSE 
prevention which would meet the needs of the largely Muslim Asian population of 
Rotherham:  

Discovering the needs of Muslim families

Research nationally has highlighted some common barriers to the identification and support 
of BME children and young people at risk of CSE.4 These include a lack of awareness and the 
provision of culturally appropriate support by services and a reluctance on the part of young 
people and families to take up support. CSE is commonly met with a culture of denial in all 
communities: in Muslim communities this is exacerbated by fear, shame and the experience 
of racism, making it even less likely that a young person or parent would seek support with 
a concern about CSE. In the context of Rotherham, where many of the convicted offenders 
have been Asian, it is not difficult to see why the Muslim community might be distrustful of 
any organisation seeking to have a dialogue with them about CSE prevention.  However, this 
does not mean that parents are not concerned about the safety and wellbeing of their 
children.

4 See for example, the Children’s Society, Victim Support & the National Police Chiefs Council (2018) 
Supporting Black and Minority Ethnic children and young people experiencing CSE, guidance for professionals 
(https://www.csepoliceandprevention.org.uk/sites/default/files/cse_guidance_bame.pdf and Gohir, S (2013) 
Gohir, S (2013) Unheard Voices: The Sexual Exploitation of Asian Young women and girls. Muslim Women’s 
Network UK

Page 47

https://www.csepoliceandprevention.org.uk/sites/default/files/cse_guidance_bame.pdf


24

With additional funding from Barnardo’s, a ReachOut worker has embarked on a ‘discovery’ 
phase of work to analyse the needs and issues concerning CSE prevention among Muslim 
families and to learn from practice elsewhere. In line with ReachOut’s partnership approach, 
the worker is from the community herself and has good connections with relevant 
community-based organisations. It is early days, but positive communication is already 
happening, particularly with women in the community. As the work progresses, ReachOut 
plans to develop approaches/resources to help make their preventative support more 
appropriate to Muslim families.

 

4.4. Learning from ReachOut’s experience of outreach work

Outreach work is, by its very nature, extremely difficult to evaluate. It is usually informal, 
often spontaneous and responsive, generally takes place in young people’s spaces and the 
emphasis is less on direct work with individuals and more on engaging them in groups. 
These features make it hard to evaluate in any systematic way and the impact of universal 
outreach is, particularly hard to assess, where the worker is in effect making ‘cold contacts’, 
trying to engage with people they don’t know.  In such circumstances, how can one know 
what a parent does with a leaflet picked up at a supermarket or how a conversation with a 
ReachOut worker affects how a child thinks about keeping safe?

Despite this paucity of ‘hard’ evidence, there are some findings from research5 which 
indicate that outreach can be effective in:

 reaching vulnerable young people who are ‘missed’ by mainstream services
 helping identify needs that are currently unmet
 establishing contact with ‘hard-to-reach’ populations and motivating them to use 

existing services
 raising awareness of the availability of such services
 building the trusting relationships that allow other work to take place

There are also lessons from the literature of relevance to developing outreach work in the 
context of CSE, including:

 The importance of understanding the needs and issues of the target areas or 
population you want to reach

 Considering the different strategies that are likely to be effective with different 
groups and being prepared to adapt approaches according to the local context and 
experience of what works 

 The value of working in partnership with those who have ‘inside’ knowledge or 
existing relationships with your target groups 

5 Silvie Bovarnick, Di McNeish and Jenny Pearce (2016) Outreach work: child sexual exploitation, a rapid 
evidence assessment. Available on Barnardo’s website

Page 48



25

 Balancing the informality and flexibility of outreach with clarity about its overall 
purpose

The experience of ReachOut over the past three years appears to reflect the above. In 
addition, the project has accumulated a wealth of experience of delivering outreach in a 
range of ways and a variety of settings. For each outreach activity, the project has recorded 
its estimates of the number of people they have engaged, and notes what has worked more, 
or less well. For example, for Rotherham Pride, they noted:

We had a very successful stall and youth zone at the event, engaging with a wide variety of 
individuals in Rotherham’s community. The event generated publicity for the project and resulted in 
positive engagement with young people.

Whilst for the Flanderwell fete, they noted: 

Didn’t really engage with any young people due to the age range of the people there (mostly under 
8). Local RMBC staff aware of our service more and want to work more with us.’

Over time, ReachOut has refined its approach to outreach. In the early days it was 
important to raise awareness of the project’s existence and being around Rotherham with 
the bus, pens and leaflets was a valuable profile raiser. Later as the project became 
established (and resources more stretched), the project became more selective about its 
outreach activities and prioritised areas and communities which are less well-reached.  They 
have prioritised initiatives that could be developed in partnership with other agencies, 
including those where ReachOut could add value to existing developments. They have also 
capitalised on the experience and connections of staff (e.g. prior experience of working with 
sexual health clinics) and partnerships that were already working well (e.g. working with 
Early Help in Ferham).

In interviews, staff have shared with evaluators some of the lessons they thought they had 
learned about what makes outreach successful. These included:

Using outreach to build profile and trust: In year 1, staff carried out a lot of universal 
outreach activities, taking the bus to parks, shopping centres etc. On the one hand, this did 
not always feel like a good use of time. ‘It has its moments but who you get to speak to can be a 
bit random.’  On the other hand, staff felt that these universal outreach activities helped to 
build visibility and familiarity. ‘We’ve taken the bus to schools and just been there to get young 
people familiar with it so can go out into areas... It’s about building relationships with young people 
who have had their town splashed all over the media and don’t trust anyone’. 

The question of how to use precious staff time and what kinds of outreach offer best value 
has remained a dilemma for ReachOut. As the project became better known, outreach 
work has gradually become more focused but maintaining a level of flexible universal 
outreach is still viewed as having value in helping to forge relationships.

Choosing appropriate venues and activities: Staff have found that some kinds of 
universal outreach are easier than others for getting engagement. At supermarkets, for 

Page 49



26

example, people may think you’re trying to raise money and can be reluctant to stop and 
talk, whereas at community events, people expect there to be stalls and ReachOut can draw 
young people in by providing activities and materials which are attractive to young people 
(e.g. games or a ‘safe selfie’ booth).  

Workers have also noted that engaging young people involves doing activities which they 
want to do rather than imposing preventative education work. This often means ‘weaving in’ 
conversations about safety whilst doing crafts or playing games. Going in to young peoples’ 
spaces with very structured sessions was observed to be generally unsuccessful. ‘We’re being 
creative about how we deliver the messages. We do stuff on relationships but there is a danger of 
losing them…. They’re interested but you have to do it in the right way.’

Building relationships and trust with young people and communities. It was noted 
that this takes time and persistence. Workers need to establish a reliable presence before 
they can start raising issues of CSE. This can mean continuing to turn up to group or drop in 
sessions even when attendance from young people is erratic: ‘We did a drop in that went fab, 
then next week there was no-one there!’

Developing effective partnerships: The most successful outreach work has been done 
in partnership. For example, workers noted that when the project experimented with 
evening activities in Eastwood without the support of Clifton Learning Partnership, the 
sessions were harder to control and to sustain. Almost all outreach activities are now 
collaborative ventures.

5. Work in schools
‘I can’t praise them enough, I am a bit biased towards them because they have done 
a lot in school and they are very receptive and very good with our young people, and 
that’s the main thing,’

The second core strand of ReachOut’s model of work is their preventative work in schools. 
This was a substantial element of their work in year 1, starting with their support to schools 
during the tour of ‘Chelsea’s Choice’ and continuing with the delivery of Barnardo’s healthy 
relationship resource ‘Real Love Rocks’. Work in schools has continued throughout years 2 
and 3, but with a greater emphasis on: building the capacity of schools to deliver their own 
healthy relationship education; reaching schools which had not engaged previously; and 
delivering more bespoke support to schools based on their priority needs. 

Overall, the engagement of schools with ReachOut has been impressive. Every secondary 
school in Rotherham has had some level of engagement, with some being very active 
partners of ReachOut. Around half of all primary schools have also received input from 
ReachOut.

5.1. Delivery of healthy relationship education 
The main resource used by ReachOut in schools has been the ‘Real Love Rocks’ (RLR) 
programme developed by Barnardo’s as age appropriate resources for both Primary and 
Secondary Schools.  In most instances, the work has involved a series of four sessions by 

Page 50



27

ReachOut staff to year 6 children in primary and year 8 in secondary schools. Sessions cover 
consent, grooming, safety on-line/in the community and where to go for help and, for 
secondary students, more explicit input on sexual exploitation and pornography. Project 
monitoring records indicate that over 2000 students have received RLR since the 
programme began in February 2016. 

To be effective, such initiatives need to appeal to children and young people and be 
delivered in ways that maximise the chances of them absorbing the key messages. We 
therefore designed feedback questionnaires for completion by students and teachers which 
sought to measure the acceptability of Real Love Rocks and what students thought they had 
learned. The completion of these questionnaires since February 2016 has enabled to us build 
a database of feedback from over 1100 students and 50 staff, summarised below.

5.2. Feedback from students
Since February 2016, questionnaires have been completed by 560 secondary school students 
(the majority in year 8) and 574 primary school pupils (mostly in year 6). 

Responses show that most children and young people enjoy the sessions. 57% of primary 
pupils enjoyed RLR sessions ‘a lot’ (25% ‘a bit’ and just 2% ‘not at all’). 41% of secondary 
students enjoyed them ‘a lot’ (40% ‘a bit’ and just under 2% ‘not at all’)

Chart 1: Did you enjoy the Real Love rocks sessions? (Primary n = 574)

Page 51



28

Chart 2: Did you enjoy the Real Love rocks sessions? (Secondary n = 560)

In addition:

 90% of primary students and 92% of secondary students felt able to join in or ask 
questions if they wanted to.

 87% of primary and 94% of secondary students felt that the workers answered their 
questions.

 94% of primary and 95% of secondary students thought children/young people their 
age should have information about these things.

Students were asked whether they had learned anything new in relation to the RLR learning 
outcomes. 61% of primary children felt they had learned a lot in relation to all the learning 
outcomes. The concept of ‘grooming’ was new to many of them and they had therefore 
learned the most about this.  58% of secondary students felt they had learned a lot in 
relation to all the learning outcomes. This was particularly so for grooming and sexual 
exploitation and where to go for help.

Page 52



29

Table 1: Did you learn anything new about any of these things? (Primary) N=548

Table 2: Did you learn anything new about any of these things? (Secondary) 

Large numbers of primary and secondary students had discussed ReachOut sessions outside 
the classroom. This is a good indication of awareness, engagement and relevance. Many 
primary and secondary students had talked to friends and around a quarter of secondary 
and over a third of primary children had talked to their parents/carers about RLR.

Page 53



30

Table 3: Primary students: I've talked about Real Love Rocks with:

Table 4:  Secondary students: I've talked about ReachOut sessions with:

5.3. Feedback from school staff
Since February 2016, feedback questionnaires have been completed by 50 school staff (27 
primary and 23 secondary). Responses indicate that teachers think that the quality and 
effectiveness of the sessions is very good.

All 50 agreed or agreed strongly that:

 The sessions were well planned and organised
 The materials were appropriate for the children’s age and stage
 The workers interacted well with the children
 Real Love Rocks was relevant to all children involved in the sessions

45 of 50 staff agreed or agreed strongly that they had received sufficient information in 
advance of sessions. 

All but one (who was not sure) agreed that the children were engaged in the sessions.

Page 54



31

Many school staff added positive comments about the sessions:

Perfectly timed and materials so important/relevant to our class. Sessions tackled challenging 
subjects through the activities and children really looked forward to them.

Fantastic delivery of the sessions. They were engaging and the presenters showed enthusiasm and 
vibrant personalities which enthused the students and engaged them in discussions.

The BU crew were very popular with the children as they were able to relate to the diverse 
characters. We liked this.

I was really proud of our young people's engagement and learning

I was surprised to find out how little some of the children know about these different topics.

Children really enjoyed all the sessions and showed a lot of interest in the subjects.

Teachers also provided some helpful suggestions for how sessions might be improved. 
These included the timing of RLR sessions, priority topics and approaches to make the 
sessions more engaging/participatory: 

The children have commented that internet safety/puberty etc is all coming at the end of year 6 and 
they felt it should have come at the beginning.

More active sessions would improve engagement.

The 'online' issues covered really could do with more time. Problems have occurred in the past with 
'sexting' etc so feel this really needs drilling home.

More opportunity built in for pupils to discuss videos/issues in pairs/groups. Follow up/gap tasks left 
in between sessions for teachers to complete with class.

School staff were overwhelmingly supportive of children and young people receiving 
education such as RLR and many were clear that they thought it should continue: ‘It’s 
important to not stop teaching/delivering content on this subject and/or to think its job done- a box 
ticked. The implications and effects of what happened in Rotherham are still being felt today by 
many and the movement should keep going.’

5.4.  Building capacity for school staff
By the end of year 1 it was clear that the work undertaken by ReachOut in schools was 
being very well received by both young people and staff and was achieving its immediate 
learning outcomes for a high proportion of participants.  Other benefits of ReachOut’s work 
in schools included raised awareness of the project, relationship building with schools and 
young people and establishing referral routes. However, the work in schools was absorbing 
a considerable amount of the team’s resource and there was also concern that to be 
sustainable, healthy relationship education needed to be embedded in schools with the 
capacity to deliver RLR themselves.  As one partner agency interviewee put it: ‘[From what 
I’ve] seen and heard Real Love Rocks is good quality but I’m asking what can be done to upskill 
staff to deliver themselves in the longer term’

Page 55



32

In response, ReachOut began a ‘train the trainer’ programme. Following some pilot sessions, 
ReachOut have delivered a series of training courses with separate sessions for primary and 
secondary staff.  

So far, feedback questionnaires have been completed by 67 participants of the training, 33 
who attended the primary sessions and 35 the secondary sessions. Responses were very 
positive with all respondents either agreeing or strongly that the course met its objectives 
of providing:

 Increased knowledge of issues re child sexual exploitation
 Understanding of underlying vulnerability/risk factors and increased knowledge of 

how to support
 knowledge to deliver RLR

Everyone also agreed that the course met their expectations, that they felt able to apply 
their learning and would recommend the course to others. Overall, 82% of participants 
rated the training as ‘excellent’ and the remaining 18% ‘good’.

Additional comments reinforced these positive findings. For example:

Really well presented, lots of time for discussion. Good resources, it taught me lots of good ways to 
add to my lessons in PHSE. I’m looking forward to using this programme

Very good delivery, well-paced and interesting/informative content

Lovely approachable and friendly staff. Learned loads and enjoyed it

The course and toolkit have given me all the resources I need to ensure the children receive 
comprehensive coverage at an age-appropriate level

When they attended the course, most participants stated that they intended to plan and 
deliver RLR sessions in their own schools.  We subsequently sent a follow up e-survey to all 
those who had agreed we could contact them in this way. We received 17 responses. These 
gave some promising indications that RLR sessions are being planned and delivered by those 
attending train the trainer courses.  Seven respondents said they had run sessions in their 
school. For example, one deputy head reported that: ‘The programme has been delivered 
between a team of staff to approximately 200 year 8 students and small groups / individual 
students as deemed necessary in other year groups.  The sessions went really well and promoted a 
lot of interaction and discussion with students’  

An Academy Pastoral Manager told us that: ‘We have delivered all 4 sessions of RLR here at 
[name of school] to 90 Y6 children. Over the next 4 weeks we will be going into [names of 2 other 
schools], our academy partner schools and delivering to their Y6's - 58 children in total. The children 
were really interested and from week to week they remembered the important messages. I would 

Page 56



33

say it was a very valuable piece of work and the children took a lot from it. We will be doing the 
same next year for our Y6's across the academy’. 

Two other respondents had delivered sessions in Special school settings and reported 
positively that: ‘The group comprise pupils with MLD/ASD and/or complex needs, they were very 
open to discussion and raised interesting points being very comfortable now with the sex ed/ 
relationship topic.’

Of the 10 respondents who had not yet delivered RLR, most had plans to do so. For 
example: ‘We plan to deliver Real Love Rocks to our current Y6 in the summer term after SATS. 
We deliver all the sessions across a week, spending an afternoon on each session. We have found 
that this way, the previous session's learning is fresh in their minds. At the end of the week, we let 
the children take their photocopied booklet home. Prior to us running the sessions, we invite parents 
to come and in and share with them the outline of each session and show them the animations. We 
have 3 Y6 classes - children are taught in their classes and the training is delivered by their class 
teacher with a TA present to support.’

These responses suggest that for some schools, in-house delivery of RLR can be 
implemented without too many difficulties. The only barrier to delivery cited by a few 
respondents was staff time and timetabling. Whilst a few schools had received support from 
ReachOut to deliver their sessions, most had used the resources themselves. ReachOut staff 
expressed some surprise at this: ‘We offered post-course co-delivery option to everyone but 
surprisingly no-one has taken us up on that. One school expressed interest but in the end, they got 
us to train 3 more teachers there instead.’

A couple of participants on the train the trainer course commented that they thought it 
important that schools delivered these sessions themselves. For example, one person noted 
that: ‘We are planning on delivering RLR this year as we feel the sessions are valuable for our 
young people and speaking from a safeguarding point of view, the sessions will allow me to have a 
better understanding of our children and their understanding of keeping themselves safe. I believe 
that the sessions are best delivered by school staff as they know the children and are able to learn a 
lot more about individual children through the activities in order to provide continued support if 
necessary’.

5.5. Other support to schools
In year 3, alongside the increased focus on building the capacity of schools via the train the 
trainer programme, bespoke support to schools has continued according to identified 
needs. Examples are wide ranging from one off or time-limited sessions on specific topics 
such as social media, short-term support to individuals or groups of young people 
considered at risk, through to information sessions to whole year groups.  School-based 
interviewees were appreciative of this flexibility as well as the child-focused quality of work 
undertaken: ’They’ve provided bespoke sessions, been non-judgemental and tailored the work to 
the individual needs of the young people -  building up relationships and trust, which is a very big 
thing for our students as a lot of them have been let down… they’ve got parents on board, students 

Page 57



34

enjoy the time they spend with them, there are no disadvantages and…I have asked all the student 
managers and I haven’t had anything…no negative feedback from young people, all enjoyed what 
they have done’.

One of ReachOut’s new initiatives in year 2 which continued into year 3 has been the 
development of groupwork in one Rotherham secondary school with the aim of building 
resilience and wellbeing among young people identified as experiencing difficulties. 

Emotional wellbeing groupwork

In year 2, an 8-week group was facilitated by two ReachOut workers for girls identified as 
vulnerable and in need of extra support at a Rotherham secondary school. The group was 
developed as a pilot and initially followed a manualised programme entitled ‘Living life to the 
full’(LLTTF) a 5 to 8-week emotional well-being course for young people developed and 
marketed by Dr Chris Williams (emeritus professor of Psychosocial Psychiatry at the 
University of Glasgow). The course aims to provide an easily understood and applied range 
of life skills based on Cognitive Behavioural Therapy. It encourages people to think about 
the impact on symptoms (such as anxiety and depression) of their thoughts, feelings, physical 
symptoms, and behaviour/activity levels.

In practice the workers had to amend the programme considerably as the style and content 
did not fit easily with the young women they were working with: ‘The materials contain a lot 
of scripted stuff that was just not appropriate in language or style... The young people had such 
varied and terrible needs and experiences (one girl had witnessed her mother being raped) so there 
was a huge gap between where they were at and the content. And they so badly needed attention 
to the immediate stuff going on in their lives – so we gave them that, and it meant we didn’t 
complete the materials. I’d say we got through half of them’.

The practitioners spent half a day on planning each week in order to get their own heads 
round the LLTTF materials and re-work them so they’d be accessible and appropriate to the 
group, and to think through the issues the girls were bringing with them and how they could 
best address these in a group setting. The investment of time paid off and the group was 
considered successful by the participants, the practitioners and the school. ‘They were all girls 
and we kept all but one for the whole 8 weeks and the feedback was off the scale. And some of 
them made friendships with each other – and are looking out for each other in school - so that’s a 
great result for ones that were so isolated before.’

Building on this experience the workers have subsequently run some shorter groupwork 
programmes for young people identified by the school. They have drawn on a wider range 
of materials from other programmes, although a main challenge has been the number of 
sessions ReachOut can realistically offer to each group. 

Page 58



35

5.6. Learning from ReachOut’s experience of work in schools
School staff and young people interviewed for the evaluation highlighted several key factors 
which they felt made ReachOut’s work in schools effective:

Materials: The materials used by ReachOut (particularly Real Love Rocks) were highly 
rated and identified as being age appropriate, direct without over-simplifying, visually 
appealing and well-designed. The videos came in for particular praise from teachers and 
were the first thing that young people recalled when asked what they remembered about 
the sessions they had attended: ‘Thought the sessions were brill. Loved the videos. Felt very 
relevant to them. Very interactive. Children engaged all the time – never bored’. Primary teacher

Facilitation skills: ReachOut facilitators were described as approachable, enthusiastic, 
warm and child-friendly– all qualities which teachers felt had helped engage young people in 
the sessions. The skills of the facilitators were considered to be crucial in the success of 
RLR and there was considerable praise from teachers who had observed sessions being 
delivered.

Outside expertise:  Some school staff felt that young people were more receptive to 
ReachOut workers because they came in from outside the school.  ‘The advantage is they’re 
flamboyant, different…. and not a teacher’. Both teachers and young people appreciated the 
role of outsiders in delivering sessions on ‘sensitive’ topics. The young people commented 
on them being ‘experts’ and ‘knowing what they are talking about’. Teachers suggested that the 
novelty of outsiders made the content more impactful:’ They like having outside input… 
children take it more seriously with new faces. It makes it more memorable.’ 

However, teachers were aware that inviting outsiders in – especially in relation to sensitive 
topics – was a ‘leap of faith’ that they know what they’re doing, and it will be high quality. 
Teachers know the needs of individuals and groups and how to manage them, and as one 
teacher pointed out ‘[Teachers] spend a lot of time differentiating input for individuals and you 
tend to lose that when you have external input.’ 

Integration with school and curriculum: Teachers valued the fact that ReachOut staff 
had been interested in the needs of schools and did not assumed a ‘one size fits all’ stance. 
Coming into school in advance and looking at what had already been covered was highly 
valued. It was felt important to avoid repetition which can run the risk of ‘some groups 
becoming bored and a little tired of the subject ….’ 

Schools also valued ReachOut’s approach of working holistically with schools – and not just 
providing a pre-packaged intervention: ’We liked their flexibility in coming to parent’s drop-ins 
and answering their questions. At the parent’s request they did a workshop for year 5s.’ Another 
interviewee commented: ‘They have been really supportive and responsive – coming in to do an 
assembly when a particular issue arose’.

Access to further advice, support and training: School staff, particularly Pastoral 
Managers and Safeguarding Leads appreciated being able to make a direct link into 

Page 59



36

Barnardo’s for advice, resources and referrals. The familiarity with, and confidence in, a 
known service or individual workers was particularly valued.

It is still too soon to say whether healthy relationship education will become embedded in 
schools without some continued input and it is likely that schools will need some ‘top-up’ 
support. However, there are some early indications that combining bespoke ReachOut 
support to schools with the capacity building provided by the train the trainer courses may 
be a successful formula. 

6. Direct support work with individual children, young people and 
families

[The best thing about ReachOut has been] It has changed me. In a good way, 
definitely. I am more confident, and it’s changed me as a person’. Young person

6.1. Profile of referrals
Over the past three years (from 1st January 2016 to 31st December 2018) ReachOut has 
received a total of 336 referrals of individual children and young people. 

Table 5: Number of referrals and cases closed by year

2016 2017 2018 Total across 3 years
Number of referrals received by year
155 101 80 336
Number of cases closed by year
60 120 84 264

Gender and age
302 of those referred were girls and young women (90%), 32 (10%) were boys and young 
men. One young person identified as both female and gender fluid and gender was not 
recorded in relation to two early referrals.

Ages of young people referred ranged from 8 to 20 years with the majority being aged 12 to 
15. Age was not recorded in 15 cases of young people referred in year one when recording 
systems were still being established.

Page 60



37

Chart 3: Age at referral 2016-2018 (n=336)

1% 1% 1%

6%

13%

18%

27%

19%

8%
6%

1% 0%

8 yrs 9 yrs 10 yrs 11 yrs 12 yrs 13 yrs 14 yrs 15 yrs 16 yrs 17 yrs 18 yrs 19 yrs
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Age

Source of referrals
Across the three years almost half (49%, n=165) of all referrals to ReachOut have come 
from Children’s Social Care, a further 16% (n=55) through the Early Help Triage and 19% 
(n=63) from Education. Various voluntary organisations have referred 9 young people. 
Health and Police referred two young people each.

Although ReachOut has made considerable efforts to raise its profile amongst the general 
public and has undertaken a wide range of outreach activities targeting young people who 
may be particularly vulnerable to exploitation, this has not resulted in many referrals from 
non-professional sources. Over the three years 10 young people have been referred by 
family members and 4 young people have referred themselves to the project.

Cross-city reach
Referrals have been received for children and young people attending every secondary 
education provision in Rotherham including 248 students from the city’s 16 secondary 
schools, with four schools having over 20 children referred over the last three years.

Table 6: Number of students by secondary schools referred to ReachOut 2016-
2018

No of students 
referred

8-10 11-15 16-19 20+

No of schools 4 5 3 4

Page 61



38

It should be noted that most of these young people were referred to ReachOut by social 
care or Early Help rather than by their school. However, 11 secondary schools did refer 
their students directly and in a couple of cases schools made a significant proportion of 
direct referrals. Maltby Academy and Wath comprehensive were directly responsible for 
half of their referrals, and St Pius students were almost all directly referred by their school. 

Primary age children referred to ReachOut attended one of 10 primary schools in 
Rotherham. No more than one child came from any one primary school. Only 3 primary 
schools made a direct referral of a child to ReachOut.

In addition, up to 3 young people attending each of Rotherham’s colleges, special schools 
and PRUs had been referred. Other young people were recorded as working, NEET, ‘not in 
school’, home-schooled or were attending schools outside the city boundary.

Ethnicity and language
Ethnicity was recorded in 333 of 336 cases. 301 (90%) young people were recorded as 
White British. Thirteen young people were recorded as Black, Asian or Black/Asian/White 
mixed heritage; and a further 19 (5%) as other – almost all as Slovak or Roma young people.

Disability
49 (14%) of those referred were recorded as having a disability. In nine cases this was a 
physical disability; 23 young people were recorded as having a learning disability and 12 an 
autistic spectrum disorder.

 Sexual orientation
193 young people were recorded as heterosexual and 18 as gay, lesbian, bisexual or 
questioning. Sexual orientation was not recorded for 124 young people. This low level of 
recording was raised by the evaluation team in our year one report as it seemed unlikely 
that sexual orientation was not relevant, or not discussed, in a project concerned with 
sexual exploitation. We explored the issue with project staff who explained that, unlike 
ethnicity or disability, a young person’s sexual orientation was often not known at the 
outset but only emerged during the course of the work. The issue was therefore one of 
recording practice – as staff had to revisit the referrals database to enter this information. A 
prompt in supervision led to improvement, from sexual orientation being recorded in only 
40% of cases in year one to it being recorded in 53% of cases overall.  In six cases where it 
was not recorded it had been noted that the young person ‘preferred not to say’.

6.2. Length of intervention
At the end of December 2018, the dates of both referral and closure had been recorded for 
265 cases. Almost one-third of interventions were of 4 to 6 months duration while a further 
third were between 7 and 12 months. A minority of cases (16%) had remained open for 
over a year.

Page 62



39

Chart 4: Length of intervention 2016-2018 (n=265)

5%

16%

29%

20%

13%

7%
5% 4%

Under a
 m

onth

1-3 m
onths

4-6 m
onths

7-9 m
onths

10-12 m
onths

13-15 m
onths

16-18 m
onths

19+ m
onths

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

In order to achieve a more in-depth picture of ReachOut’s direct support work we analysed 
the case records from 71 closed cases across the three years6.This represents over a 
quarter of all closed cases (27%). The purpose of this analysis was to identify the reasons for 
referral, the issues involved in each case, the work undertaken with young people and what 
workers believed had been achieved.

6.3. Reasons for referral
Referral details recorded in case records suggest that referrals have been most frequently 
triggered by concerns over young people’s internet safety. The most common cause for 
concern has been young people having inappropriate contact with adults on line or sharing 
photographs of themselves with strangers. In a few cases ‘obsessive’ internet use, accessing 
pornography, sexting or cyber-bullying within a peer group had triggered the referral.

In some cases, young people have been referred who had previously experienced sexual 
assault or exploitation or who were thought to be at risk either in a current relationship or 
because of what had been deemed their ‘risky’ behaviours (e.g. attending a party where sex 
and drug use were occurring or getting into cars with men met via social media).

Occasionally, non-attendance at school or concern over the ability of parents to protect a 
young person led directly to the referral.

However, the ‘trigger’ issue or event has often been only one aspect of why a referral 
occurred. Referrals have commonly included contextual information that has informed the 
decision to refer such as previous abuse, the prior sexual exploitation of a sibling, 

6 The sample consisted of every second case closed in year one (35 cases) and every fifth case closed in year 2 
(20 cases) and year 3 (16 case).

Page 63



40

disengagement from school or, most commonly, problematic relationships with parents 
(often due to mental health, alcohol abuse, domestic violence, neglect, divorce etc). 

In interviews, staff have suggested that there are a range of reasons why young people had 
been referred to ReachOut which sometimes ‘sat behind’ the ‘official’ or presenting reason: 
‘A lot of referrals come due to various issues at home and that means some work is done that is not 
really about CSE. Prevention can be anything…it is really broad.’

6.4. Underlying issues
A small minority of those young people referred to ReachOut over the past three years 
have been described as generally confident and well supported. In these cases, no underlying 
vulnerabilities were identified by referrers or during the work undertaken by ReachOut 
workers. For these young people the risky concerns or exploitative experience that 
triggered their referral was quite likely to be a ‘one-off’. They stand in marked contrast to 
the majority of ReachOut’s young people who have had a range underlying issues that might 
heighten their potential vulnerability to CSE. 

The issues identified in case records fell into the following categories:

Emotional vulnerability Very poor self-esteem
Easily manipulated
Needy/Hungry for attention

Learning difficulties Special educational needs
Asperger’s 
Autism
Communication difficulties
Learning disability

Mental health Depression
Self-harm

Family issues Problematic relationship with parent(s) /step-parent
Rejection by/absence of parent
Parental mental health
Parental alcohol use
Young carer
Domestic violence
Lack of boundaries
Adoption breakdown
Death of family member

Peer relationships Isolation from peers
Bullying
Out of school
Desperate to have a boyfriend/to be liked/accepted by 
peers

Prior abuse Sexual abuse in childhood
Previously sexually exploited
Sexual assault/rape
Abusive ex-boyfriend

Page 64



41

The underlying issues we identified in the case records have been very consistent across the 
three years that ReachOut has been operational. In most instances the young people – 
mostly girls and young women - have been drawn into on-line or real-world risky situations 
because they were unhappy, lonely and hungry for attention. In several cases, bullying at 
school and volatile relationships with peers had made them vulnerable to the attention 
offered by strangers on line or by more risky alternative peer groups. In other cases, 
unhappiness and instability at home, arising from divorce or parental health issues, left some 
young people ‘free-floating, needy and easy prey’. There were also a few instances where 
parent-teenager relationships had previously been OK, but had rapidly deteriorated when 
secrecy, suspicion, loss of trust and parental panic kicked in.

The referral picture has sometimes involved a range of complex safeguarding issues e.g. a 
father in prison for a sexual offence; a young woman hanging out with adult men known to 
be drug involved and living with a grandmother who is ill and is unable to set any boundaries 
around their behaviour.

6.5.  Direct work undertaken
From case records and interviews with staff and young people it is clear that direct work 
almost always addresses a set of core issues: healthy and unhealthy relationships, consent, 
CSE and grooming, on-line safety, sexual health; and often provides a personalised version of 
the ‘curriculum’ of Real Love Rocks. What has also been evident throughout is the care and 
skill of workers in personalising their approach for each young person in order to ensure 
issues were dealt with in ways that were appropriate to the maturity, attention spans and 
learning styles of individuals and took into account their specific prior experiences and 
current issues: ‘One case involved a young woman who was sending images to a man on-line. I did 
an assessment with her, the girl had good support networks, but there were concerns about her 
understanding on a few issues. We did sessions on what CSE is, why someone could be vulnerable, 
we looked at consent, the impact of sharing images, digital dirt-consequences long term, did quiz’s, 
collages. I used a lot of different tools to aid her understanding including using RLR material. I am 
about to close this case, the young person understands that the man she was sending images to 
was exploitative and she was really angry with him. Her parents called ReachOut and told me that 
she now feels much better about the situation and they can see she has a better understanding.’ 
ReachOut worker.

ReachOut workers have an extensive set of resources on which to draw and have 
appreciated the quality and variety of these tools. However, they also use their own 
judgement and creativity, and the interests of the young people, to find ways of 
communicating key messages. For example, both football and favourite ‘soaps’ had both 
been used as vehicles for increasing understanding of ‘good’ and ‘bad’ relationships.

It was evident that doing things together with a worker was particularly appreciated by 
young people. In some cases, this shared activity was as simple as watching a CEOP video 
together; in others it involved ‘hands-on’ activities such as designing fake and real social 

Page 65



42

media profiles, developing Facebook pages with appropriate privacy settings, making an e-
safety book for a younger sibling or doing a ‘condom-teach’.  

In interview, young people described how the relationship with their ReachOut worker was 
the most significant factor in the work being effective: ‘The main reasons she came for – to talk 
about CSE and that – were dealt with in the first few weeks but she didn’t just bugger off then; she 
stayed to support me with other stuff over my parents. …R didn’t butt in and talk over me. She 
didn’t say ‘you can’t’ all the time. I’ve been told by social workers: ‘Because of the childhood you’ve 
had you’re going to turn out like this unless you do this’. R didn’t do that, she didn’t say I was going 
to become something or other because of what had happened to me.’ 

ReachOut workers understand how their relationships with young people and the manner 
and content of their conversations can improve well-being and reduce vulnerability as the 
case vignette below shows. 

Case vignette- ‘Marguerite’

Marguerite is 16. Her sister was known to have been sexually exploited She had previously sent a 
naked image of herself to a stranger met on-line.

On referral M presented as happy and confident. However, some earlier self-harm and a 
referral to CAMHS suggested that this was unlikely to be the whole truth.

M gets on with her parents – who know she is sexually active – but does not talk to them 
about her relationships or worries. She uses contraception but in other regards does not 
always take her welfare or her sexual health very seriously.

M has made excellent use of having a ReachOut worker who she sees as ‘like an older 
friend’. She has taken the opportunity to talk about sex and the difference between 
wanting/choosing/enjoying sex and ‘just consenting to it happening’. She has also discussed 
her parent’s relationship which is sometimes abusive and her feelings about her sister being 
raped. All of this seems to have helped her work out what kind of a life and relationships 
she’d like for herself.

When we first started working together M was ‘seeing’ someone but ended the relationship 
because he was not behaving the way she would like him to. M is starting to be able to 
assert what she wants and how she wants to be treated in a relationship. 

6.6. The boys supported by ReachOut 
32 of the 336 young people referred to ReachOut have been boys and young men. We 
decided to look separately at the case records of all these young people to explore whether 
there were any issues particular to boys and young men in terms of referral patterns or 
underlying issues. 

Five had been referred because of something visual they had posted on line (e.g. of their 
penis/masturbating) or inappropriate images shared by mobile (e.g. of an ex-girlfriend). In 

Page 66



43

two of these instances they had been coerced by peers. In each case they had expressed 
considerable regret and shame. All five were described as being well-supported by their 
parents and at very low risk of being sexually exploited. 

In four cases a sister of the boy had previously been sexually exploited. Two were 
considered well supported and very low risk, the other two had difficult family relationships, 
few parental boundaries and social care involvement but their vulnerabilities were not 
considered to be to sexual exploitation.

In three cases a young man had himself reported being approached/having contact with an 
older man on-line and a police investigation or court case was in progress.

In two cases boys had (briefly) been involved with ‘a bad crowd’ and involved with drugs. 
Both had moved on and now had settled lives and aspirations for their futures.

It is striking that in ten of the 16 cases young men’s relationships with parents – or in one 
case foster carers – were described as ‘positive’ or ‘very supportive’. In two such cases the 
referral to ReachOut had come from the boys’ mothers. One was concerned that her son’s 
understanding of relationships might have been damaged by witnessing the domestic 
violence she had experienced.

In terms of the direct work undertaken it tended to follow the same awareness raising Real 
Love Rocks curriculum as did work with young women – again adjusted for age and learning 
style – and engagement with the work was generally good.

In addition, one young man with a learning disability had received some appropriate sex 
education: ‘We have done a lot of work around why people have sex and how a healthy sexual 
relationship should work, as before he only really thought about sex as a means for making babies 
(and getting married and having a family is L’s greatest ambition in life). Now he has learnt that 
people have sex for pleasure and to express their love for each other, and I believe he now has 
more realistic expectations of sexual relationships.’

Another had clearly increased his understanding of gender inequalities: ‘Z has said he is going 
to take his new relationship slow and he is not going to drink when they are out together to make 
sure he has clear thinking when it comes to giving and receiving consent from his partner.   He 
understands the ‘mistakes’ he has made in his relationships in the past and now understands the 
differences between genders when it comes to reputations with peers and society in general.’  

There is no common gender specific profile across these 36 young men. The behaviours 
which had led to referral were varied – some involved actually or potentially harmful sexual 
behaviours others involved risks to themselves - although in only a few cases was the risk 
thought to be potential sexual abuse. However, where that was the case – as in the vignette 
of ‘Martin’ below - their needs were very much the same as those of young women with 
similar experiences.

Case vignette – ‘Martin’

Page 67



44

14 year old boy who had shared inappropriate images on-line.

Martin has special educational needs and has been overly trusting of others and therefore 
vulnerable to coercion. Martin’s confidence had been badly knocked by his on-line 
experience and his previous assumptions about the meaning of people’s behaviours towards 
him had been challenged. He needed to understand that he had been manipulated into 
sharing images, increase his awareness of his own rights and gain confidence in asserting 
them, or in seeking adult help where necessary.

There are good protective factors in Martin’s life including positive family and school 
relationships. He was able to use these as the basis for developing a more general 
understanding of what constitutes healthy relationships. He made good progress in 
understanding peer pressure and techniques to manage it. He has developed appropriate 
knowledge of online safety.

Martin says he found the sessions difficult at times but that ultimately they helped him. He 
says he is moving on from the images he shared and thinks much less about them. He feels 
better about himself and more positive.

6.7. Effectiveness of direct work
In the first year of ReachOut the evaluation team undertook a series of rapid evidence 
reviews to inform project development. One of these related to the evidence on direct 
work with CSE-affected young people. The box below summarises the available evidence we 
identified on what makes such work effective:

Features of Effective Direct Work With CSE-Affected Young People

 Relationships are key to engagement - engagement and trust-building are the 
foundation of direct work. Involving young people in setting the agenda and pace of 
direct work can facilitate engagement and ‘buy in’.

 Interventions should be centred around the child. Consulting young people can 
enhance risk assessments. It can help to develop appropriate risk reduction 
strategies and care plans that are tailored to the needs of the child.

 CSE is complex. Direct work should be holistic and should address the multiple 
vulnerabilities many CSE-affected young people present with. 

 Direct work needs to be underpinned by understanding of diversity and of the 
impacts of inequalities. 

 Young people need stability, continuity and persistence. Frequent changes in social 
workers are unsettling. Young people prefer having one key worker who cares and 
does not give up on them when they disengage or act up. 

 Support needs to be flexible and high intensity. Young people as well as their families 
value having access to ‘on-call’ support when they most need it.

 Strength-based approaches focus on young people’s assets and build on these. Work 
should focus on building resilience alongside reducing risk.

Source: Silvie Bovarnick, Sara Scott and Jenny Pearce (2017) Direct Work with Sexually 
Exploited or At Risk Children and Young People, A Rapid Evidence Assessment

Page 68



45

It is clear from our analysis of case records that the direct work undertaken by ReachOut 
workers over three years has been in line with the relevant evidence of effectiveness in the 
field. Specifically, direct work has:

 Been undertaken by a single key worker who has developed a relationship of trust
 Involved young people in assessing their own levels of risk and in setting the agenda 

and pace of work
 Taken a ‘whole child’ approach and addressed underlying vulnerabilities as well as 

CSE related experiences
 Aimed to build resilience by increasing young people’s knowledge, confidence and 

self-esteem.

Case vignette ‘Alice’

Alice (14) was referred to ReachOut after a ‘grooming’ incident involving an adult male 
she’d met on line but believed to be a teenage girl. She’d told a teacher and it was part of an 
ongoing police investigation.

Although happy at home she was struggling to fit in at school and also grieving the recent 
death of a favourite Aunt. She said she felt like she didn’t belong anywhere and had recently 
self-harmed.

At ReachOut she had the space to talk about her grief – something she didn’t feel able to do 
at home. She also admitted to being terrified of the possibility of having to give evidence in 
court. Her worker was able to make contact with the police on her behalf and alleviate 
some of her anxiety about the likely outcome of the investigation.  

Six months consistent support, by a worker who genuinely liked her, boosted her 
confidence and self-esteem. She started a relationship with a girl from another school who 
she had met at Rotherham Pride and said she felt ‘as happy as I’ve ever done in my life’.

6.8. Outcomes recorded
Barnardo’s CSE services collect data on certain outcomes using a standard outcomes 
framework. There are 6 core outcomes (in shaded section of table below) in relation to 
which recording is mandatory, and a further 10 ‘optional’ outcomes which workers record 
where they are deemed relevant to the case and the work being undertaken. Levels of 
concern/risk are assessed by a young person’s key worker on a 5-point scale at initial 
assessment and reviewed at approximately 3-month intervals.

The outcomes recorded for closed cases at the 31st December 2018 are shown in the table 
below. Each of these cases had reached a second or third review at the point they were 
closed. 

Page 69



46

Table 7: Outcomes recorded January 1st 2016 to December 31st 2018

Barnardo’s outcomes No of 
cases 
where 
outcome 
recorded

No with 
concern/risk 
levels 3-5 at 
assessment

Score 
improved 
at final 
review

Score 
deteriorated 
at final 
review

No 
change 
at final 
review

Improved mental 
health & well-being

224 133 114 4 56

Knowledge of sexual 
health strategies

223 135 115 3 56

Able to identify 
abusive/exploitative 
behaviour

225 169 146 2 41

Able to recognise 
exploitative 
behaviour/grooming 
on the internet

225 173 150 2 41

Episodes of missing 
from home/care 
reduced

220 34 26 3 25

Reduction in level of 
risk/harm

224 155 133 5 45

Enhanced 
parent/carer/adult - 
child relationships

91 23

Reduced/safer 
consumption of 
controlled substances

57 9

Recovery from sexual 
abuse/exploitation

52 31

Reduced association 
with risky 
peers/adults

39 25

Remains in regular 
contact with the 
service

29 3

Stable and secure 
accommodation

35 3

Satisfactory 
school/college 
attendance

43 7

Improved carer 
capacity to prevent 
abusive/harmful 
behaviours

32 14

Page 70



47

It is clear from this data that there is a good fit between most of the core outcomes which 
are routinely recorded by Barnardo’s CSE services and some of the issues of concern at 
assessment in the ReachOut service. For example, in approximately two-thirds of closed 
cases initial assessments had suggested that the young person’s ability to recognise 
abusive/exploitative behaviour was a cause for concern. 

The exception is ‘missing episodes’ which was an issue of concern (i.e. scored at level 3 or 
above) in only 34 of the 220 cases assessed. The fact that there were so few cases in which 
‘missing’ was a concern is a good indicator that ReachOut has been working with young 
people at a relatively low level of risk and for whom a preventative intervention would be 
appropriate. However, in interview staff pointed out that low risk of CSE does not 
necessarily mean that a young person does not have other, sometimes serious and multiple 
vulnerabilities: ‘High risk doesn’t always mean high need cos [in high risk cases] the right people 
are often involved and there’s a structured approach. It’s the ones just below thresholds for Child 
Protection or mental health that are often the most complex. Low risk doesn’t always mean low 
need.’

Recording of optional outcomes has been low and we have therefore not included the score 
changes for these in the outcomes table above. However, recording practice does not 
reflect the frequency with which some of these outcomes were considered relevant and 
were addressed by workers. The three optional outcomes where higher levels of concern 
were most frequently recorded were also those which our qualitative interviews suggest 
were often central to the work undertaken. These were ‘association with risky 
adults/peers’, ‘recovery from sexual abuse/exploitation’, and ‘relationship with parent/carer’. 

Workers expressed considerable confidence that knowledge pertaining to sexual health 
and/or the ability to identify exploitative behaviour had been increased by their 
interventions with young people. However, the most common concern expressed by 
workers at case closure was whether this improved understanding and increased awareness 
was something some young people would be able to apply to themselves ‘in the real world’. 
Such concerns were strongest in cases where a young person’s self-esteem remained low 
and they were deemed particularly emotionally ‘needy’ or ‘attention hungry’. In some 
instances, a worker suspected there were issues in a young person’s life that had not been 
disclosed or where they had merely ‘scratched the surface’.

Case vignette- ‘Estelle’

A 15 year old girl who had sent an inappropriate image of herself to a man met on-line.

Estelle is a young carer.  Her family relationships are caring and supportive but are 
complicated by poor parental mental and physical health. Estelle is very unsure of herself 
and craves friends and acceptance by her peers. More than anything she wants a boyfriend. 

Over the course of 8 month’s work with ReachOut Estelle’s risk of getting involved in 
unhealthy/exploitative relationships fluctuated. Overall, protective factors increased – in 

Page 71



48

particular her communication with her mother improved. There was no repeat of the 
inappropriate behaviour on line and she broke up with a boyfriend who she felt was treating 
her poorly. Her knowledge of CSE increased and she was able to verbalise many of the ways 
in which she can keep herself safe. However, there continued to be a question about her 
ability to put this knowledge into practice – particularly if it put a relationship Estelle 
considered desirable in jeopardy.

Case closure summaries in our sample of case records often included more specific 
outcomes than those in the Barnardo’s framework. Workers believed these were often 
important indicators of positive change for a young person and that they had been directly 
facilitated by the intervention provided. These included:

 Improved self-esteem 
 Better relationship with parent
 Adopted appropriate privacy settings
 Improved behaviour at school 
 Started a new, age appropriate, relationship
 Facebook/internet use dramatically reduced
 Having a new peer group
 Understanding own emotions better

In some instances, case closure summaries captured the numerous changes that had 
occurred in some young people’s lives:

‘M is completely different from the person I met a year ago. M is now;
o Living independently 
o Is financially independent
o Is in employment and college
o Settled in a positive relationship of a similar age
o Showing resilience when coming across setbacks or disappointments
o Seeking help when needed and accessing services
o Improved relations with family
o Can reflect on her decisions and uses techniques to solve issues and positive thinking
o Presents as confident and doesn’t mind people seeing her without her make up on (positive 

self-image)
o Uses her improved communication to have a voice’

Many of the young people with whom ReachOut have undertaken direct work were 
referred by Children’s Social Care or Early Help. In some cases, they were looked after, 
designated as children in need or had child protection plans in place (most commonly for 
neglect). They were referred to ReachOut because of a specific concern around possible 
vulnerability to CSE and relevant work was undertaken. In most of these cases ReachOut 
intervention lasted a few months and cases were closed in the knowledge that the family 
were still receiving support from Early Help or that social care involvement was ongoing. In 
our sample of case records, concerns about the potential for CSE had all reduced at case 
closure and several case closure summaries reported that cases were being stepped down 

Page 72



49

(from social care to early help) or that a young person was to be taken off the child 
protection register: 

‘R has engaged well and positive outcomes have been achieved. R has a positive relationship with 
mum who is able to protect. Social Care are in the process of stepping down the family to Early 
Help which shows good progress.’ 

‘Social Care are hoping that B will come off a child protection plan at the next conference as there 
have been no further incidents and she is also not spending time with other young people that are a 
concern.’  

The most positive case closure summaries almost always included reference to improved 
relationships with parents/carers – mostly with mothers. The following were typical:

‘Has moved in with Aunty, is happy there, follows the family rules and is re-building her relationship 
with Mum. Sees it as a fresh start’

‘Improved relationship with Mum and her new partner who provide clear boundaries including 
about what she does on-line.’

‘New foster carers and is positive about the placement but stays with parents regularly.’

ReachOut has not had a remit for working directly with parents or undertaking dyadic 
work, but in many instances such work has been undertaken. In interview staff frequently 
reflected on the importance of parents and carers and on what had been achieved by their 
having built relationships with a parent/carer as well as with the young person themselves: 
‘One parent refused consent for the work [at first] Mum had referred her in because of seeing an 
image she’d shared. She’d had a bad experience with social services and the police so by the time I 
got there she was not happy. She sat in on the first few sessions and answered for her daughter. 
Eventually mum agreed for me to see her in another room. It got to the stage where I was having 
50 mins with the young person and 10 mins at the end with mum. It was a positive ending – it felt 
good and mum was really responsive.’ 

6.9 Learning from ReachOut’s direct support work
Unlike most specialist CSE services ReachOut is a preventative service. It has therefore 
provided a unique opportunity for learning about early intervention with young people 
where there is a potential risk of exploitation. Referrals show that such a risk is much more 
frequently identified for girls than boys and in the 12-15 age range. Work undertaken has 
usually taken less than 12 months and in almost half of all cases less than 6 months.

Although referrals were triggered by on-line behaviours the majority of ReachOut’s young 
people have had a range underlying family, peer and mental health/emotional issues that 
might heighten their potential vulnerability to CSE. While boys and girls shared some of the 
same background issues in their lives the risk of what these might make boys vulnerable to 
was seen as more varied rather than CSE specific. However, a sample of only 36 boys means 
any generalisations should be regarded with caution. 

Direct support at the preventative level needs to be based on many of the same ways of 
working that have been identified for CSE work more generally: providing a reliable, holistic, 

Page 73



50

relationship-based intervention that focusses on building confidence and resilience alongside 
reducing risk.

Relationships with parents and carers are hugely significant and improvements in these is a 
major factor in promoting positive outcomes. 

7. Young people’s and parent’s views
‘[The relationship with ReachOut] has been everything because I used to be very 
closed off but now I feel comfortable speaking to people, asking for their help when I 
need it, the way that I feel, like what to do in different situations rather than just go 
back to different habits. Things have improved…I have got a lot more hope since, 
now that I have got everything off my chest.’ Young person

Over the three years we have conducted evaluation interviews with 25 young people whose 
cases had recently been closed by the project. These usually took place around a month 
after their final session with ReachOut. In 16 cases we also interviewed a young person’s 
parent or foster carers (13 mothers and 4 foster carers).

7.1. Knowledge and understanding gained by young people
The young people we interviewed were able to give clear and specific accounts of the 
knowledge and understanding they had gained from their involvement with ReachOut. They 
described how their understanding of themselves and other people had grown and how this 
had caused them to alter their behaviour and think about their own well-being:

‘The most useful thing has been what I’ve learnt about online grooming, knowing the signs and 
knowing that anyone can try and groom you, it is not just older people…I know A is about to close 
my case. It will be weird not seeing her, but when I think how much I’ve learnt I think I know all I 
need. When I look back 6 months ago, I feel like I was a different person. If someone I didn’t know 
had messaged me back then I’d have messaged them back. Now I block them straightaway…I’ve 
learnt loads of self-respect since working with ReachOut. I cared about others more than about 
myself, now I have learnt to put myself before other people.’ Young person

The increased understanding described by young people was frequently confirmed in the 
observations made by mothers and foster carers we interviewed. They spoke of their 
children showing increased maturity, more considered responses and being able and willing 
to talk about their lives and how they felt. One mother described the very real impact of 
the educational work her daughter had done with ReachOut and the importance of the 
advice and information she had herself received:

Case vignette: A mother’s view

‘H saw P [her ReachOut worker] every week at school and did Real Love Rocks with her. P 
tailored the support to respond to H’s learning difficulties, she gave her booklets and taught 

Page 74



51

her about safe relationships. P always told me what work she had done with H so that I 
could do it with her too. 

I’m a technophobe so P visited on a number of occasions to show me how to safely use the 
internet. That was a lifesaver. Also, she did a session with H and her younger sister together 
about internet safety, which was a fun activity and has helped them both. 

P was everything rolled into one, out of all of them, social care, police, it were her who were 
more useful, she went out of her way to find any information we needed. Without her, I 
don’t know how we would have got through it.

All the work P did with H has sunk in, she is keeping safe. The message must have stuck 
with her cos she has kept safe… To be honest I can’t think of anything Reach Out could 
have done better.’  

7.2. Confidence and self esteem
Work that has addressed confidence and self-esteem has clearly been very important for 
some of the young people we have interviewed. One young woman who a year previously 
had hated school and had not been attending was now talking about staying on at 6th Form. 
She told us:

‘L has done loads of things with me mainly about confidence. We have visualised and written things 
down. That was important. I didn’t realise how many people there were to support me. I was self-
harming when I met L and I’m not now. She has helped a lot. …Before I met L I didn’t think I 
would come this far. I think a year ago I never thought I would be in this position [being able to sit 
here and talk to a strange researcher]. 

Case Vignette: A young carer and her Mum

Mum: T was in a bad place [last year] and her school work was really suffering, but since 
her involvement with Reach Out it has gone back to being above average. Meeting with 
other people from Reach Out has been positive for T as well. She is in the taskforce and 
has made some friends. This is good because she doesn’t get to go out much as she cares 
for me. She has a lot to deal with and that was one of the reasons why groomers got to her, 
she was quite vulnerable. But now her confidence has grown and she can cope with it 
better. She is strong now and able to cope with life.

T: [At Reach Out I got choices about what I wanted to learn about] I wanted to know more 
about substance abuse, so we did 4 weeks on drugs and 4 weeks on alcohol. When I look 
back to last year, I didn’t know much, now I knows a lot more than I did then. [We also did 
work on what I think about me] I’ve put quotes on the bedroom wall that make me feel 
good about myself.

Page 75



52

I have a good relationship with E, she’s really hyper- which is a good thing! I can talk with 
her outside sessions if I needs her … Reach Out is good - if you ever want to know anything 
they can always tell you what you want to know. 

7.3. The importance of relationship
It was the relationship with a specific worker and the practical, reliable, holistic support they 
had received that had made the greatest impression on the young people we interviewed. 
They spoke with great warmth and enthusiasm about their ReachOut workers, describing 
how they had ‘just clicked’ or the relief they experienced at being understood: ‘she just got 
me straight off’. One young woman who had attempted suicide after exiting an exploitative 
relationship told us:

‘I liked her from the start. She helped me get back into college, took me and arranged 
appointments. I seen her every week, usually at home, but it’s hard to speak at home, so she takes 
me out for food or drink. …M is really nice. I like that she is there to speak to, cos I don’t have 
many people to talk to, and don’t get on with some family members. 

Isolation from peers and family often goes hand in hand with exploitation, which is one of 
the reasons the relationship with a trusted worker is so central:

‘I weren’t really close to anyone, so she was the person I ranted to, so 90% of the time I ranted, but 
we also did a lot of work on grooming and relationships. I think if she hadn’t been there I would still 
have tried to turn things around, but I don’t think I would have understood everything I was doing 
the way I do now…When your parents say things it’s the same old same old, you don’t want to 
hear, but going through it with J not lecturing but talking to me it just kind of made sense…There 
was nothing I couldn’t tell her, I felt so comfortable around her, I knew when I got in her car it was 
all out, all of it. If ever I felt I was going through a rocky stage and needed someone I have her 
number. She would be there for me.’

In several cases young people were able to describe how their relationship with their 
worker had also impacted on their ability and willingness to relate to other people in their 
lives:

‘[The relationship with ReachOut]has been everything because I used to be very closed off but now I 
feel comfortable speaking to people, asking for their help when I need it, the way that I feel, like 
what to do in different situations rather than just go back to different habits. Things have 
improved…I have got a lot more hope since, now that I have got everything off my chest.’

Not all the young people we spoke to had instantly ‘clicked’ with a worker or been readily 
able to accept the help on offer. Some had previous negative experiences of professional 
involvement in their lives and they did not trust that the latest worker arriving on their 
doorstep was going to be any different. In some instances, establishing any kind of 
relationship with a young person involved dogged persistence on the part of the worker:

Page 76



53

‘I hated her at first. I had that much stuff in my life I thought she was going to sabotage it even 
more. Everyone that came I hated them. I would just say ‘F off’ – I said it for weeks and weeks. But 
she kept coming back and I gave her a chance and she is amazing…I told her I didn’t want to work 
with her…I made it known I hated her and she kept coming back. That’s helped me. I had given up 
on everyone. [Other professionals] weren’t there to see how I was, they were just there to know 
what was happening in my life, they didn’t care…She’s shown me that people aren’t all just there 
to judge – it’s changed my mindset a lot.’

Direct work with parents and carers is not part of the core work of ReachOut but in many 
cases it has been undertaken by workers. This has most often been the case with the 
parents of younger teenagers, carers of looked after young people or where a young person 
has had a learning difficulty or disability. Being ‘kept informed’, ‘working in tandem’ or being 
given good information and advice have been greatly appreciated by parents and carers. 

Two foster carers we interviewed reflected on the satisfaction they felt in working with a 
ReachOut worker so as to form a real ‘team around the young person’:

‘E came to see C shortly after she was placed with us. He already knew her, she liked him and he is 
a safe adult who was most welcome in our home. We felt that E fought C’s corner in a unique way, 
compared to other professionals. P did not like anyone else supporting her but E offered continuity, 
consistency and support. She had known E longer than us as well, which was helpful, E was the 
most welcomed professional.

Her self-esteem has sky-rocketed since being with us and E is part of that. We have worked as a 
team. E recently did the ‘helping hand tool’ with her on a visit here and she wrote down about 30 
things/ideas for the future when before she would have struggled to write down 3 or 4. This looked 
like real evidence of change and it’s all been a joint process between us.’ Foster Carer

Parents and foster carers we interviewed had also valued their own relationships with 
ReachOut workers and felt that the support they had received for themselves had been 
crucial in changing young people’s trajectories:

‘Working with N has helped us communicate where we just used to argue. Now if we have a row 
we know how to handle it… It’s changed the way we see each other, we have become friends. I 
know when to be there for her and when to leave things…I’ve learnt strategies…We needed 
someone neutral and from outside…it has made family life so much easier’. Parent

Another parent told us:

‘The ReachOut worker has been really helpful to us as a whole family – she always kept me 
informed and I liked that she was so straightforward. Towards the end she witnessed an argument 
between me and my daughter. She took me to one side and talked to me about how I had dealt 
with it. I was OK with this. I had come to trust her and I could see what she meant…The best thing 
for [my daughter] is that she has gained confidence and seems much happier. She is predicted to 
get better GCSE results. This time last year she was looking at getting ‘D’s. Now she is looking at 
two grades higher’. Parent

Page 77



54

The only dissatisfaction - expressed by a couple of parents - was where they felt they had 
not been sufficiently informed about the work that was taking place:

‘I was fine as long as T got the help she needed, and she did get the help she needed. I met F [the 
worker] and she came to the house a few times but mostly she did one-to-one work with T at 
school. She gave me advice if I needed it [but] I think it would have been better if we had been 
involved re the work she was doing with T, we never got to find out how her progress was, that 
would have been better. I just think it would have been better if we’d got feedback.’

About half the young people we interviewed also completed a Have your say! Feedback 
questionnaire as part of the interview. This ensured that less confident or talkative young 
people had an alternative means of providing input to the evaluation. It also provided 
confirmation of what young people most valued about the support they had received. This 
additional data clearly confirmed that from the young people’s perspective ‘being listened to’ 
and ‘feeling heard’ was the most important aspect of ReachOut support. They described 
some immediate consequences of this as ‘feeling more comfortable with my emotions’, 
‘coming out of my shell’ and being ‘confident enough to speak out’ rather than ‘bottling 
everything up’. They wrote of ‘no longer walking out of class’, ‘being better able to 
concentrate’, ‘understanding relationships better’ and ‘thinking more’. This had brought a 
number of young people closer to other people in their lives, helped them deal with their 
anger and enabled them to ask for help when they needed it. The two outcomes that young 
people most frequently wrote were important to them were improved family relationships 
– especially with parents - and the confidence they had found to do new things, join groups, 
be creative, go to new places and help others.

8. Conclusion
‘Given our history we needed the extra input especially at the preventive level. 
The local authority has boosted the early help response too, but it’s been helpful 
to have the expertise of Barnardo’s in CSE. ReachOut has become part of an 
emerging success story in Rotherham.’ Stakeholder interview

When we were commissioned as evaluators of ReachOut in 2016 we were given two main 
tasks: to assess the achievements of ReachOut and the difference it was making, and to 
share the learning derived from ReachOut’s experience of developing and delivering a 
preventative CSE service. In this final section we summarise our conclusions in relation to 
these two questions.

8.1. What has been achieved?
Over the past three years ReachOut has worked with a wide range of partners across 
Rotherham’s statutory and voluntary sectors. Alongside the efforts of many other agencies 
in Rotherham, its collaborative approach has been identified as making a valuable 
contribution to re-building a culture of trust in a city where child sexual exploitation, and 

Page 78



55

the failure of agencies to respond effectively, had severely eroded public and professional 
confidence.  

ReachOut has reached thousands of children and young people through its outreach and 
preventative education activities – raising awareness of CSE and promoting healthy 
relationships based on equality and choice. These activities have been positively received by 
young people and there is evidence that their knowledge and understanding has been 
increased. The majority of Rotherham schools have welcomed the input, and many have 
embraced the idea that healthy relationship education is part of the ‘core business’ of 
educators – as evidenced by their willingness to free up teachers to train as Real Love Rocks 
facilitators and scheduling delivery as part of the curriculum. 

Over 300 vulnerable young people have been provided with direct support by the project. 
There is good evidence from case records and young people themselves that this support 
has successfully raised their awareness, confidence and self-esteem. Of course, it is 
impossible to know what exactly has been prevented from occurring by ReachOut’s 
interventions but, given the immediately risky situations that had prompted some referrals, 
it is likely that sexual abuse and exploitation may well have been the outcome without it.  
There have been very few cases in which concerns have escalated during ReachOut’s 
involvement with a young person. Where statutory services have been involved at the point 
of referral, concerns around CSE have usually been reduced following ReachOut’s work, and 
in some instances, cases have been stepped down or closed. 

8.2. What has been learned?
There was no ‘blueprint’ for ReachOut’s preventative approach but over the past three 
years, they have developed a model of CSE preventative work that operates at all three 
levels of prevention and takes a ‘whole city’ approach. The three stranded approach of 
community outreach, school-based preventative education and direct support to children 
and young people has been confirmed to be a generally effective strategy. It has been 
important to keep the balance of these strands under review to try to maximise the best 
use of resources, but there is wide agreement among stakeholders that all three elements 
have been important. 

Within each strand of work there have been important lessons about the detail of what 
works: how to take account of what matters to community groups, schools and families to 
maximise their engagement. At the heart of this has been the importance of relationships. 
This has included partnerships with other agencies based on mutual respect and trust.

ReachOut has demonstrated that effective intervention with vulnerable young people 
depends primarily on building warm, respectful relationships based on listening, 
understanding, appreciating and believing in them. They have ‘modelled’ such relationships in 
their outreach, education and direct support work across the city, and teachers, parents, 
foster carers, social workers and young people themselves have recognised the significance 
of these relationships in boosting young people’s confidence and aspirations.

Page 79



56

8.3. Implications for future developments
ReachOut have developed and tested a model of preventative work which we believe has 
applicability both to other local authority areas and to other issues. Although it still does 
not constitute a ‘blueprint’, the ReachOut model provides a robust framework for a 
preventative CSE strategy, which along with careful consideration of any contextual 
differences, could be applied elsewhere.

ReachOut has been effective with CSE prevention for several reasons: the skills of its staff, 
the quality of its resources, the efficacy of its partnerships and the ‘fit’ between what it can 
offer and what young people vulnerable to CSE need. Within Rotherham, during our last 
round of interviews there appeared to be a growing consensus among stakeholders that 
while it remained important to keep a focus on CSE, it was also time to consider other 
forms of exploitation to which children and young people are vulnerable.  We believe the 
three stranded approach to prevention could be applied to other concerns, such as criminal 
exploitation, where work with communities, schools, families and young people will be 
equally important. However, whilst vulnerability to sexual exploitation and criminal 
exploitation often have common roots, they are not the same, and successful extension of 
ReachOut’s model into other areas of concern will need some careful attention to detail 
about who is affected and how and an ongoing process of learning about what works best 
with different groups of children and young people. 

Page 80



57

Appendix 1: Theory of Change 

The ultimate goal the ReachOut project shares with its partners is for Rotherham to be a safe and supportive place for 
children of all communities to grow up - a place where families and communities have the information and support they 
need to confidently safeguard their children, and where young people are less vulnerable, make positive choices and enjoy 
healthy relationships. 

In order to achieve this goal ReachOut believes that all children and young people need healthy relationship education – 
while more vulnerable young people need targeted support to raise their awareness, aspirations and self-esteem and to 
access help before problems escalate and thereby reduce the need for statutory interventions

ReachOut aims to contribute to the further development of a culture of trust between agences and between agencies and 
communities.   It seeks to build the capability of professionals, develop sustainable support to effectively to combat CSE.

P
age 81



58

What we  intend to do to 
achieve change

Deliver train the trainer and 
offer ongoing support for RLR 
in schools. 
Provide more targeted work in 
PRUs,  behaviour support units 
etc where young people may 
be at increased risk
Deliver  'intelligence-led' 
outreach work in partnership 
with other agencies
Build relationships with 
diverse communities
Work in partnership to 
understand  diverse 
community needs,  avoid 
duplication and  fill gaps in 
provision
Offer training, information and 
support to professionals, 
carers and parents
Provide direct support  to 
children, young people and 
families at risk
Develop creative methods of 
involving  young people
Develop a pilot model of work 
with children with multiple 
vulnerabilities

Outcomes (April 2017)
Parents and professionals know 
the signs of CSE, are more 
confident in discussing it with 
young people and where to go 
for help
CSE prevention is embedded in 
schools
Children and young people have 
greater awareness of risk and 
what constitutes heatlhy 
relationships and where to go if 
they need support
Children and  young people are 
seeking support at an earlier 
stage
Children, young people and 
families from all communities 
have better access to 
information and support to help 
prevent CSE
Children and young people  
individually supported by the 
project have fewer risk factors 
and more protective factors in 
their lives including raised 
aspirations and self esteem
Pilot service model instituted 
and described 

Outcomes April 2018

As for April 2017 plus the 
following:
More young people self 
refer  
Schools are confidently 
delivering RLR
The project has extended 
its reach across diverse 
communities in Rotherham
The project has developed 
and piloted an evidence 
based model to improve  
the emotional wellbeing of 
children with multiple 
vulnerabilities
There are increased 
referrals from health and 
police
Children and young people 
have a stronger voice
Professionals have 
increased capabilities to 
combat CSE

Longer term outcomes
Children and young 
people in Rotherham are 
less vulnerable to CSE 
Young people are able to 
make postive choices and 
enjoy healthy 
relationships
Families and communities 
are better able to 
safeguard children and 
young people 
There is a reduced need 
for statutory intervention
There is improved 
interagency working and 
trust between 
organisations & 
communiites
There is a  replicable 
blueprint for  preventive  
work in a local authority. 

Ultimate goal
For Rotherham to be a 

safer and more 
supportive place for 
children and young 
people to live and  

grow up

P
age 82



59

Activities Outcomes 
April 2019

How we will know 
2019 outcomes are 
achieved

How the evidence 
will be collected

What we will aim to 
learn

Deliver train the 
trainer and offer 
ongoing support for 
RLR in schools. 

Schools are 
confidently 
delivering RLR

Most schools in Rotherham 
will have accessed training the 
trainer courses. Teachers will 
be delivering and accessing 
support from ReachOut as 
needed. 

Monitoring of take up and 
delivery of train the trainer 
sessions Interviews with 
school leaders and staff.

What factors encourage or impede 
the take up of healthy relationship 
education by schools?
How can schools be supported to 
take ownership of this agenda?
Are trainers confident in delivering?

Targeted work in 
settings where there 
may be more ‘at risk’ 
young people e.g. PRUs, 
behaviour support units 

Young people have 
greater awareness of risks 
and what constitutes 
heathy relationships. They 
know where to go if they 
need support

Young people in targeted 
settings will report greater 
awareness. Settings will be 
more aware of signs of 
unhealthy relationships (e.g. 
incidence of sexting, sexual 
harassment) and have more 
confidence in dealing with 
them.

Pre and post feedback from 
young people.
Interviews with informants 
from relevant settings.

What are the biggest concerns of 
young people themselves?
What factors encourage or impede 
their awareness? 
Are some young people ‘harder to 
reach’ with healthy relationship 
messages? 
What works best in overcoming 
these barriers?

Deliver 'intelligence-
led' outreach work in 
partnership with other 
agencies

The project has extended 
its reach across diverse 
communities in 
Rotherham; there are 
more self-referrals

There will be an increase in 
self-referrals, referrals from 
families and early referrals 
from other partner agencies 

Monitoring of referral 
patterns.
Interviews with sample of 
those referred and referring 
agencies. 

What approaches to outreach are 
most effective in reaching young 
people?
Are some young people more or 
less likely to access support?
What effect do factors such as 
gender and ethnicity have on the 
nature of effective outreach?
What issues do young people most 
want support with?

P
age 83



60

Build relationships 
with diverse 
communities and work 
in partnership with 
other agencies to 
understand diverse 
community needs and 
fill gaps with specific 
communities

Children, young people 
and families from all 
communities have better 
access to information and 
support

The project will have forged 
working relationships with 
more community groups and 
agencies working with diverse 
communities. These 
communities will have 
accessed information and 
support. Referrals/take up of 
project support will reflect the 
diversity of the population of 
Rotherham. 

Monitoring of work carried 
out with communities.
Monitoring of referrals and 
take up of services. 
Interviews with informants 
from community groups and 
relevant agencies

What are effective ways of engaging 
with diverse communities? 
What factors encourage or impede 
their engagement?
What are the priority issues and 
concerns of different communities?
What are the best ways of 
responding to these?

Training, information 
and support to 
professionals on CSE 
and related issues

Professionals from across 
agencies know the signs of 
CSE, are more confident 
in discussing it with young 
people and know where 
to go for help

A range of professionals will 
have accessed training and 
support. They will report 
more awareness and 
confidence

Pre and post feedback from 
professionals.
Monitoring of training 
sessions provided and take 
up. 
Interviews/ follow up survey  
with sample of participants

What factors encourage or impede 
take up of training & support?
What are the priority issues and 
concerns for professionals?
Do some approaches to supporting 
professionals work better than 
others?

Training, information 
and support to 
parents, carers and 
communities

Parents and carers from 
all communities know  the 
signs of CSE, are more 
confident in discussing it 
with young people and 
know where to go for 
help

A range of parents and carers 
will have accessed training and 
support. They will report 
more awareness and 
confidence

Pre and post feedback from 
parents & carers
Monitoring of training 
sessions provided and take 
up. 
Interviews with sample of 
participants

What factors encourage or impede 
take up of training & support?
What are the priority issues and 
concerns for parents & carers?
Do some approaches to supporting 
parents work better than others?

Direct support to 
children, young people 
and families at risk of 
CSE

Children, young people 
directly supported by the 
project have fewer risk 
factors and more 
protective factors in their 
lives

Reduced risk will be evident 
from both projects’ 
assessment and feedback from 
young people and others 
involved with them 

Analysis of Barnardo’s 
outcomes monitoring data
Interviews with sample of 
young people, families and 
referring agencies where 
relevant

What are the main presenting 
needs and issues of young people? 
What other issues emerge during 
the course of support? Are there 
common themes that can be 
identified?
What is effective in supporting 

P
age 84



61

young people?
How can young people be 
supported alongside their families – 
what challenges are there in doing 
this and how might these be 
overcome?

Develop creative 
methods of involving  
young people

Children and young 
people have a stronger 
voice

Young people will be actively 
involved in influencing he 
project and speaking out more 
widely in Rotherham

Monitoring of young people’s 
activities; interviews with 
young people

What is effective in engaging young 
people? What do they get out of it? 
What difference does it make to 
the project and to policy and 
practice more widely?

Develop a pilot model 
of work with children 
with multiple 
vulnerabilities

The project has developed 
and piloted an evidence 
based model to improve  
the emotional wellbeing of 
children with multiple 
vulnerabilities

A description of the model 
will be in place

Review of model 
description

Is there a clear model that is being 
developed and described? 
To what extent is the model 
specific to the context of 
Rotherham?
How might it be adapted to be 
replicable elsewhere?

Increased referrals from 
health and police

Monitoring of referral data

P
age 85



62

Appendix 2: Referral information from random sample of open cases

No Age Referral information
1 12 Mixing with peers involved with adult men. Poor school attendance. Facebook concerns. Sharing images. Expressing suicidal thoughts. 

Concern for Dad’s mental health and ability to care.
2 16 In touch with adult men being investigated by police. Potentially at risk of CSE.
3 14 Associating with older peers and posted sexual comments on social media. Mum’s poor mental and physical health.
4 15 Going missing. Gone from being model student to being excluded for behaviour. Difficult family relationships.
5 15 Arranged to meet older male she’d met on line.
6 16 Sending images of self. Found by police in older man’s house.
7 15 Concern over ability to understand risks. Previous CSA
8 12 Concern re her interest in older boys. Vulnerable due to limited understanding of relationships
9 15 Friends with high risk girls. Historic concerns re family. Low self-esteem. Poor school attendance.
10 16 Concern re current relationship. Complicated home life. Social isolation.
11 13 Images of self sent online to unknown man. Prior abuse/neglect. Recent placement breakdown due to attack on carer and pets.
12 13 Meeting people she’s met on Facebook and had sex with one of them. Difficult relationship with mum. Puts herself at risk.
13 20 Learning disability. Vulnerable through lack of understanding of risks.
14 17 Unhappy at home and with friends. Associating with older people. Parents recently split up. Has difficulty managing her feelings.
15 16 Learning disability. Received inappropriate texts from boy at school. Would struggle to understand risky behaviour.
16 16 Concerns re meeting up with boys, truancy and constant use of phone. Recent death of father. CiN.
17 15 Involved with 20 year old man. Police involved. Posted stuff on Snapchat.
18 16 Sending indecent images of self. Concern she’s meeting older men. Mum refusing help from social care.
19 10 Dad arrested for downloading indecent images of children – no charges and returning to family home. Request from social care for 

input re stranger danger and healthy relationships.
20 16 Concern re contact with older men online. Recent disclosure of previous abuse.

P
age 86



63

P
age 87



ReachOut
10 Nightingale Court
Nightingale Close
Moorgate
Rotherham
S60 2AB

Tel
Email 
Web
Twitter 

The Barnardo’s ReachOut service has been working in schools across Rotherham since January 
2016.  We have delivered  Real Love Rocks programme within  schools and now we would like to 
invite you to participate in our new train the trainer offer for primary schools.

What is Real Love Rocks? 
Real Love Rocks is a programme developed by Barnardo’s to promote healthy, consensual, safe 
relationships amongst children and young people. It seeks to raise awareness of grooming, child 
sexual exploitation and online safety. It has two editions to allow age appropriate learning for 
children and young people in both primary and secondary school. Whilst the primary edition 
focuses on the importance of feeling free, happy and safe in future relationships, the secondary 
edition also allows for discussion and activities around the importance of consent, and the impact of 
sexting and watching porn. 

This is a preventative resource designed to be used within universal services. It is not to replace any 
specialist CSE services. If you suspect a young person is being sexually exploited or at risk of 
sexual exploitation please refer to your local safeguarding board procedures and where appropriate 
a referral maybe requirred to a CSE specialist service. 

Why has Real Love Rocks been developed? 
Real Love Rocks seeks to address some of the findings in the Ofsted Report (2013) ‘Not yet good 
enough: personal, social, health and economic education in schools, which highlithed the need for 
age-appropriate sex and relationships education for 

both primary and secondary aged school children to prevent inappropriate sexual behaviours and 
sexual exploitation’.  The report puts an emphasis on the importance of the emotional side of 
relationships and promotes children being taught the appropriate relationship language, given the 
confidence to describe unwanted behaviour and given advice on where to get support and help. 

Who is Real Love Rocks for? 

Patron Her Majesty The Queen
President HRH The Duchess of Cornwall
Barnardo’s (a company limited by guarantee). 
Registered Office: Tanners Lane, Barkingside, Ilford,
Essex IG6 1QG. Registered No. 61625 England. 
Registered Charity Nos. 216250 and SC037605

Barnardo’s adheres to the Fundraising 
Promise and Fundraising Standards
Board guidelines

01709 377157
reachoutrotherham@barnardos.org.uk
www.barnardos.org.uk
@reachoutroth

Page 88



Real Love Rocks has been designed to be delivered by teachers, school counsellors, youth workers 
and other professionals who have experience of delivering sex and relationship education to young 
people. The resourse pack itself contains animations, activities and games. The primary school 
edition has been designed to be delivered with children aged 10-11 and the secondary edition is 
suitable for those aged 11-14. 

Real Love Rocks Training 
The training dates we currently have an offer are: 

 11th February 2019
 18th March 2019

The training session will run from 9.30 -16.00 from the ReachOut office, with an overview of CSE 
training incorporated in to the day. 
Due to limited capacity of 15 participants on each session we would ask that there be a maximum of 
2 members of staff from any one establishment attending the training. 
One resource pack and USB will be provided to each school free of charge ( Normal price £125.00 
plus postage and pacaging). 
Tea and coffe available. Please note that lunch will not be provided. 

For booking or enquiries please contact Giulia Savini on 

giulia.savini@barnardos.org.uk 

Telephone number 01709 377157

Patron Her Majesty The Queen
President HRH The Duchess of Cornwall
Barnardo’s (a company limited by guarantee). 
Registered Office: Tanners Lane, Barkingside, Ilford,
Essex IG6 1QG. Registered No. 61625 England. 
Registered Charity Nos. 216250 and SC037605

Barnardo’s adheres to the Fundraising 
Promise and Fundraising Standards
Board guidelines

Page 89

mailto:giulia.savini@barnardos.org.uk


Criminal Exploitation of children and 
vulnerable adults: County Lines guidance

September 2018

Page 90



Who’s this  
guidance for?
This guidance is primarily aimed 
at frontline staff who work with 
children, young people and 
potentially vulnerable adults.

This includes professionals working 
in education, health, housing, 
benefits, law enforcement (police) 
and related partner organisations.

This guidance is also useful for 
carers and parents, although they 
are not the primary audience.

It has been produced by the Home 
Office in co-operation with other 
Government Departments, National 
Crime Agency, Local Government 
Association, National Police Chiefs’ 
Council, Association of Police and 
Crime Commissioners, and the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and  
Crime in London.

What’s this  
guidance for?
Criminal exploitation of children and 
vulnerable adults is a geographically 
widespread form of harm that 
is a typical feature of county 
lines activity. It is a harm which 
is relatively little known about or 
recognised by those best placed 
to spot its potential victims.

This guidance is intended to 
explain the nature of this harm to 
enable practitioners to recognise 

its signs and respond appropriately 
so that potential victims get the 
support and help they need.

What is county 
lines exploitation?
County lines is a major, cross-cutting 
issue involving drugs, violence, 
gangs, safeguarding, criminal and 
sexual exploitation, modern slavery, 
and missing persons; and the 
response to tackle it involves the 
police, the National Crime Agency, 
a wide range of Government 
departments, local government 
agencies and VCS (voluntary and 
community sector) organisations.

The UK Government 
defines county lines as:  

County lines is a term used to 
describe gangs and organised 
criminal networks involved in 
exporting illegal drugs into one or 
more importing areas within the 
UK, using dedicated mobile phone 
lines or other form of “deal line”. 
They are likely to exploit children 
and vulnerable adults to move 
and store the drugs and money 
and they will often use coercion, 
intimidation, violence (including 
sexual violence) and weapons.

County lines activity and the 
associated violence, drug dealing 
and exploitation has a devastating 
impact on young people, vulnerable 
adults and local communities. 

Page 91



What is Child Criminal 
Exploitation? 
Child criminal exploitation is 
increasingly used to describe this 
type of exploitation where children 
are involved, and is defined as: 

Child Criminal Exploitation is 
common in county lines and occurs 
where an individual or group takes 
advantage of an imbalance of power 
to coerce, control, manipulate or 
deceive a child or young person 
under the age of 18. The victim may 
have been criminally exploited even 
if the activity appears consensual. 
Child Criminal Exploitation does not 
always involve physical contact; it 
can also occur through the use of 
technology.

Criminal exploitation of children is 
broader than just county lines, and 
includes for instance children forced 
to work on cannabis farms or to 
commit theft. 

Case study 1  
(Suffolk Police)
A 16 year old male had been 
reported as missing from 
London and was considered 
at risk due to his age and link 
to gangs. He had recently 
failed to appear at court for 
his alleged involvement in a 
stabbing. He was found in 
possession of a 6-inch kitchen 
knife and 30 wraps of drugs. 

Whilst in custody he was 
found to have significant 
burns to his body, on his 
stomach area, consistent with 
having been burnt by boiling 
liquid. He would not disclose 
further details; however it was 
suspected this may have been 
caused by those responsible 
for placing him in Ipswich 
to deal in class A drugs.

Page 92



How does it affect 
young people and 
vulnerable adults?
Like other forms of abuse and 
exploitation, county lines exploitation:

•	 can affect any child or young 
person (male or female) 
under the age of 18 years;  

•	 can affect any vulnerable adult 
over the age of 18 years;

•	 can still be exploitation even if 
the activity appears consensual; 

•	 can involve force and/or 
enticement-based methods 
of compliance and is often 
accompanied by violence 
or threats of violence; 

•	 can be perpetrated by individuals 
or groups, males or females, and 
young people or adults; and 

•	 is typified by some form of power 
imbalance in favour of those 
perpetrating the exploitation. 
Whilst age may be the most 
obvious, this power imbalance 
can also be due to a range of 
other factors including gender, 
cognitive ability, physical 
strength, status, and access to 
economic or other resources. 

One of the key factors found in most 
cases of county lines exploitation 
is the presence of some form of 
exchange (e.g. carrying drugs in 
return for something). Where it is 
the victim who is offered, promised 

or given something they need or 
want, the exchange can include both 
tangible (such as money, drugs or 
clothes) and intangible rewards (such 
as status, protection or perceived 
friendship or affection). It is important 
to remember the unequal power 
dynamic within which this exchange 
occurs and to remember that the 
receipt of something by a young 
person or vulnerable adult does not 
make them any less of a victim. It 
is also important to note that the 
prevention of something negative 
can also fulfil the requirement for 
exchange, for example a young 
person who engages in county lines 
activity to stop someone carrying 
out a threat to harm his/her family. 

Case study 2  
(South Wales Police)
At least one vulnerable female 
has been used by a gang from 
London to sexually service 
its members and has been 
subjected to sexual violence. 

As a result of drugs debts they 
attempted to kidnap her at 
least twice and it is believed 
that they have also  
trafficked her to  
London in order  
to pay off a  
debt through  
prostitution.

Page 93



Who is vulnerable 
to county lines 
exploitation?
The national picture on county 
lines continues to develop but 
there are recorded cases of:

•	 children as young as 12 years 
old being exploited or moved by 
gangs to courier drugs out of 
their local area; 15-16 years is 
the most common age range

•	 both males and females 
being exploited

•	 White British children being 
targeted because gangs 
perceive they are more likely 
to evade police detection but 
a person of any ethnicity or 
nationality may be exploited

•	 the use of social media to 
make initial contact with 
children and young people

•	 class A drug users being targeted 
so that gangs can takeover their 
homes (known as ‘cuckooing’).

We do know that county lines 
exploitation is widespread, with 
gangs from big cities including 
London, Manchester and Liverpool 
operating throughout England, Wales 
and Scotland. Gangs are known to 
target vulnerable children and adults; 
some of the factors that heighten 
a person’s vulnerability include:

•	 having prior experience of neglect, 
physical and/or sexual abuse 

•	 lack of a safe/stable home 
environment, now or in the past 
(domestic violence or parental 
substance misuse, mental health 
issues or criminality, for example) 

•	 social isolation or social difficulties 

•	 economic vulnerability 

•	 homelessness or insecure 
accommodation status 

•	 connections with other people 
involved in gangs 

•	 having a physical or learning 
disability 

•	 having mental health or substance 
misuse issues; 

•	 being in care (particularly those 
in residential care and those with 
interrupted care histories)

•	 being excluded from mainstream 
education, in particular attending 
a Pupil Referral Unit.

Case study 3  
(Eastern Region  
Special Operations Unit)
The [county lines] group were 
consuming and selling drugs 
from within the property  
and prevented the  
[homeowner] from  
leaving the address  
or going to the  
toilet areas.

Page 94



Signs to look out for
A young person’s involvement in 
county lines activity often leaves 
signs. A person might exhibit some 
of these signs, either as a member 
or as an associate of a gang 
dealing drugs. Any sudden changes 
in a person’s lifestyle should be 
discussed with them. 

Some potential indicators of county 
lines involvement and exploitation are 
listed below, with those at the top of 
particular concern:

•	 persistently going missing from 
school or home and / or being 
found out-of-area;

•	 unexplained acquisition of money, 
clothes, or mobile phones

•	 excessive receipt of texts / phone 
calls and/or having multiple 
handsets

•	 relationships with controlling / 
older individuals or groups

•	 leaving home / care without 
explanation

•	 suspicion of physical assault / 
unexplained injuries

•	 parental concerns

•	 carrying weapons

•	 significant decline in school 
results / performance

•	 gang association or isolation from 
peers or social networks

•	 self-harm or significant changes in 
emotional well-being.

  What to do if you 
are concerned
Any practitioner working with 
a vulnerable person who they 
think may be at risk of county 
lines exploitation should 
follow their local safeguarding 
guidance and share this 
information with local authority 
social services. If you believe 
a person is in immediate risk 
of harm, you should contact 
the police.

Use your local safeguarding process, 
the first step of which is usually to 
contact your designated safeguard-
ing lead within your organisation. 
If you don’t know who this is, refer 
to your manager. Your designated 
safeguarding lead has the respon-
sibility for linking in with your local 
authority’s social services. If you are 
not satisfied with the local authority’s 
response, you should follow up your 
concerns by discussing these with 
your safeguarding lead. 

Page 95



Case study 4  
(Humberside Police)
A male’s hand was severed 
and both legs broken. The 
victim is believed to be part of 
a county lines network with the 
offenders being a local drug 
line. It’s suggested to be a 
punishment attack  
by the persons the  
victim was running  
drugs for, for having  
used drugs/spent  
proceeds himself.

If you are aware that a potential 
victim may have come from / 
travelled to another area as part of 
their involvement in county lines, 
you should include this information 
in your referral to enable liaison 
between safeguarding agencies in 
the different areas.  

Further information on safeguarding 
can be found in the Department for 
Education’s Working Together to 
Safeguard Children Guidance. 

If you are worried that a vulnerable 
person is at immediate risk of harm 
you should also contact the police: 
your local public protection officer or, 
in the case of a child, local children’s 
protection officer. 

If you are a designated First Respond-
er for the National Referral Mechanism 
(NRM), you should also consider 
referring any young person or adult 
you suspect of being a potential victim 
of trafficking or modern slavery to 
the NRM. Any referral should be after 
appropriate safeguarding steps have 
been taken and in light of multi-agen-
cy discussions. 

Further information and guidance 
on county lines exploitation can be 
found from The Children’s Society. 
NSPCC and Childline also offer 
sources of support for young people. 
Mind is a source of help for those 
suffering with mental health issues.

Your role  
The flowchart below shows 
what should happen after you 
raise a concern. White arrows 
represent additional options to 
the prescribed process. 

Note: Local Authorities 
are transitioning to new 
safeguarding arrangements to 
implement the Children and 
Social Work Act 2017 and the 
flowchart is schematic only.

Page 96



Practitioner
has concerns 

about a child or 
vulnerable adultSafeguarding concerns

Local Safeguarding Process

Local Authority Social Services  
must respond within one working day

MASH / partnership meeting 

Feedback 
on outcome No action DECISION

Child Protection / 
Section 47 Enquiry

OR
Adult 

safeguarding 
strategic 

assessment

No action DECISION

Feedback on outcome 

Page 97



Risk of imminent harm 

Local Police Protection 
Officer / Safer Schools Officer DECISION

Emergency 
Protection 

Order

National Referral Mechanism (NRM) by  
First Responder   
National process for identifying and providing 
support for potential victims of modern slavery 
including trafficking. For children, support is 
provided by local authorities.

Safeguarding or Protection Plan 

Page 98



Notes

Page 99



1 | P a g e  D M c W  2 0 /  0 2 /  1 9

1. Date of meeting: 5th March 2019

2. Title: Progress towards implementation of Phase Two and 
Phase Three of the Early Help Strategy 2016-2019 

3. Directorate:
Children & Young People’s Services (CYPS)

1. Background 

The Rotherham Early Help Offer was launched in January 2016, along with the 
three Year Early Help Strategy 2016-2019.

Phase one of the Early Help Strategy introduced;

New governance arrangements, new systems, evidence based practice and new 
processes to ensure that there is swift access to support through the Request for 
Support process, the Early Help Assessment (EHA) and Plan. The introduction of 
integrated Early Help Locality Teams followed the initial amalgamation of previously 
separate professional disciplines and services. 

The Early Help Strategy (2016-19) describes how Phase Two and Three will: 

 Build on our achievements made in Phase One and refine our Early Help 
Offer through further integration and service redesign with our partners and 
stakeholders. 

 In Phase Two we will undertake a whole service delivery redesign; 
developing new job roles and more efficient and effective ways of working to 
further embed a shared responsibility across the partnership for meeting the 
needs of families earlier.

 In Phase Three, to ensure that our early help offer is sustainable, the Council 
will work in partnership to explore the potential for all-age family integrated 
services and look at innovative ways to reshape our existing buildings and 
centres into all-age delivery points in localities and communities. The Local 
Authority will review its staffing structures and seek to reduce management 
capacity as the Early Help offer becomes further embedded across the wider 
early help partnership.’

 
On the 27th September 2018 an Early Help Consultation Outcomes workshop took 
place. The recommendations from the workshop informed the final draft Cabinet 
Report, Implementation of the Early Help Strategy 2016-2019: Phase Two & Phase 

Improving Lives Summary Report

Page 100 Agenda Item 9



2 | P a g e  D M c W  2 0 /  0 2 /  1 9

Three which was selected by Overview Scrutiny Management Board (OSMB) for its 
pre-decision scrutiny meeting on 17th October ahead of the Cabinet Meeting on 22nd 
October 2018.

The Improving Lives Select Commission proposed to “keep a watching brief on the 
implementation of Phase 2 & 3 of the Early Help Review and requested that an 
update is provided in March 2019 in respect of the progress in establishing Service 
Level Agreements (SLA’s) with schools for youth service provision and related 
transfer of assets.”

2. Progress Update

2.1 Staffing

The Early Help Senior Leadership Team (SLT) has worked with pace to carry out a 
huge logistical undertaking to implement the Phase Two and Phase Three 
recommendations from Cabinet in October 2018. To date;

 193 staff have been directly affected by the restructure
 183 Expression of Interest Forms  have been received
 140 interviews taken place

We are on track to complete the restructure by the end of February 2019 as per the 
Early Help Three Year Strategy implementation timeline.

The Risk Register for the implementation stage anticipated that we might 
experience a dip in performance given the additional recruitment activity taking 
place. However, the figures below demonstrate that this has not been the case;

 Triage Timelines: 20% improvement on the same time last years. Now at 
94.9%

 Initial Contacts: up 30% on the same time last year. Now at 78%.
 Early Help Assessment (EHAs): completions up by 30%. Now at 72.6%.
 Partner completion of EHAs: up 16% on the same time last year. Now at 

28% (YTD).

2.2 Approved Savings

The full year savings to be achieved in 2019/20 from the Early Help Strategy 
Phases Two & Three are £498k. This comprises of a £380k saving (£205k 18/19, 
£175k 19/20) from the restructuring of the service and £118k towards previously 
approved savings from a corporate review of land and property, linked to service 
reviews and localities.

Page 101



3 | P a g e  D M c W  2 0 /  0 2 /  1 9

The £205K savings for 2018-19 have been achieved in year due to a combination of 
freezing vacant posts and reducing all non-essential expenditure.  The service is 
currently operating with a number of vacancies as the restructure progresses and it 
is not envisaged that any redundancy costs will be incurred.  

The full £380K savings for 2019-20 have also been achieved due to the service 
staffing redesign and a reduction on all non-staffing expenditure budgets.  

3     Buildings

3.1 Children’s Centres 

In October 2018 Cabinet approved the reduction of Children’s Centres from 12 to 9 
through the deregistration of the following sites:

 Park View (Central Locality)
 Broom Valley (Central Locality)
 Wath Victoria (North Locality)

Deregistration of a Children’s Centre means that the building will no longer be used 
solely for children’s centre services, but Early Help will still retain access to the 
buildings to deliver sessions for up to 10 hours per week through a Service Level 
Agreement (SLA). Children’s Centre activity will continue in the areas but will be 
delivered from a range of other venues and locations.  

3.2 Youth Centres

In addition, Cabinet agreed to continue to deliver a targeted youth offer for young 
people in localities, decant from buildings, relocate staff and surrender existing 
leases at; 

• Herringthorpe (Central Locality)
• Treeton (South Locality)
• Kiveton (South Locality)
• Maltby Linx (South Locality)
• Swinton (North Locality)

Staff are in the process of relocating to bases in Catcliffe, Clifton, Maltby, Swinton 
Brookfield and Aston and a new base is being developed at Dinnington High 
School.

4. What’s Working Well?

4.1 Children’s Centre buildings and Daycare.  

Discussions continue with all sites and Table One (below) summarises current 
status. 

Page 102



4 | P a g e  D M c W  2 0 /  0 2 /  1 9

Table One: Progress with Deregistration and Future Children’s Centre Activity

Name of 
Children’s 
Centre

Current Position Estimated 
Completion Date

Wath Victoria Montgomery Academy Trust (JMAT) has agreed in 
principal to take responsibility for the building.
Remedial building work being undertaken prior to 
transfer of building

31st March 2019

Park View Redscope Primary Governing Body has agreed in 
principal to take responsibility for the building.  Final 
details being clarified and Service Level Agreement 
being produced.  

31st March 2019

Broom Valley Broom Valley Primary Governing Body has made a 
decision not to take on responsibility for the building 
and is vacating and transferring the current 2 / 3 year 
old early education provision from the Children’s 
Centre building into the school at the end of July 
2018.  
The building will be advertised for lease to an 
external provider for the delivery of early childhood 
services. 

31st July 2019

Thrybergh 
Rainbow 

*Daycare

Wickersley Partnership Trust has expressed an 
interest in taking responsibility for the existing 
daycare and additional community building.  

Information to be submitted to Trust on 14.2.19 for 
decision.

31st August 2019

Dalton Willow 
Tree 

*Daycare

Thrybergh Academy has confirmed that they do not 
wish to take responsibility for the Dalton Willow Tree 
building and daycare provision. 

It is proposed to outsource the daycare including 
transfer of the existing staff to a private provider.

31st August 2019

Coleridge 

*Daycare

Central Learning Partnership Trust has not yet 
agreed to take responsibility for the Children’s 
Centre building and existing daycare provision.  
Discussions are continuing.    

TBC

4.2 Daycare Staffing

Two meetings have been held with the daycare staff at the three sites (Dalton, 
Thyrbergh, Coleridge, November  2018 and January 2019) to ensure that they are 
kept up to date on the proposals for the daycare.

5 Early Help Youth Provision

5.1 Herringthorpe Youth Centre

Whilst consultations for expressions of interest are taking place, targeted youth 
work (music provision) is continuing to be delivered in the building. Discussions are 
ongoing with Aspire and other Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) providers 
regarding joint rental of the building with a view to multi agency usage and 
continuation of the Music Hub.

Page 103



5 | P a g e  D M c W  2 0 /  0 2 /  1 9

5.2 Treeton  Youth Centre  

Expressions of Interest were invited from internal service areas by the 4th January 
2019, no responses received. External consultations with public sector partners and 
community organisations are now underway.

Staff are in the process of moving to the new sites, completion date of 01/03/2019. 
Further discussion with the Parish Council regarding the use of the Multi Use 
Games Area (MUGA) continues. 

5.3 Swinton Youth Centre  

A meeting has taken place with Swinton Academy and the Aston Community 
Education Trust (ACET) who are keen to continue youth work delivery and to 
maintain a Council IT connection in the current youth centre office for a touch-down 
space for staff. Open access provision has been agreed to support young people 
from the Swinton Area.   

Staff based at Swinton School are now all located at Swinton Brookfield Centre  

5.4 Maltby Linx 

Relocation of Early Help staff to the Stepping Stones Children Centre, Maltby is 
progressing. Specification and alterations to the Stepping Stones Children Centre 
have been agreed, with a completion deadline for work of 22nd March 2019.
Building contractors have been appointed to undertake the building work and the 
proposed relocation of staff from the Maltby Linx to Maltby Stepping Stones and is 
scheduled for the week commencing the 25th March 2019. 

Discussions have taken place with the CEO of the Maltby Learning Trust regarding 
the Service Level Agreement (SLA) which is being prepared by the Council Legal 
Team for the continued use of the Maltby Linx building in the evenings by the 0-19 
Outreach and Engagement services, Chat ‘n’ Chill and Boost. 

The staffing for these evening sessions has also been secured.

A meeting is arranged for the 15th February 2019, including the CEO for the Maltby 
Learning Trust to meet with the Private Nursery who also occupies a room at Maltby 
Linx to discuss the proposed use of the building and their continued occupation. 

5.5 Kiveton Youth Club

Staff are in the process of relocating to Dinnigton High school. The IT specification 
has been prepared and has been sent to the Council’s electrical contractor to price 
and action. Network management surveys were completed on the 11th February 
2019 and one off costs identified to enable the Youth Club to be used by the 
Council have been agreed. The school are currently seeking consent from the DfE 

Page 104



6 | P a g e  D M c W  2 0 /  0 2 /  1 9

for the proposed tenancy whilst the draft tenancy agreement is being prepared by 
the Council Legal Team. 

The Council’s Strategic Asset Team has advertised for expressions of interest for 
the use of Kiveton Park Youth Centre. The closing date for expressions of interest is 
the 28th February 2019. The Council’s Strategic Asset Team are continuing to 
arrange meetings with other organisations who currently use the Kiveton Park 
Youth Club to review alternative options/locations. Further consideration is being 
given to Kiveton Park Library as a satellite office for the Early Help Team with the 
Kiveton Park and Wales Community.

A nomination application  (See Appendix A) was received by the Council on the 9th 
January in relation to the Kiveton Park Youth and Community Centre

6. What are we Worried About?

Building handovers have been delayed at a number of sites due to the capacity of 
RMBC Legal to develop the relevant required agreements and the complexities of 
proposals taking longer than anticipated to resolve.  
 
The continuation of provision of preschool at Maltby would present a gap if no 
agreement is reached with the school on a sub-lease.

Valuable provision could be lost in Kiveton, including the partnership with JADE and 
Adult Learning Disability Services and Red Road Music, if the building is no longer 
available at low cost or no cost.

7. What are we going to do about it?

The Local Authority has a duty under the Childcare Act 2006 to secure sufficient 
childcare for working parents and to secure early years provision for 3 and 4 year 
olds and the most disadvantage 2 year olds.  The Local Authority should not deliver 
childcare directly unless no other person is willing to do so. The current childcare 
provision at Dalton Willow Tree, Thrybergh Rainbow and Coleridge Primary is 
needed to meet childcare sufficiency requirements.

Where the schools listed above do not agree to take responsibility for the building, 
we will pursue a lease opportunity for a private provider to deliver early childhood 
services.

Where the schools listed above do not agree to take responsibility for the existing 
daycare, including daycare staff, we will pursue options with  a private provider.

Where there is no interest from a private provider to continue the daycare delivery, 
the local authority will look to continuing the childcare delivery for a period of 3 
years, unless the childcare sufficiency position changes or delivery becomes 
unviable, at which point the provision would be terminated and an alternative use for 
the building/s sought. 

Page 105



7 | P a g e  D M c W  2 0 /  0 2 /  1 9

Further consideration is to be given to Kiveton Park Library as a satellite office for 
the Early Help Team with the Kiveton Park and Wales Community.

The Assistant Director is meeting with the RMBC and Parish Council Consultation 
Committee (Joint Working Group) in April to look at enhancing the borough wide 
offer for young people.

Name and contact details / approvals

Collette Bailey, Head of Service Early Help. Collette.Bailey@Rotherham.gov.uk

Aileen Chambers, Head of Service Early Years. Aileen.Chambers@Rotherham.gov.uk

Rob Holsey, Asset Management. Rob.Holsey@Rotherham.gov.uk

Viv Ford, Principal Finance Officer. Viv.ford@Rotherham.gov.uk

Page 106

mailto:Collette.Bailey@rotherham.gov.uk
mailto:Aileen.Chambers@rotherham.gov.uk
mailto:Rob.Holsey@rotherham.gov.uk
mailto:Viv.ford@rotherham.gov.uk


8 | P a g e  D M c W  2 0 /  0 2 /  1 9

APPENDIX A

In the event of a proposed sale, a process will be triggered that allows a community 
interest group to express an interest in bidding to purchase the property.

The process of nominating an Asset of Community Value requires the completion 
on an official Rotherham Council Asset of Community Value application form. 

On receipt of a completed application the local authority will decide whether a 
property will be listed, according to a number of criteria.

A property will qualify as an Asset of “Community Value” where its current primary 
use furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community, and 
where it is realistic to think that this use will continue. A property will also qualify 
when it has been in such use in the recent past, and this may realistically recur 
within the next five years (whether or not in the same way as before). Social 
interests include culture, recreation and sport.

In addition to providing information on the land, voluntary and community sector, 
applicants will have to demonstrate a local connection by showing that their 
activities are wholly or partly concerned with the local authority area or that of a 
neighbouring authority, and that any surplus they make is wholly or partly applied 
for the benefit of that area. They will also have a charitable or other not-for-profit 
status, or if unincorporated, must demonstrate a membership of at least 21 local 
government electors.

The local authority will make a decision within 8 weeks from receiving a complete 
application and will notify the community group and owner and the implications of 
this.

The authority to list Assets of Community Value lies with the Assistant Director of 
Planning, Regeneration and Transport under the existing scheme of delegation. 

Asset Management are currently reviewing the existing policy and procedures in 
dealing with such applications.

Page 107



1 | P a g e  D M c W  0 1 /  1 0 /  1 8

1. Date of meeting: 5th March 2019

2. Title: Improvement Partner Peer Review of the LAC Service  
(November 2018)

3. Directorate: Children & Young People’s Services (CYPS)

1. Background

RMBC’s Improvement Partner, Lincolnshire Children’s Services, was invited to undertake a 
Peer Review of the Looked After Children (LAC) Service in November 2018. This was almost 
two years after the previous  Peer Review in December 2016 and twelve months after the 
Ofsted Inspection in November 2017. The rationale for this further Review was to gauge the 
ongoing improvements within the Service given that the LAC Service was the only part of 
CYPS to be graded as Requires Improvement by Ofsted. Whilst the Inspection identified that, 
“The local authority has improved the services it provides for children looked after since the last 
inspection” it also concluded that many of the changes were too new and insufficiently 
embedded for any other conclusion to be reached. 

The remit of the Review was to undertake an assessment of:-

• Quality of Care Plan and Pathway Plans 
• IROs – challenge and monitoring of quality
• Fostering Recruitment – Review of the process at the front end e.g. marketing, 

expressions of interest etc
• Admissions to Care – review of cases
• Right Child Right Care Programme (RCRC) – review to ensure performance and Voice 

of the Child
• Interface/Transition between LAC and Leaving Care/Adults

The following Focus Groups were arranged to meet with the Peer Review Team (PRT) :-

• Fostering Marketing and Recruitment Officer.
• Fostering Assessing Social Workers.
• IROs.
• LAC Sws involved in the  RCRC Programme.
• Foster Carers (including those in the Mockingbird programme).
• LAC Council
• LAC/Leaving Care Managers.
• Leaving Care Staff.

In addition to this the Review team undertook case file audits in respect of 4 children 
becoming looked after (BLA), 4 children in the Right Child Right Placement project, 3 
children on the Permanence Tracker, 10 looked after young people aged 16+ and 10 other 
randomly selected LAC files. 

As a result of the range and depth of the review work undertaken there can be significant 
confidence that the finding made were accurate and reflective of the quality of social work 
interventions provided to Rotherham’s looked after children.

Improving Lives Summary Report

Page 108 Agenda Item 12



2 | P a g e  D M c W  0 1 /  1 0 /  1 8

2. What’s Working Well?
Over all the PRT concluded that Rotherham’s Children’s Services had successfully  
demonstrated a strong commitment to improving outcomes for children and that there had 
been clear improvement within the LAC Service since Lincolnshire’s visit in 2017. Arguably 
the most re-assuring conclusion was that there had been a strong cultural shift across the 
organisation, which was clearly evident to the team when meeting all staff. Workforce 
stability was good, and the workforce was motivated and keen to provide a good service to 
Looked After Children in Rotherham. All social workers reported access to frequent verbal 
case discussions with their managers, including senior leaders. Senior leaders were visible 
and accessible and social workers felt able to raise concerns/suggestions and felt listened 
to. These improvements were facilitated by the fact that there had been a continued 
reduction in agency staff and with some agency staff becoming permanent employees. This 
meant that children were receiving a more consistent social work intervention and as a 
result all staff knew their children well and had high aspirations and hopes for their futures. 
The other significant factor was identified as being co-location being universally seen as a 
major success as the LAC teams felt more integrated into the wider CYPS with inter-agency 
communication being much improved.

Specifically in respect of the LAC social work teams they identified good practice as being 
the fact that LAC and Leaving Care Teams met regularly to improve integrated working and 
that joint supervisions occur between teams at transfer. Social workers expressed some 
positive views regarding the Public Law Outline Panel as they could see an increasing 
challenge regarding thresholds and better use of pre-proceedings processes to divert 
families away from proceedings or from children becoming LAC. Within the case file audits 
they identified that the majority of case records viewed were up to date and that children 
were seen and statutory visits in most cases were within the expected timescale. More 
significantly they identified that missing episodes for all looked after children had reduced 
by 60% over the course of the previous year and that the Leaving Care Team were 
appropriately  identifying risk, undertaking intense direct work and regularly went ‘the extra 
mile’ to ensure the safety of care leavers.

One significant shift from the previous visits was that the PRT felt that social workers knew 
their children well and were able to express real aspirations for them in respect of 
successful outcomes. They did, however, encourage an increased use of direct work 
(words and pictures etc.) with children and that this was more clearly evident on the case 
records so as to improve the quality of care planning. Although the managers and the foster 
carers felt that the Intensive Intervention Programme was a good resource, they also 
reported that the significant waiting list jeopardised the impact of this therapeutic support on 
placement stability.

In respect of the IROs, the PRT felt that the revised Dispute Resolution Process was 
making a difference and was increasingly focussed on outcomes for children rather than 
processes and outputs (administrative functions). As a result it was clear that the IRO’s 
were striving to evidence their footprint and impact on the child’s plan.

In respect of Fostering Recruitment the staff were again felt to be enthusiastic and 
motivated to provide a good service and were supported by a stable management group. 
The specialist team that works with Reg 24 (kinship) carers, private fostering, short breaks 
and Mockingbird was identified to be an asset. As a result of the input of this team, most of 
the Reg 24 placements progressed to permanence in the form of Special Guardianship 
Orders and where they did not the service was confident that this was the right plan for the 
child. The PRT found no evidence to undermine this confidence in respect of the 
appropriateness of this permanence planning.

There is a dedicated marketing worker based within the Fostering Team who works jointly 
with the Communications and Marketing Team and a dedicated recruitment team that 

Page 109



3 | P a g e  D M c W  0 1 /  1 0 /  1 8

provided regular drop-in sessions which were also actively facilitated by existing foster 
carers. There was also a dedicated fostering advisor offering consistency to all new 
applicants and the fact that there was a positive working relationship between the fostering 
advisor and the assessing social workers supported the development of the initial visit 
process, including a joint visit with the assessing social workers, ensuring that they were 
sufficiently robust. 

As a result the foundations with regards to marketing were felt to be strong with a clear 
communication and marketing campaign plan set out for the year. The Challenge 63, 
Muslim Foster Carer Project and Star Parties (Start Thinking About Recruitment) appeared 
to be having some impact had already resulted in formal applications being received. They 
commented positively on the fact that the Skills to Foster course was bi-monthly and within 
this there was flexibility with facilitating the course to avoid drift and delay in assessments. 
The introduction of the recruitment process ‘pipeline’ was proving effective with clear 
monitoring and tracking established in respect of all enquiries including long term enquiries 
which supported more enquiries through to assessment. 

The introduction of Mockingbird had commenced and was in the process of setting up the 
2rd hub with a 3rd identified for early 2019. This scheme had been welcomed by foster 
carers who could see that it was going to be a valuable source of support and that the multi-
agency training that came with the project was a real positive and should be extended to all 
foster carers. Even outside of the Mockingbird project the PRT identified a clear sense of a 
developed fostering community within the foster carer network. The foster carers 
themselves felt that the support that they received form their Supervising Social Worker 
when in work was excellent although they also commented that there have been significant 
periods of instability within the service. Both the managers and foster carers were also 
positive about the development of a targeted retention policy in order to support the 
required increase of in-house foster care placements.

In conclusion the PRT stated that CYPS had a real opportunity with a clear practice 
framework in respect of Signs of Safety and Restorative Practice, to place relationships at 
the heart of all social work interventions. However, in order to ensure that this is embedded 
within CYPS and across partner agencies, they felt it needed to become a shared language 
and be driven by senior leaders across the organisation. 

3. What are we Worried About?

Within the legal process the PRT felt that there was not always adherence to the PLO and 
Care Planning processes where permanence other than adoption was the plan. In addition 
all of the social work teams within CYPS were not effectively using the pre-proceedings 
process for unborn babies which may have been due to the fact that there was no 
consistently used pre-birth assessment template. As a result the PRT identified some cases 
where planning and decision making about achieving permanence suggested drift and a 
lack of clarity. Linked to this the PRT concluded that identifying extended family members 
as potential carers was not as rigorous as they would expect to see and some concerns 
were expressed regarding the robustness of some viability assessments. They 
recommended that team managers needed to encourage staff to develop a more 
systematic approach to exploring networks and family members, both as potential carers 
but also as key support in safety planning. This issue was further complicated by some 
misunderstanding and lack of knowledge regarding Reg 24/SGO’s placements being 
expressed by some social workers. 

However, the PRT recognised that Rotherham has undertaken a 'Deep Dive' of the current 
and recent LAC cohort to ensure children are transitioning to LAC status within appropriate 
thresholds, to secure permanence via a number of routes and to develop exit plans. This 
audit led to the establishing of the Right Child Right Care project which was yielding results 
in respect of increasing the numbers of children discharged from care and reducing the 

Page 110



4 | P a g e  D M c W  0 1 /  1 0 /  1 8

average length of time children spent in care. Despite this in some cases where 
permanence or revocations of orders had been agreed, there was still some drift and delay. 
Staff cited these delays as being caused by insufficient Panel availability, court time-tabling 
and capacity due to court work demands. In addition they cited the demands on their 
capacity caused by the need to supervise several hours of contact every week and the 
further pressure caused by driving to Out of Authority placements as barriers to this work 
being completed in a more timely manner. LAC social workers also questioned some of the 
thresholds being employed within the duty teams and they were able to identify cases 
where they had been able to return child home within a relatively short space of time after 
becoming looked after. 

The social workers consulted stated that they believed that a review of transfer points of 
case allocations between different service areas would be beneficial. The consensus was 
that there were too many transfer points leading to unnecessary changes in social workers 
which is not in line with Rotherham's relationship based practice framework and restorative 
practice.

In respect of Care Planning the quality of Care Plans/Pathway Plans reviewed was felt to 
be too inconsistent. However, one plan that was sampled was deemed to be of 
‘Outstanding’ quality which could be used as a best practice example. 1170191. The main 
issue with some of the other Care/Pathway Plans was an identified lack of analysis, a lack 
consistent representation of the child’s voice, actions not being sufficiently SMART and 
insufficient concept as to how progress would be measured.

In respect of the IRO footprint the PRT concluded that the IRO Compliance Form focussed 
too much on paperwork and processes rather than outcomes. As a result the social workers 
had spoken negatively of report and questioned IRO’s ability and confidence to navigate 
the case record system to locate the information they were seeking. This finding echoed the 
general belief that, within CYPS, attention to compliance has been robust but the general 
consensus was that there needed to a shift of focus to outcomes, whilst not diluting the 
levels of compliance already achieved. The PRT therefore felt that this form could be 
developed to be more restorative and include impact and outcomes for the child. 

The PRT recognised that with the growth in LAC numbers in Rotherham, it was vital for the 
financial sustainability of the LAC Service, that investment in the fostering service ensured 
sufficient in house placements. As a result the marketing campaign would benefit from 
being strengthened in terms of a focussed and targeted campaign. In addition to the yearly 
campaign a long term strategy linked to Rotherham’s sufficiency strategy, would provide 
focus and clear direction moving forward. This Strategy would need to strengthen the 
analysis of soft intelligence and data, to inform a targeted recruitment strategy that was 
linked to an ‘umbrella slogan’ to gain brand recognition. The PRT did, however, recognise 
that there is a Retention Project being undertaken with the Fostering Network, and that the 
offer to foster carers needed to be more explicit and used as part of the marketing 
campaign.

Foster carers reported to the PRT that they felt that they were not seen as professionals or 
valued by social workers and commented that they would like the opportunity for their voice 
to be heard. One comment “please treat me like a professional and be open and honest”. 
As a result whilst foster carers understood the necessity to recruit new carers, they did not 
feel they are part of the journey or as involved as they could be. As part of a longer term 
strategy annual surveys and focus groups with existing foster carers would support and 
inform retention. 

Page 111



5 | P a g e  D M c W  0 1 /  1 0 /  1 8

4.       What are we going to do about it?

 Over the course of 2019 there will be an acceleration of the individual projects already 
in process (including the Muslim Foster Carer Project, Mockingbird, STAR parties and 
Challenge 63) that, together, will contribute to better foster carer recruitment. 

 The Foster Carer Retention Policy will be presented to DLT in March 2019. This will 
include the first Review of Foster Carer Allowances undertaken since 2016.

 The revised Foster Carer Marketing Strategy will be produced and implemented as from 
April 2019.

 The Commissioning and Placements Service will revise the LAC Placements 
Sufficiency Strategy by the end of March 2019.

 The Public Law Outline Panel can already evidence significantly more robust challenge 
in respect of the identification and assessment of extended family members as carers 
for children becoming looked after or as an alternative to them becoming looked after.

 The Agency Decision Maker has taken responsibility for ensuring that viability Reg 24 
assessments are significantly more robust. This has included recommendations made 
by the Internal Audit undertaken of the processes involved and specific 
training/awareness raising and the sharing of a Process Flowchart to all social work 
teams to address any confusion regarding expectations and responsibilities in respect 
of these placements and Special Guardianship placements.

 Right Child Right Care (RCRC) phase 2 has commenced with 157 children in the 
original scoping for a discharge from care to permanence over the course of 2019.

 The monthly RCRC performance clinic now also agendas those children with no viable 
plan for discharge to ensure where appropriate that there is an alternative permanence 
plan in place. This includes children who have been in the same placement for 18 
months or more to be presented to a specific Foster Panel to consider a long-term 
match.

 The Court and Permanence Teams are developing a revised Pre-birth assessment tool 
based on the Signs of Safety model.

 The Social Care Pathway Review is underway with the aim of reducing handover 
points. The plan will be produced by 1st March 2019 with implementation being 
completed by the end of 2019.

 The Contact Service (Family Activity Base) is undergoing a full review to maximise 
efficiency and reduce the contacts undertaken by social workers. This Review will be 
presented to DLT in March and should free up some social work capacity in order to 
enable them to undertake more direct work with their young people.

 Revised Life-story Work template to be launched within the social work teams in March 
2019.

 The IRO Team are increasingly using Signs of Safety scaling in the Statutory Review 
process and are currently reviewing the Compliance Form to ensure escalations are 
more outcome focussed with a target set up date of April 2019.

 The Rotherham Therapeutic Team will present a report to DLT outlining the impact of 
the Intensive Intervention Programme with a view to making the case for this to be 
extended beyond the current funding which expires in March 2020.

5.       Name and contact details

Ian Walker
Head of Service
(LAC and Care Leavers)

Page 112


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 15th January 2019
	8 Barnardo's ReachOut Service Update and Barnardo's ReachOut Final Evaluation Report (herewith)
	App 1 Barnardo's ReachOut Evaluation Feb 19
	App 2 Real Loves Rocks
	App 3 Criminal Exploitation of children and vulnerable adults_ County Lines guidance

	9 Progress towards implementation of Phase Two and Phase Three of the Early Help Strategy 2016-2019 (herewith)
	12 Improvement Partner Peer Review of the Looked After Children Service  (November 2018) (herewith)



